## HIDIEN ACQUEN

USA TODAY BESTSELLING AUTHOR

20000

CLAN ROSS OF THE HEBRIDES

# BEAR

## THE BEAR CLAN ROSS OF THE HEBRIDES



## THE BEAR CLAN ROSS OF THE HEBRIDES



#### Copyright © 2023 by Hildie McQueen Kindle Edition

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any electro mechanical means—except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical articles or revwithout written permission.

This eBook is licensed for your personal enjoyment only. This eBook may not be re-sold or gi to other people. If you would like to share this book with another person, please purchase an a copy for each reader. If you're reading this book and did not purchase it, or it was not purch your use only, then please return it to your retailer and purchase your own copy. Thank your respecting the hard work of this author.

The characters and events portrayed in this book are fictitious. Any similarity to real persons, dead, is purely coincidental and not intended by the author.

#### Copyright © 2023 by Hildie McQueen Kindle Edition

All rights reserved. No part of this book may be reproduced in any form or by any electronic or mechanical means—except in the case of brief quotations embodied in critical articles or reviews—without written permission.

This eBook is licensed for your personal enjoyment only. This eBook may not be re-sold or given away to other people. If you would like to share this book with another person, please purchase an additional copy for each reader. If you're reading this book and did not purchase it, or it was not purchased for your use only, then please return it to your retailer and purchase your own copy. Thank you for respecting the hard work of this author.

The characters and events portrayed in this book are fictitious. Any similarity to real persons, living or dead, is purely coincidental and not intended by the author.

#### TABLE OF CONTENTS

Title Page

Copyright Page

Also By Hildie McQueen

About the Book

Note from the Author

Chapter One

Chapter Two

Chapter Three

Chapter Four

Chapter Five

Chapter Six

Chapter Seven

Chapter Eight

Chapter Nine

Chapter Ten

Chapter Eleven

Chapter Twelve

Chapter Thirteen

Chapter Fourteen

Chapter Fifteen

About the Author

#### ALSO BY HILDIE MCQUEEN

#### Clan Ross of the Hebrides

The Lion: Darach

The Beast: Duncan

The Eagle: Stuart

The Fox: Caelan

The Stag: Artair

The Duke: Clan Ross Prequel

The Bear: Cynden

Clan Ross of Skye

The Wolf

Clan Ross Series

A Heartless Laird

A Hardened Warrior

A Hellish Highlander

A Flawed Scotsman

A Fearless Rebel

A Fierce Archer

#### **Moriag Series**

Beauty and the Highlander

The Lass and the Laird

Lady and the Scot

The Laird's Daughter

#### Also by Hildie McQueen

#### Clan Ross of the Hebrides

The Lion: Darach

The Beast: Duncan

The Eagle: Stuart

The Fox: Caelan

The Stag: Artair

The Duke: Clan Ross Prequel

The Bear: Cynden

Clan Ross of Skye
The Wolf

Clan Ross Series

A Heartless Laird

A Hardened Warrior

A Hellish Highlander

A Flawed Scotsman

A Fearless Rebel

A Fierce Archer

#### **Moriag Series**

Beauty and the Highlander

The Lass and the Laird

Lady and the Scot

The Laird's Daughter

Clan Ross of Skye is under attack. In order to save his clan from per Cynden Ross must travel to see The Lion, laird of the largest clan Hebrides, and ask for help. He has a secret weapon—one he hopes no —the truth about his birth. When he crosses paths with a beautiful things become even more complicated.

When **Ainslie MacNeil** is sent to her aunt's home in an effort to c melancholy, she meets a man who has an uncanny resemblance recently deceased betrothed. To make matters worse, they are heading same place. **Does she fall in love with him, or is she hoping to replatest love?** 

A man with two destinies, and a woman who stands in the center.

**Clan Ross of Skye is under attack.** In order to save his clan from perishing, **Cynden Ross** must travel to see The Lion, laird of the largest clan on the Hebrides, and **ask for help.** He has a secret weapon—one he hopes not to use —the truth about his birth. When he crosses paths with a beautiful woman things become even more complicated.

When **Ainslie MacNeil** is sent to her aunt's home in an effort to cure her melancholy, she meets a man who has an uncanny resemblance to her recently deceased betrothed. To make matters worse, they are heading to the same place. **Does she fall in love with him, or is she hoping to replace her lost love?** 

A man with two destinies, and a woman who stands in the center.

#### NOTE FROM THE AUTHOR

On the Isle of Skye, up until the 16th century, the southwestern area Tarskavaig and Tokavaig were subjected to feuds between the MacLe MacDonald clans. It was not until the 17th century (Charter of 1617) MacDonalds finally established control of the area and the clan chief at Armadale castle.

The portion of the story on the Isle of Skye will take place in what Tokavaig, on the most southern peninsula called Sleat. The fictition Keep is where the ruins of Dunscaith castle remain. For the purposes work of fiction, I am substituting the MacDonalds with Clan Ross MacLeods with Clan MacKinnon.

#### NOTE FROM THE AUTHOR

On the Isle of Skye, up until the 16th century, the southwestern area around Tarskavaig and Tokavaig were subjected to feuds between the MacLeod and MacDonald clans. It was not until the 17th century (Charter of 1617) that the MacDonalds finally established control of the area and the clan chief settled at Armadale castle.

The portion of the story on the Isle of Skye will take place in what is now Tokavaig, on the most southern peninsula called Sleat. The fictitious Ross Keep is where the ruins of Dunscaith castle remain. For the purposes of this work of fiction, I am substituting the MacDonalds with Clan Ross and the MacLeods with Clan MacKinnon.

#### CHAPTER ONE

1607, Near Tokavaig, Isle of Skye

 $R_{\rm IGHT}$  arm hanging at an unnatural angle, throngs of pains shot to Cynden Ross each time he moved. Unfortunately, in the midst of battle was no choice but to continue fighting or die. Wielding the heavy synthis left hand, he blocked a downward strike by his opponent, grunting as the action caused even more pain to the injured arm.

"Give up," his opponent called out, a triumphant expression acr man's dirty bearded face. "Ye cannot possibly win now—" The swift a sword across the huge man's throat registered. The warrior's shocl only a moment before his legs gave out and he collapsed face-first o muddy ground.

The clanging of swords all around continued as warriors from Clack clashed against Clan MacKinnon's guardsmen.

That they fought over something unimportant didn't det MacKinnons. Their laird seemed to find a reason—no matte inconsequential—to start a fight. This time, they'd attacked members Ross claiming a lad had snatched a lass.

Whether true or not, it certainly was not enough of a reason for a b meeting between the parents would have solved it. There was no rea someone to die over it. However, just as bloodthirsty as their lai MacKinnon warriors seemed to find glee in attacking the smalle around them.

Outnumbered at the moment, Clan Ross was in trouble. Better they fought valiantly, but it was obvious the Ross warrior's streng waning. Himself, barely able to remain standing, Cynden hobbled to a tree in hopes of being able to face an opponent without worry somec would come at him from behind. Upon nearing the tree, a chilly wir across the open field as he searched for his brothers. All three fough holding their own.

At the sound of approaching horses, Cynden saw a horseman flar

warriors appear on the horizon. Laird MacKinnon sat upright on his stellifted his hand. The signal was followed by the sound of yells a MacKinnon warriors retreated, rushing to their own horses and subsejoining their leader.

With an expression of fury, Cynden's oldest brother, Alexander, onto his horse and rode toward the opposing laird.

Unprepared for their leader's actions, the Ross warriors scramble through the same. Most of them bloody—and like him—with visible injuries e, thereformed a less-than-threatening front as they approached the enemy.

word in "Ye bastard!" Alexander screamed. "Ye violated our truce. Why to sloudly did yer men attack innocent people?" Spittle flew from his mouth with word. He shook with rage. "Explain to me why this had to happen?"

ross the The old man looked to his right, to a warrior with rivulets of slice oftrickling down his face. "It was nothing more than a misunders a lasted between two families." The man shrugged as if they'd done nothing into the than steal a cow. "My men were quick to come to the defense and ens clan is not overtaken."

In Ross The older laird had the audacity to shake his head and roll his ey curving. "We should meet and talk. Bring yer family to dine at my kee ter the "I would rather dine with dogs." Alexander held up his swir howemphasize his point. "Ye and I are enemies."

of Clan Not waiting for a reply, Alexander swung his huge warhorse arou rode to where Cynden remained leaning on a tree holding his arm aga attle. Aside. The laird's gaze traveled over him as he dismounted and motion son forpair of guards. "Hold him still."

ird, the Knowing what came next, Cynden began to sweat, his teeth chatter clanshe bit down in hope he could keep from screaming.

When Alexander placed a hand flat on his shoulder then took his a trained, twisted it into place, it was as if a hot iron went through him. Cynden § th wasloudly somehow managing to keep from screaming, which in his eye nearby triumph.

one else "Ye fought well brother," Alexander said patting him on the id blewshoulder.

t. Each Cynden blew out a breath. "Why would ye declare us enemies have more warriors than us. We cannot survive a war against them." aked by Across the way, several MacKinnons lingered, waiting for permis

eed andretrieve the injured and the dead. The battle had taken place on Ross land theit was up to Alexander as to whether he ordered the survivors to be k quentlynot.

Wagons approached from the nearby village with local Ross jumpedpeople arriving to help in the aftermath. The Ross warriors lifted the and dead onto carts so they could be taken to their families, for eithe d to door healing.

s. They "There will be mourning again today," their second born brother said. "Everyone grows tired of it."

he fuck "That is why we should nae have declared to be enemies," (h everyinsisted. The pain had receded some, but he still felt unsteady. "We have the resources, or enough men to fight them."

f blood "They want to know if they can come for their men?" their cousir tandingRoss, who was still mounted, asked looking toward the MacKinnons v worseconcealed disgust. "I say we leave them to rot."

ure our However, it seemed his brother had seen enough bloodshed for t and he waved to the remaining Ross warriors to retreat. The Mack res, lipswasted no time in retrieving their men. Two injured. Two dead.

p." And for what? Cynden couldn't help but think about the wasted liv "We will talk once we get ye back to the keep. Ye look pale."

Irritated at Alexander's concern in front of the warriors, Cynden m ind andto get to his horse and mounted, not wanting to look weak. "I a inst hisenough."

ned to a "Get down and climb onto a wagon," Alexander ordered, pinni with a concerned look.

ering as Just the act of shaking his head made the ground under the horse she was stubborn. "I am well enough to ride home." He'd barely finis irm andstatement when Cynden's vision blurred, and he gripped the reins in groanedattempt to remain mounted. Just as he slid sideways, he heard his s was agrunt with annoyance.

"Somebody catch him before the idiot hurts himself worse."
e other

"YE GAVE ME quite a scare," his mother, Rose's, high-pitched voice per ? Theythrough the haze of his muddled head, as Cynden tried to open his ey must not jostle. It will cause harm to yer arm." Ssion to

ands, so Opening his eyes to see her proved almost impossible, it wa illed orsomeone had placed rocks upon his eyelids. "Mother?"

"Aye, son. I am here. Try to rest. The healer gave ye some tonic clan'sye still." Whatever he'd been given made his tongue thick and dry. Al injuredhe could tell to be in his bedroom. Why was he propped up on the be r burialvirgin waiting to be deflowered?

All the coddling was infuriating.

Munro "Water," Cynden croaked, and his mother lifted a cup to his l drank greedily and was finally able to open his eyes. "It was only an a Cynden of its socket. Alex fixed it."

do not "Ye fainted," his mother said as if that explained why he'd been up and put to bed.

ı. Knox "I did nae faint."

with ill- The throbbing pain in his head a foreshadowing of how much would hurt if he stirred. Whatever the healer had concocted was wor he day, his injury.

Cinnons Heavy footfalls sounded and moments later Alexander walked i room. His brother was a towering man with massive wide shoulders,

res. chest, and thick muscular arms. That he was handsome did not distrathe power he exuded, in fact, it seemed to add to it. As the emeralmanagedgaze studied Cynden, there was a tick along his strong jawline, his is moved wellpressed together, and the ever-present scowl between his brows.

"Everyone was impressed with yer fighting abilities today. But y ng himhave been killed."

Cynden lifted a brow. "I would be dead, if not for ye almost slic nift, buthead clean off my opponent's shoulders."

hed the The emerald gaze darkened. "It is my duty to defend this family a vainas the clan."

brother Their mother paled and gave them an alarmed look. "Oh dear, I see about last meal." She hurried from the room.

Gavin, the youngest brother, walked in, clothes still bloody, a darl on his jaw. Despite his obvious injury, he grinned at Cynden. "Ah, t meated one awakens." Gavin was usually in a good mood, finding humor in e es. "Yedarkest times. Although older than him by two years, thirty-year-olc looked to be younger. He had an archer's build, slender with wide sho light brown hair, and sparkling light green eyes.

because if he showed it annoyed him, his brothers would poun to keepcontinue the jests. "Ye should go jump in the loch," he said to Gavin.

Ithough His brother shrugged "I will Just had to be sure we were alive."

lthough His brother shrugged. "I will. Just had to be sure ye were alive."

d like a "It was only my shoulder. I passed out, happens to everyone. N why ye are all acting as if I was cut through."

Both brothers looked in the direction their mother had gone, no ips. Heexplanation was required.

arm out He lifted up, ignoring the throbs of protest from both his head shoulder and swung both legs to the side. The pain forced him to hesi carrieda moment.

"Why did ye declare to be enemies to the MacKinnon? It mean battles, death and suffering for our clan's people. We've had more tl more itshare. Ye must meet with the MacKinnon and reinstate the truce."

se than Alexander seemed to consider Cynden's question before replying is what he expects. That they can attack without retribution because v nto the smaller clan. In truth, our clan is much greater."

a broad "Not here. Not on Skye," Cynden replied.

ct from Their cousins, who lived on the Isle of South Uist, had a huge arm d greenruled the entire isle easily, due to their sheer size. Despite hav full lipsenormous army, the Ross clan was kept busy fighting off threats from clans who lived on or near Uist and encroachers coming via ships ho e couldovertake.

Alexander lowered to the chair his mother had vacated. The pring the furniture groaned under the weight of not only his brother's bulk, weaponry strapped across his back and to his sides.

as well "I will send an emissary to Uist to speak to Darach. We will need help to finally bring an end to this," he said referring to their cousin an best goof Clan Ross on Uist.

Although Cynden didn't agree with his brother's declaration of c bruisewas understandable. The MacKinnon's had never held to their truce he weeand time again, the clan had overstepped. Bringing clashes and battles ven theClan Ross.

I Gavin Their father had died after a battle just a pair of years earlier. Houlders, giving out after fighting against the damn MacKinnons. Alexander ha over as laird and assumed all the responsibilities that came with it. Alexander has a sum of the control of

oungesttheir clan was a good size, rarely did huge issue arise requiring Alex ce andintervention. Their people were mostly fishermen and merchants living small village of Tokavaig. The main issue was the constant danger find MacKinnons restricting the ability for their clan's people to move about sureland freely. The people were understandably fearful, as oft MacKinnons would encroach on their land and attack people for furtherlivestock.

"Send me," Cynden stated. "I can leave as soon as tomorrow."

and his "No." Alexander's tone was sharp. It made Cynden narrow his eye tate for "Aye I must go." He stalked to the window and peered out at the sky. Strange how it seemed as if days had past, when in reality it w is morehours. Across the lush landscape, the village houses came to view. He han ourtightened at the thought that several families mourned that day.

"Who died?" He asked, not really wanting to hear the reply.

"Kier MacTavish and Aran Brown." Alexander's voice was ve are a "Shame that Keir's bairn will be born soon, never to know his da."

Cynden lowered to a chair thankful his injured arm did not hurt not me? Send me to Uist."

y. They "I will send Munro," Alexander said. "He and Knox can go."

ring an Cynden had always wanted to leave the isle, a wish that he'd nev n otherable to fulfill. First because of his youth, then because his mother had ping toargued against it. After a while, their father had stopped fighting her o Cynden always remained behind while his brothers traveled.

iece of The last time his parents had gone to Uist for his uncle, the but thefuneral Cynden was already an adult. Still his mother had insisted remain behind.

ed their He'd been too furious to argue and had stayed on Skye, sulking f d Lairdon end. "I wish to finally get off this isle and see more. There is no reame not to go."

war, it It made sense that he go. With the recent injury, he wouldn't be s. Timehelp in the battlefield. If anything, he was a hindrance.

against "I am injured. If the MacKinnon's return I would not be able the effectively. Ye need both Gavin and Munro here."

is heart Alexander seemed unable to find a reason to deny the request. d takenstrange that he hesitated, his green gaze searching Cynden's hazel lthoughcannot allow ye to travel to Uist injured. Ye could meet with dang

ander's would be unable to defend yerself."

g in the "There is no one else who can go. 'Tis only reasonable that I be the com thego to see our cousins on Uist."

out the There was a clatter and crashing of breaking dishes, and their en thestood just inside the doorway, the tray she'd been carrying next to h coin or She lifted an unsteady hand toward Cynden. "Ye will not go."

He'd had enough. It was one thing to be coddled as the youngest s to be treated like that now as a warrior was beyond reasonable.

s. "It only makes sense that I go Mother," Cynden said pinning his cloudywith a direct look. "Explain to me why do ye fret so?"

as only She seemed unable to form words. Instead, she frowned down is chest"The sea between the isles is deep. What if ye are tossed into the de the frigid water? With an injured arm ye are unable to swim."

This time Cynden wanted to roll his eyes. He refrained only beca hollow.fiery-haired mother had a quick temper. She'd been a very young t their father—and remained quite beautiful—but she had never been . "Whykeep her tongue.

"Mother, in my entire life, not one boat has sunk going to and fi other isles. That I am aware no one has been tossed into the sea as of la er been "Do nae jest. My word is final." Her bright emerald eyes—that n alwaysAlexander's—flared and she turned on her heel, stepped over the n it andfood, and stalked away.

It was beyond ridiculous, both he and Alexander knew it was best laird's, was the one to travel. His brother had only refused to send him in t that hebecause of his mother's constant refusal to allow Cynden to travel from

Especially not to Uist. For his entire life, no matter how much he'd tr or daysrequests to go had been declined by his father.

not stand up to their mother. Cynden persisted, "Ye know I am I e muchshould be me who goes."

For a long moment, the steely emerald eyes fell on him. "Very v to fightwill go. I will speak to Mother."

As the warrior stood and went to the doorway, he turned sidev It was allow for his shoulders and looked back at him. "Prepare to leave to one. "Iafter tomorrow. I wish ye to have at least one day to heal before the ger and of a vessel at sea."

Moments later a pair of maids appeared. They'd no doubt been e one tohis mother to clean the mess and bring him food. A part of him was send the meal back, but it was best not to anger his mother further. O motherrealized he'd be leaving, there would be quite a bit to deal with. It was ler feet.keep up his strength.

"Do ye require anything else?" The pretty maid pursed her lips, h son, butscanning over him.

He'd lain with her several times, each time worried the lass woul motherto be with bairn. As the months passed without consequences of layin

her, the relief had been strong. It had been several months since the la at him.and he eyed her midsection noting it was flat. "I am not in need of any epths ofhe told her noting an expression of disappointment.

"Have I done something to displease ye?" she asked, nearing and use histhe back of her hand down the side of his face. "I only wish to be pride to again."

one to Despite his resolve, it had been a long time since he'd been woman, his body's reaction was immediate. With his left hand, he to com thehand away from his face. "Ye have done nothing wrong. As ye can se injured. Moreover, I do not wish to lead ye into believing there could be natchedbetween us."

spilled This time her face fell. "Why? Yer cousin, Tavis, married a wench."

that he "It has nothing to do with yer place in this household. It is just the pastnot feel strongly for ye."

n Skye. "Are ye going to help me?" the other maid snapped as she mopped ied, hisspilled soup. "Allow Mister Cynden to eat in peace."

The pretty maid gave him one last lingering look, her eyes shinii eps andunshed tears, then went about her duties.

ight. It As he ate the warm soup, dunking the crusty bread into it, hi whirled with the adventure that awaited. For the first time in his vell, yewould leave Skye and see another place. Although according to his b the Isle of Uist was almost identical to Skye, he wanted to see it with I vays toeyes.

the day It was hard to explain why, but something about going there had justlingtugged at him. It was as if there was something there, a quest of sorts silly to believe Uist called to him. If anything it was the excitement of

sent byleaving the isle and meeting new people that excited him the most. It inted tobe hard to wait, but he had no other choice.

nce she After washing down the last of the meal with ale, he stood and best toover to peer out the window once again. Below, in the inner conpeople hurried about. Some drew water from the well, others added ker gazeto fires that would keep those who sought shelter within the keep wanight.

d come For the most part, the clan's people who came daily would join the ng within the great hall for last meal. Currently, the families seeking shelte st time, those who'd been affected by the latest clashes. Some lost homes. thing, "livestock. The ones who broke his heart were the families of fallen w

The widows and their bairns who came to the keep finding safety slidingmourn with each other. A small percentage who sought shelter were with yeard sheepherders, as they did not have the protection of living in the occupied villages.

with a He looked past the horse stables to the oversized corals filled with pok hersheep, who were loudly demanding their freedom. Preferring to graze se, I amgreen hills beyond and eat the dry hay while being held in a confined so be more Cynden understood how the hapless animals felt. Most of those keep would gladly release the smelly herd, but it would mean the or

serving clan could steal them.

"I shall go with ye," Knox said as he entered the room, moments I at I dohave not been to Uist in a pair of summers."

"As ye are well aware, I have never been," Cynden informed hin l up theAlex decided that ye will accompany me?"

"Nay, but he will," Knox stated with a sharp nod. "I am the clear ng withas I know the way to the Dún Láidir," he said referring to the Ross kee His cousin Knox lived there as a young lad, since losing both particles mindan attack on their home. Someone had started a fire while he and his life, heslept, and Knox had lost both parents and two siblings. The only reasorothers, survived was that his father had thrown him out a window onto son his owndense bushes. The man had perished while going back to try and sothers.

always Too young to ask for help, Knox had wandered alone for severa. It wasuntil warriors who spotted the smoke arrived and discovered where it is finally occurred. They'd been the ones to bring the orphaned lad to Dún Scait

twould Though no one knew for sure who was responsible for the free everyone suspected a MacKinnon because their home was on the walkedRoss and MacKinnon lands.

urtyard, "I would like it if ye went with me," Cynden told Knox. "We indlingprepare. Tomorrow we have much to do."

rm that That night, Cynden went to bed early, exhausted after a day of fi More than anything he wanted the next day to hurry by so he could fir familyto Uist.

er were

Others A fog-like haze wrapped eerily around the tall man's black boc arriors, footfalls were heavy, moving closer and closer.

and to A thick beard and mustache left little of the man's face bare enclared farmers see his features. However, it was the eyes, so clear, so sharp, and so le more on him that were branded in his memory.

"So this is him," the harsh deep voice stated. "My bastard son."

baying The callousness of the man's tone made the little boy scared and had on the hands gripped the woman's clothing. The longer the man studied leace. greater his fear became until the boy shook so hard his teeth chattered in the "There, there," his mother picked him up and whispered into leaposing Even his mother's soft reassurance and pats on his back had no effect the sheer menace of the man who towered over them.

later. "I "Leave us be. Ye will never have him. He is mine." The woman shook with a mixture of fear and fury.

n. "Has The man's laughter was harsh. "Why would I want him? Ye husband who is too stupid to know he is nae the father."

choice "Never speak of it again," his mother whispered, a sob escaping. of ye."

rents in Once again, the man glared at him, and the boy began to cry. I family terrified and squeezed his eyes shut.

on he'd It was only a short reprieve because moments later a painful grip ne very arm made his eyes fly open and he cried harder.

ave the "Ye will never be my son, but ye are a Ross," the man said shaki. His rank whiskey breath hot on his tears.

No matter how hard he struggled, the iron grip remained in nat had "Never come to me for anything, do ye understand? Never."

"He is but a bairn, he does nae understand what ye say," his moth

ire, yetpulling away. "Let him go, ye are hurting him."

edge of "Aye, he does. I can see it in his eyes. He understands he'll no more than the son of a whore."

should "And the son of a bastard," the woman said hugging him agai breast.

ighting.

Cynden jolted awake, sitting up and staring wide-eyed into the da The familiar dream did not surprise him as much as the fact that returned after so many years.

ots. *The* Although he understood it to be his imagination; the conversations, had always been so real and always exactly the same.

*ough to* "Just a dream," he murmured and fell back to sleep.

focused

is small him the ... his ear. against

's voice

have a

"I beg

He was

on his

ng him.

place.

ner said

pulling away. "Let him go, ye are hurting him."

"Aye, he does. I can see it in his eyes. He understands he'll never be more than the son of a whore."

"And the son of a bastard," the woman said hugging him against her breast.

Cynden jolted awake, sitting up and staring wide-eyed into the darkness. The familiar dream did not surprise him as much as the fact that it had returned after so many years.

Although he understood it to be his imagination; the conversation, the sensations, had always been so real and always exactly the same.

"Just a dream," he murmured and fell back to sleep.

#### CHAPTER TWO

 $H_{\text{ER}}$  knees buckled and Ainslie MacNeil slid down the back bedchamber door until she landed on the floor. Tears streamed do face, and she fell sideways onto the hard cold surface as a dark en overtook her.

Nothing would ever be the same again. How would she continue?

No one seemed to understand that the depth of her emotion paralyzing. Before collapsing in her bedchamber, she had walked in parents and siblings laughing. They'd found joy in something and hat to laugh loudly. Not one of them had seemed at all discomfitted whe stood in the doorway gaping at their audacity.

She'd lost her betrothed. Her one true love. And they were enjoy day as if it were any other.

How could they?

How dare they?

Before this loss, she'd never known how much heartbreak could heaviness on her chest was so great she had to fight to breathe. At the time, she wanted to stop fighting so she could die—just like the neloved. Her chest heaved as she released a long moan, the sound seer ease the pain enough that she could breathe. If not for the fact she did for eternal damnation, Ainslie yearned to end her life. There was no pain living. It would be much easier to die than to continue the cru horrible existence that was without merit.

"Ainslie, darling." The doorknob rattled as her mother attempted the door, but she was in the way. "Please dear, allow me to open the do

Her eyelids were so swollen, she could barely lift them. It had been of months since Thomas died, yet it felt as if she'd lost him just a before, her despair so great. The only man she had—and would—ever

Since his death, Ainslie had rarely left her bedchamber, and the she'd yearned for normalcy. However when she'd been met with her and siblings sitting in the parlor drinking ale and laughing as if all well.

in the world it felt so wrong.

"Go away." Her words were hoarse, and she bit back the urge to the comment with a harsh curse. "Leave me be."

Her mother did not give up, would not give up, until the door open she refused to budge. "If ye do not open the door, I will summon yer of the to tear it down. Then ye will be without a door at all."

Unwilling to live without her much-treasured privacy, she pulled wn her to her feet and turned the key. The door's creak sounded loud to her suptiness ears as it opened to reveal her lovely mother.

"Come." Her mother opened her arms and Ainslie rushed in embrace, once again sobs erupting.

on her In silence, her mother held her, for a long time, before leading her d dared the bed, so they could sit together. "Thomas was very sick darling. H n she'd he would not live long. We all knew. It was only ye just refused to acc

She took the handkerchief her mother held out and mopped her faring the could have healed. There was always hope."

"Aye, very true," her mother replied. "There is always hope. prayed that he be healed, but it was his fate not to remain with us."

"He is—was... much too young." Just picturing his face brought a list. The that seemed to fill her. "My Thomas."

"Ye require fresh air," her mother said. She stood and went to the value and she and threw it open. Instantly light, air, and birdsong filled the space ming to with the aroma of spring flowers from the garden below. Despite he it wish Ainslie inhaled the sweet perfume. The fragrance reminding her of the purpose hours she spent with Thomas in the garden at his home as he found and more difficult to walk. They'd been limited to the grounds around the same and she will be and and more difficult to walk. They'd been limited to the grounds around the same and threw it open. Instantly light, air, and birdsong filled the space ming to with the aroma of spring flowers from the garden below. Despite he is a same and threw it open. Instantly light, air, and birdsong filled the space ming to with the aroma of spring flowers from the garden below. Despite he is a same and threw it open. Instantly light, air, and birdsong filled the space ming to with the aroma of spring flowers from the garden below. Despite he is a same and threw it open. Instantly light, air, and birdsong filled the space ming to with the aroma of spring flowers from the garden below. Despite he is a same and threw it open. Instantly light, air, and birdsong filled the space ming to with the space ming to with the aroma of spring flowers from the garden below. Despite he is a same and the sa

family home for the last pair of years.

"Now, how about something to eat?" Her mother turned to face hoor." must strive to keep yer strength. If dear Thomas taught us anything, not to take life for granted."

Several times during his last days, Thomas had made Ainslie pro love. make the best of every day. To live each day to its fullest and to love hat day And she'd agreed, not accepting that he would be gone. In her min parents would marry, have children, and grow old together. Ainslie never as right the truth. Even as he faded before her eyes more and more each day.

follow The Next Morning, Ainslie decided to join her family for breakfast managed to sleep most of the night without crying and now felt refed. But Once she dressed and brushed her hair into a simple braid, she wen brother dining room. The only ones there were her sister, Therese, and her mot "How are ye faring?" Therese asked.

herself Ainslie ignored her. Unable to forgive how soon Therese see ensitive forget Thomas.

"Ye are being unfair," Therese, stated.

nto the Her mother studied the meager portions Ainslie had placed on he but said nothing.

Ainslie met her sister's gaze. "Ye were his friend even before I wat toward On some level, it was understandable that her entire household we knew be in deep mourning. And despite her hurt feelings, Ainslie knew the ept it." care for Thomas.

ce. "He Both of their parents and the subsequent children had all grown u on the Isle of Barra. A small tight-knit community in which everyon We all everyone and that meant the loss of any member was felt throughout.

"I am sorry," Therese finally said, her pretty blue eyes downcast an achevery sad about Thomas, but we all knew he would die and in the end, so very ill. It was almost a relief that he would no longer be in pain."

window All Ainslie could do was nod. He had been barely able to bread along times it was as if he did not. At the very end, he'd moaned in pain, upon grief, keep the tears at bay. At his bedside day after day, she and Thomas' e manyfelt his agony whilst holding vigil, not wanting to be away even for a sit more She pushed the food around her plate. "I am aware and yet I hel und his the hope that somehow he would recover. I do nae understand why he die." Ainslie let out a long breath.

er. "Ye At the sound of approaching horses outside, her mother turned, it waswindows. "Strange that someone would come to visit so early in the best go see who it is."

mise to "I should go to my room. I am in no mood for visitors." Ainslie again care about whatever the reason was for the visit. Perhaps in time—red, they possibly years—she'd be able to get past her sadness enough to partic ccepted such trivial things as hosting people.

Therese continued eating, her gaze moving from Ainslie to the doo . She'd The sound of conversation at the entrance meant she had to wa reshed. whoever it was either went away or was invited in. Either way, it to the walking past where the visitors were.

ther. A couple walked into the dining room with her mother and w father, who had apparently joined them. The way her mother stole glamed toher, put Ainslie on edge. Something was afoot.

The visitors were part of the clan. The laird's brother, who v father's cousin, and his wife, Cara.

er plate "Please sit." Her mother invited with a warm smile. "Would ye lik food?" The couple joined Ainslie and Therese at the table and were s." ale. "I am so glad to see ye, Cara. I am anxious to know about ye uld not plans."

hey did "We ate before leaving," Cara explained. "I will have a bit of a nothing else."

Ip there Cara reached and patted Ainslie's hand. "I am so very sorry to he knewyour Thomas died."

Ainslie had always liked Cara and did nae wish to be rude, but so . "I  $\,$ am cry, all she could do was nod.

he was The people around her drank and ate, all the while the couple mad talk with her parents. Despite wishing to leave the room, Ainslie reathe, at She was curious as to what had brought them to visit so early in the nable to unannounced.

mother "So soon," her mother stated. "I was under the impression ye wo econd. go for another sennight at least."

d on to Cara, a pretty brunette with dark brown eyes shook her head. "Dar had to I wish to be at the Ross keep for the summer festival. It is most gran not wish to miss a single thing, so we must leave earlier than planned."

to the Finally, her mother turned to her. "Ainslie, I told Cara about ye day. Isadness. Yer father and I think that ye need a change. That being som different, around other people, would be helpful. Cara and her husbare didn't graciously invited ye to travel with them to Uist. To Dún Láidir."

nonths, Whatever her mother was saying didn't make sense. It took ipate in moments for Ainslie to realize that they'd planned a trip and it meant to travel. To go away.

"When?" Was the only question she could form. Saying no wou

rway. tremendous insult to the laird's family. Honestly, she doubted she co it untilno without her parents insisting. Besides what did it matter? Like eve meantelse that occurred around her, it meant little. Whether she remai traveled away, it would not change the depth of her sorrow. Misery worth herher constant companion.

"Ye must leave with them this very day, so to be shoreside for t vas herbirlinns in the morning."

Leaving so soon was unexpected. She looked from her mother to the some Cara then to her father, who continued speaking with the laird's broth served listening to what the women discussed.

r travel Ainslie met Lady Cara's gaze. "I appreciate yer invitation but am r to be good company."

ale, but The woman smiled warmly and nodded. "I understand and do no ye in the least. Having recently gone through loss myself, I sincerely ear thata trip will prove helpful to us both."

It wasn't the time to ask what had occurred. What the woman's leared tobeen. She was sure Cara would tell her if the subject arose. At the m

Ainslie's mind was awhirl with what she would pack. Whether or not le smalltime to visit Thomas' family and bid farewell.

nained. She finally stammered. "I-I do not have anything packed or prepare he day, "Yer trunk is being seen to. Go and ensure any items ye feel ye we for the season are packed." Her mother's response was quick, the tone uld notroom for argument. "See about helping her Therese."

An entire season away from home, unable to visit Thomas' grave ryl andhis family. Ainslie wasn't sure she was prepared for something like 1d. I dosoon. She managed a weak smile.

"Lady Cara, I cannot possibly be good company for ye. I have er greatmanaged to come down for meals. I would hate for ye to go through ewheretrouble and regret it at my lack of enthusiasm."

nd have The woman smiled gently. "More than most, I understand gried moment. I've had a few losses in my life recently. My mother a few unexpectedly just a few months ago. It is the reason why I wish to go she was I believe it will do us both well."

"Go on darling," her mother urged motioning for Therese to go wit ald be a "I wish I were going," Therese said as they walked down the c uld say"Everyone talks about the Ross clansmen. It is said all are brarythinghandsome beyond belief. I would be sure to find a husband if I went to ined or "I do nae believe it. It is doubtful every single man on the Isle of ould behandsome," Ainslie huffed. "If not for the visitors being here, I wou suggested ye go in my stead. However, it would have been insulting t nterest.in front of them."

he first They walked into Ainslie's bedchamber to find a maid was packing a trunk. Therese handed the young lass a shawl and then a o Ladythat the items could be added. It was followed by a large leather sather, notwhich her sister packed a nightshift, a comb, ribbons, and slipper tonight," she informed Ainslie.

window and peered down at the handsome carriage. "The MacNeil keet blame "Ye will stay at an inn not too far from the shore. It will be lovel believesure," her mother said walking briskly into the room with a pair

behind. "Take the trunk and satchel to the carriage. Ensure it is proposs hadso it does not fall off." Then she went to Ainslie and hugged her in noment, embrace. "My sweet lass. I pray this trip will help ease yer sorrow."

she had New tears sprung stinging Ainslie's swollen eyes. "I do not wis Mother."

ed." "I know. I do not blame ye. I had hoped to have time to discuss ill needwould have plenty of time to prepare. However, it seems there is left nofestival at the Ross keep and Cara wishes to attend. They wish to go before other clan's people begin to arrive and they end up without a er or seeplace to sleep."

that so As they talked, her mother shepherded her to the door and do corridor where the visitors and her father were already making their was barely. With a concerned expression, her father held up Ainslie's cloak. all this bit heavy for the weather, but travel by sea can be colder." As he was around her, he pressed a quick kiss to her temple. "All will be well I at thenae let yer sorrow steal what fate brings yer way."

er died It was rare that her Da showed any kind of affection. That he kis to Uist.temple made Ainslie hesitate. Before he could step away, she threw against his broad chest, wrapping her arms around him. "I will try I the her. patted her back awkwardly as she let out a string of long sighs.

orridor. After hugs from her sister and nods from her two brothers—both v

aw and even less demonstrative than her father—she was bustled out and Uist." carriage.

Uist is The ride was comfortable and not as awkward as Ainslie would have expected. Lady Cara kept Ainslie's mind from sorrow by telling her o do so expect in Uist. Both the couple and Ainslie's family were kin to Lair

mother. The invitation had come for them to visit for the festival and busilyFrom what Lady Cara explained, it was to be a rather large affair with robe sohundred visitors coming from near and far.

tchel in The more Ainslie heard about the days ahead, the more she s. "Forforward to the experience. Several times, she had to hold back becoming excited. Expecting to enjoy something was a betrayal of T to therecent passing. Despite his asking that she move forward and to live ep?" the fullest, Ainslie couldn't fathom it.

y, I am The ride to the shore was a pleasant one, they'd stopped midway of ladsthe horses and picnicked on the side of the road. It was late in the day erly settime they arrived at the bustling fishing village with several shops, a a tightand an inn.

The driver went off to pay for rooms at the inn, where they would h to gothe last birlinns had already departed. They'd continue their travel first thing the following morning.

to be abeen a long time since she'd traveled north. Sea birds flew around et thereboats, diving gracefully in circles hoping for a morsel of whatever he propercaught in the nets. Fishermen called out to each other loudly so they c

heard over the sounds of the waves, the birds, and the peddlers.

wn the In the distance boats bobbed on the seas' gentle waves. There ay out. strange rhythm to the scene. A mixture that called to every sense. The "It is aair, the brisk wind and sound of gulls flying overhead all combined vapped itmovement of waves and people.

ass. Do "It is quite different is it not?" Cara asked with a smile. "Ye will l flavorful fish stew the innkeeper's wife makes."

sed her They walked into the dimness of the small inn as the sun began herselfThe innkeeper's hearty greeting made Ainslie feel welcome as he and Da." Hethem to a table. "So pleased to see ye, milady," he enthused with a window

"My Elva has made yer favorite." The man was slight but made up for varriorsa large personality.

into the "We are glad ya and yer pretty lass are here today," He exclaime sea has been calm and will be so on the morrow I am sure."

ld have He hurried away and moments later returned with a basket of warr what to and a stout bowl of what he proclaimed to be freshly churned butter.

d Ross' The steaming hot fish stew was indeed flavorful, brimming with games.of fish, carrots and potatoes.

several After Ainslie's second bowl of fish stew was done away with, back with a satisfied sigh. "That was indeed the most delicious stew I' lookedhad," she admitted, much to Cara's delight.

k from "The rooms are prepared," the innkeeper's wife, a round short homas'said, motioning to the stairs. Cara and Ainslie followed her to the life tofloor to two separate small, but tidy rooms.

More than ready for time alone with her thoughts, Ainslie lart to restcompanion a good night. After so many days of barely leaving by thebedchamber, the travel and a full belly, she was exhausted, and the tavern, bedding beckoned to her.

The next day she'd be far from her home. The mother of the laird stay as Ross, was a MacNeil and her family were always welcome to vis to UistLáidir, however only her father and brothers had visited. In the last

years, her mother and sister had wished to go to the festival and gar. It hadhad remained because Ainslie had refused to leave Thomas' side.

fishing As soon as she settled into the bed, her eyes became heavy. Surelad beenwould come easily. But guilt overwhelmed every ounce of her being ould behad she not fought to go say goodbye to Thomas' family? Why had

fought to visit Thomas' grave one more time? Why had she not was against traveling anywhere at all?

ne salty Whatever distractions happened during the day would not chan vith theevery night, when alone, grief would become her only companion. So she would have to carry on.

ove the "Promise me ye will strive for happiness. Promise that ye will firmarry and form a family. I will nae rest thinking that ye are not less to set. Thomas had made her promise almost daily during his last days. A usheredthat she repeat the words while promising. His last words had been. "I de grin.me."

it with It had always been hard to deny him anything, especially when into his eyes. He had the most beautiful eyes, like a field of greens and

d. "TheHe had been a handsome man, with the fairest skin and hair like spun a Never had she met a man as beautiful as Thomas—nor would she. In breadshe was certain. Even as the illness progressed and his skin became go his eyes became dull, he was beautiful, almost ethereal.

chunks A picture formed of a day in the garden.

"Promise me to enjoy yer life. Do nae mourn for me," he'd insisted she sat Ainslie had scoffed and shaken her head. "Do nae speak of dying. ve everI will marry and one day it could be ye mourning me."

His gaze had not wavered from her face. "Ainslie, I am dying. Y womanmarry and have bairns. I hope to be able to watch ye from whereve secondwill go. Make me smile with yer happiness."

It became hard to breathe. Ainslie sat up and looked around to bid herdarkened room. It didn't matter where she went, the fact was he ng heralways be with her. At least she was fulfilling her promise to move for e plushto enjoy life, even if only partially. Enjoyment would come one day, so

not so naïve as to think it was gone forever. But at the moment, it of Clanimpossible.

sit Dún Outside an owl's sad call made her wonder at the lateness of the heapair of she lay back on the pillows.

nes but In her mind, she pictured Thomas' face. His full lips, heavily lashe sharp eyebrows, and straight nose. His hair was cropped short as h ly sleepmore time abed. However, when she'd met him, it had flowed g. Whyshoulders. The wind-tussled tresses as wild and carefree as him.

she not She wondered if not for the illness, if he would have been muscu foughtbroad of shoulder like his father. Instead, he was slender and had s forward a bit.

ge that It seemed only scant seconds later that the morning sun shined mehowthe window and onto her face. It was to be a day of adventure, travers sea to another isle. Unable to keep from it, she climbed from the t

id love, hurried to the window to peer out at a breathtaking view.

nappy." The sea stretched far and wide, gentle waves lapping on the shorel damantthe right was a hill dotted with fishing shacks. To the front a line of Promisebobbed on the water, waiting to take passengers to other isles.

Already there was plenty of activity. People preparing to sail or a lookinggrabbing meat pies for the day. Dogs scurried in circles with tails wag 1 golds.they begged for morsels. She smiled when a man tripped and dropped

gold. and it was quickly devoured. He looked on and began laughing Of thatheading back to the stall to purchase another.

ray and When she pushed open the window and breathed deeply, she I how very different the sea air was to that at her home. There was a d kind of freshness to it. A brisk breeze carried the scent of the water

1. Thankfully her father had the forethought to wrap the heavier cloak Ye andher shoulders. She would definitely need it.

Lady Cara had told her they'd leave first thing that morning, so 'e mustdressed quickly then combed her waist-length, burnished red hair and r it is Iit with practiced fingers. Then she wrapped the braid around he pinning it into place.

he tiny After stuffing her nightshift and the other items into her bag, wouldpulled the cloak on and went down a short corridor to the stairs that larward, small dining room.

she was — The room had a low ceiling with long wood planks across it. The seemedthree tables with chairs and a sideboard where platters of food h morning's offerings.

our and At a long wooden table sat her hosts along with their driver. Lac motioned for her to come closer and slid sideways so Ainslie could sit ed eyes,her on the bench.

e spent "I pray ye slept well lass," she said with a warm look. "It wasn't u to histhat I was finally able to fall asleep. The noise kept me awake. Until t hours, we could hear the fiddles and loud laughter."

lar and "I did nae hear it as much," Ainslie admitted. "Perhaps becaustoopedchamber was closer to the stairs. I slept well." In actuality once she asleep, she'd stayed asleep until the sun woke her.

through The innkeeper's wife gave them a shy smile as she neared and slipping thewith a bowl of porridge, thick crusted bread, and a cup of ale in food and Ainslie.

"I know from now on I will ensure to have a room away from the line. Tohall," Lady Cara stated. "I hope this night will be peaceful."

birlinns Her husband looked across the table at Lady Cara, his exp softening. "I will ensure ye rest tonight." The tender exchange of look at stalls Ainslie's stomach tighten. She and Thomas had exchanged such looks ging as It was not much longer that a man walked in announcing that it w his pie, for them to head to the birlinns.

before As they made their way to the shore, men carried their trunks and approached constantly with offerings of food, pottery, and other iter realized claimed were only available in Barra.

ifferent A peddler held up an intricately decorated wineskin. "Only on Barı to her. Ainslie wondered if it was true. It was hard to believe they'd not aroundwineskin anywhere else. Surely there were cows on Uist.

"Are ye sure they do not make wineskins on Uist?" she asked the Ainslie considering that indeed it would be a grand gift for someone who'd braided seen one.

r head, "Aye, lass. They are not as civilized as we are on Barra," the boasted.

Ainslie "Come along Ainslie," Lady Cara called out.

led to a The man grabbed the coin from Ainslie's hand pushing a wineskii in return as she turned and hurried after her companions.

re were Since they traveled with the laird's brother, they were given the eld thebirlinn, for which Ainslie was glad. The vessel was long with a hug that was down at the moment. The long plank to climb onboard was ly Caratraverse, although several times Ainslie hesitated as it seemed to move next toside. Finally onboard the birlinn, she chose a bench, lowered to wrapped her cloak around herself. Lady Cara and her husband came ntil latenext.

the wee Cara came to sit beside her, and her husband went to the front to s whoever would direct the boat.

use yer The last time she'd traveled via birlinn, it had been a c did falluncomfortable event. At one point she'd lost sight of her mother an only nine, she'd panicked.

d a tray Admittedly, now ten years later, there was little need to worry front oflosing sight of whoever she traveled with. Still, the memory of that tri her nervous.

not as cold as she'd expected. Ainslie was even bold enough to stapressionlook across the sea, enjoying the feel of the salty air across her face.

as time

.

As they made their way to the shore, men carried their trunks and sellers approached constantly with offerings of food, pottery, and other items they claimed were only available in Barra.

A peddler held up an intricately decorated wineskin. "Only on Barra."

Ainslie wondered if it was true. It was hard to believe they'd not have a wineskin anywhere else. Surely there were cows on Uist.

"Are ye sure they do not make wineskins on Uist?" she asked the man, considering that indeed it would be a grand gift for someone who'd never seen one.

"Aye, lass. They are not as civilized as we are on Barra," the man boasted.

"Come along Ainslie," Lady Cara called out.

The man grabbed the coin from Ainslie's hand pushing a wineskin into it in return as she turned and hurried after her companions.

Since they traveled with the laird's brother, they were given their own birlinn, for which Ainslie was glad. The vessel was long with a huge mast that was down at the moment. The long plank to climb onboard was easy to traverse, although several times Ainslie hesitated as it seemed to move side to side. Finally onboard the birlinn, she chose a bench, lowered to it, and wrapped her cloak around herself. Lady Cara and her husband came aboard next.

Cara came to sit beside her, and her husband went to the front to speak to whoever would direct the boat.

The last time she'd traveled via birlinn, it had been a crowded uncomfortable event. At one point she'd lost sight of her mother and being only nine, she'd panicked.

Admittedly, now ten years later, there was little need to worry about losing sight of whoever she traveled with. Still, the memory of that trip made her nervous.

This trip was wonderful that sunny day. The sea was calm and the wind not as cold as she'd expected. Ainslie was even bold enough to stand and look across the sea, enjoying the feel of the salty air across her face.

## CHAPTER THREE

Upon arriving ashore, Cynden looked around taking in the area disappointed that indeed the isle of Uist did look a lot like Skye. smelled the same, the wind as brisk. However, he was determined to Uist and take in the differences between this isle and his home.

Knox informed him that there was a contingent of Ross warriors where they could borrow horses to take to the keep.

At the shore, there was a lot of activity. People bustled about c bundled goods, women sold food from large baskets they carried an men carried the heavier trunks to waiting wagons, carts, and carriages.

He and his party only brought leather sacks with the few clothes they tossed over one shoulder, their swords across their backs, and hip, either daggers or a shorter sword.

Across his broad chest, Cynden wore a strap with slashed cuts into four daggers had been secured. He was used to the feel of thick leath that not only provided protection but often gave him an advantage access to a weapon during hand-to-hand combat.

When they walked across from their boat toward where they'd wagon to take them to the Ross guards he spotted a woman walking couple in his direction.

Her hair had come loose from its bindings, the long auburn flowing behind her like banners. She wore a thick cloak and carried bag. He could not see the color of her eyes, yet her beauty that caused hesitate and watch.

As they walked closer she didn't seem to notice him or Knox, h moving across the area. She seemed as eager as him to explore the surroundings and he almost smiled at her curious expression.

"There's a wagon," Knox said pointing.

Cynden turned to look to where Knox pointed and then back tow woman. As if in a trance, she moved toward him, with every s woman's eyes grew larger and larger. When she was close enough could reach out and touch her, she covered her mouth, with an expres horror.

"It is not possible. How can this be?" She dropped her bag and st backward.

"What is wrong?" he asked, moving closer to retrieve the bag. "

a, a bit unwell lass?" The woman traveled with her hurried toward them.

"Thomas? It is ye." The beauty reached for his face, her trembling the air stopping midair. "Is it ye?" explore

Company the sheet his head "Nee Law Company Reach source to Laird."

Cynden shook his head. "Nae, I am Cynden Ross, cousin to Laird do not know a Thomas."

"Oh, dear," the woman who approached exclaimed, taking him then looking to the younger woman. "Come, Ainslie, ye are confused."

The beauty's eyes rolled back, and she swayed like a young tree d hired by a heavy wind. Cynden was close enough to catch her with his heal before she hit the ground.

, which Ignoring the pain in his shoulder, he managed to lift and carry that their woman and deposit her into the waiting carriage.

"What happened?" the man who was traveling with the two women which as they approached. He had not seen what had occurred as he'd heade er strap waiting carriage.

of easy "Ainslie fointed," the expense explained metioning to (

"Ainslie fainted," the woman explained motioning to (
"Thankfully, this young man was close enough to catch her."

hire a The man took the limp Ainslie from Cynden and with the help with a driver, she was loaded onto the carriage.

He turned to Cynden. "Thank ye. The lass could have been in tresses she'd fallen to the ground."

a large The man held out his hand. "I am Darryl MacNeil, brother to him to MacNeil. We head to Dún Láidir."

"I am Cynden Ross and that man over there waving for me to hurr er gaze cousin Knox Ross. We are cousins to Laird Ross of Uist. My broke new Alexander Ross, Laird of Ross Clan of Skye."

They shook hands.

Apart from two guards, the MacNeil's did not bring a large escort rard the spoke to the influence of his cousin's clan over the entire isle. Peopl the travel with little fear of being accosted. that he

"Since we are going in the same direction, would ye and yer men

Sion oftravel with us?" Darryl asked. The man had an easygoing manner, Cynden found extraordinary. There had been little time for the Ross umbledpeople to be at peace. As a result of the constant strife, most were o always alert and suspicious.

'Are ye "Aye, I would like that," Cynden replied, shaking the man's han will catch up with ye once we retrieve horses."

ıg hand

Ross. I<sub>IT WAS A</sub> short ride to where they'd ask for mounts for the trip to the keep. After identifying themselves, the men at the guard post near the in andlent them horses for the ride to the keep.

As he and Knox rode north on a well-traveled path, the difficaughtbetween Skye and this isle became more obvious. There were more trathy armSeveral times they passed groups of riders, both men on horseba peddlers with wagons. They rode past a large village, bustling with a nelimpIn the distance on hillsides, herds of sheep and cows grazed. Their several farms, with men working with teams of oxen, dredging the soil n asked Despite the activity, he noted that the landscape of the isle was distorted to the Skye. The only difference perhaps was the proximity of living are Skye, a village was surrounded by vast lands and no other population Cynden.by.

His mount swung its huge head and attempted to sniff the grasses of theHe turned to Knox. "We should have fed and watered the horses traveling forth. They are hungry."

jured if "Aye," his cousin said running his hand over the back of the r neck.

2) Laird Cynden prodded his horse into a faster trot until he could peer in 1 the coach's window. A quick scan showed that the woman whom he'd y is myin his arms seemed to be asleep. The man, Daryl, looked to him.

other is "We are going to the nearby village to water and feed the horses." catch up."

With that, he and Knox rode the short distance to a village, which discovered was called Taernsby.

e could At dismounting near a horse stable, Cynden searched for someone for feed. He whirled around when a man came up behind and clapped like to

whichhand on his shoulder. "Ye must be here for the games," the man, who clan's out to be a large red-haired warrior said in a booming jovial voice.

n edge, "I am called Brock," he added at their confused looks.

"I am Cynden, this is Knox, we are both Clan Ross from Skye. d. "Weheaded to see our cousin, Darach."

The man looked him over. "What do ye compete in?"

"We've not had games on Skye for many years."

The man's eyes bulged. "What happens there? We invite many one Rosscome, Skye has always been represented."

e shore "I came last year. Did nae fare well in the stone toss," Knox said shake of his head.

erences Brock shrugged. "Well, this time ye will."

avelers. Thanks to the jovial man, they were able to procure feed and water ck andhorses in short order. While the mounts were being looked afte activity followed Brock to a large tavern where they drank a tankard each.

re were "I will see ye at the keep," Brock said by way of parting as they out of the tavern.

s much Knox looked over his shoulder to the tavern and then to Cynden. "
eas. Onnot seem so different here, that so many people to be in good spirits?"
n close "I am not sure how to be comfortable around it." Cynden gru agreement.

below. Soon they were on horseback heading to where they would catch beforethe coach.

Knox frowned. "I wonder if the games will affect Darach's decinount'shelp us? I am sure the men will nae be happy to be taken away to instead of spending days at a fete."

through "I would be angry," Cynden said. "We will have to see what hat caughtam sure he will send men. Perhaps they will be so annoyed at being the from their enjoyment it will make them more aggressive on the battlefi

We will Before them the coach continued at a good pace. According to Knowould arrive before sundown. It was a pleasant enough day, so the those theya day's ride did not perturb Cynden. It would give him the opportunity more of Uist.

e to ask "What did the lass say to ye?" Knox asked when they caught a hugefollowed behind the rambling coach.

"She called me Thomas," Cynden replied. "It was as if she tho

turnedknow me."

"Was probably seasick and delusional." Knox chuckled.

He thought about the young woman who'd stared up at him w We are prettiest eyes he'd ever seen. They were like a stormy sea, a mixture and gray. Despite her distress, he'd not been immune to how beauti was. With long fiery hair, that had been pulled away to display plush l a pert nose, she'd immediately caught his attention.

clans to When lifting her into his arms, she was curvy in a way that drove senseless. Frowning in the direction of the tree line, Cynden made a with anote to do his best to stay away from the lass once they arrived at the The last thing he needed was any kind of distraction that would affect dealt with his cousin.

for the It had been a pair of years at least since he'd last seen Darach, the r, theymaned laird called *The Lion*. Darach had traveled to Skye to spend tir Cynden's father, asking for advice and learning what he could about walkedlaird.

Unlike Darach's father, Cynden's father had been a well-lik Does itrespected laird, which Darach stated to wish to emulate.

Cynden had taken to Darach immediately. They had gotten alon nted inspending hours together discussing all types of things. Despite his being older, it was he that Darach had sought out several times to e up withand ride with. It had been a short visit, just a sennight, but it had in Cynden in a way that was hard to explain.

ision to He'd felt a strong connection to his cousin and now he was glad to fightone to come and speak to him.

opens. I<sub>As the sun</sub> sunk below the horizon, they arrived at the enormous Dúr lragged silver castle. The impressive gates were so tall that Cynden had to crield." neck back to take it all in. Guards atop the thick stone walls called dox, they the driver of the carriage and whatever the man said seemed enough tught of them entrance.

y to see The guards then called down to them. Knox lifted a hand. "Cynden and Knox Ross, cousins to yer laird."

up and Two guards exchanged looks, one seemed to recognize Knox and back. "Aye I remember ye. Ye may enter."

The coach, two guards as well as Cynden and Knox all passed the gates and into a courtyard so large, an entire village could be mitter the walls.

of blue Immediately they were approached by guardsmen and stable iful sheHorses were led away, as the newly arrived were greeted.

lips and A pair of warriors approached Cynden and party, the steady moving over them. They each met Cynden's gaze and nod a manacknowledgement. "Ye are a Ross."

mental Knox grunted. "So am I."

e keep. "Oh, aye," the guard said. "It is just that he looks much like our lai how he Cynden chuckled. "True, Knox looks more like a MacLeod. His m family."

golden The guards walked away seeming to think he knew which way ne withInstead of waiting to ask, he walked toward the entrance of the buildin being a The doorways were arched and wide. He and Knox walked throu the great room. Inside people sat at long tables filling their trenched andtrays loaded with food. Servants threaded through the people stopping so often to pour from the pitchers they held, refilling cups with well-ping well, efficiency.

orothers At the high board sat the laird, one of his brothers, and several eat with Cynden took in his cousin, his chest swelling with pride at being par npacted powerful clan.

It was but a moment later that Darach's gaze moved from whom be the spoke to scan the room. That his senses were so honed was no comproduct of his warrior background. Cynden decided to wait and see he it would be before his cousin found him.

Láidir He didn't have to wait long. Just as he finished the thought, he loc ane his to clash gazes with *The Lion*. His cousin jumped to his feet and rushe lown to bringing the entire room to a hushed silence.

to give "Cyn, ye are the last person I expected to see today." They embrachen Darach did the same with Knox. Cynden grinned like a loon, ex We are seeing his cousin again.

Servants were summoned and people were moved so that Cync waved Knox could sit near the family. It seemed that because of the games, al laird's brothers were in attendance, some he'd met, others he looked it to getting to know. The Ross siblings had similar builds and feature

throughown brothers, making him immediately feel at home.

oved to By the way several warriors acknowledged Knox, it was evid warrior had been there several times and had gotten to know them. (hands.was envious of his cousin's easy rapport with the others at the table.

Throughout the meal, everything was overwhelming, and he did large gazesto listen to the conversations between the men, while at the same time ded ineverything in.

The couple whom they'd escorted to the keep and their ward had appeared. The women would probably wish to rest and were being rd." accommodations. A short time later, Darryl MacNeil appeared an other's acknowledged by Darach.

Musicians entered the great room moments and began playing, to go.the din of the conversations rise. The atmosphere was festive and g. moment Cynden allowed himself to enjoy it. However, soon the reaigh intohis visit and thoughts about what occurred back at Skye put a stop to it rs from Highland tradition mandated that a visitor spend time with the far g everybe entertained before seeking to speak to the laird. However, Cynder acticedfeel he could wait.

"May I speak with ye," Cynden said to Darach as the laird walke others.the high board. "It is important; otherwise, I would not be so discourte tof the At his words, Darach motioned to a man who, by his resemblance be another Ross. "Let us go somewhere quieter," Darach said. "Knox ever hejoin us."

loubt a Ewan had dark hair and piercing hazel eyes. He joined them we longwalked into what looked to be a study. The room was of a good size,

long table down the center and another at the head of the room. Alcoked upwall was a sideboard upon which glass decanters of different shaped over, lined up. Each had a different amount of what Cynden guessed to be w

He'd not thought to bring a token. Whiskey would have made a good a ced and Cynden barely remembered Ewan. They'd only met once, and it has cited at least ten years since. The man's features and hair color reminded of his brothers.

len and The hazel eyes searched his. "It has been many years. When did y ll of thehere last?"

forward "I have nae been here before," Cynden replied. "Have never left s to hismy life."

Ewan gave him an incredulous look. "In truth?"

ent the "Aye," Knox answered for him. "The only reason he is here nov Cyndeninjury keeps him from fighting."

Cynden could barely keep his excitement contained. It was goo his bestthere, at the keep he'd heard so much about. "I have wished to come takinglong time."

Turning to the laird, Cynden spoke again. "Ye are a heroic man, not yetMuch is said about how ye took over the clan and have made it great." found Something akin to pride flickered in the man's expression. "I am nd wasare here."

Ewan lifted his hand. "I am the best archer in the isles. I am sure y makinghave heard."

d for a "Unless Stuart is about," Darach stated with a grin. "If ye spe son forlength of time with us, ye will be witness to my brothers competing. I something ye wish to miss."

nily and Knox shook his head and chuckled. "At the last competition didn'tbrawled and ended up being disqualified."

Cynden pictured it. "I am afraid my visit cannot be prolonged sed from an be here for the games. Nor could I participate." He motioned to his ous." "What happened?" Darach eyed his right arm, which was hurtin, had tobadly after he'd been stupid enough to carry the woman and then ride to the sling. He wore the sling now to keep the throbbing arm tucked aga body.

as they "We are at war," Knox answered for him. "Our opponen, with aMacKinnons, are not a huge clan; however, their warriors outnumber ong onealmost double. We only have thirty men."

Ewan put down the glass he was about to fill. "I thought there was rhiskey.in place."

gift. "There was," Cynden replied. "However, the bastards find any re ad beencause harm and overstep. This last time, they attacked a family, Cyndeneveryone, including a young bairn dead."

Darach's expression hardened. His hazel eyes turning a stormy hur e cometook Cynden in. "What was their reasoning for doing it?"

Instinctively Cynden knew his reply would influence his c Skye indecision as to how quickly to help them. He met the man's gaze ho match the intensity. "The family died because two young people fell in love." His face v is theinto a sneer. "Last time it was border territory. Before that it was she kin have died over a pair of fecking sheep."

d to be A blond warrior came to the door and Darach invited him to enter the for ais Ian, my second-in-command."

Cynden waited as Darach told Ian what occurred on Skye. The cousin.stood stock still his expression impassive.

The laird held out a half-filled glass to Cynden. His gaze fell and glad yelifted it to look to his brother and Ian, who Cynden gathered was often out for council as all of Darach's brothers lived on their own lands. We mustgood to see that his cousin did not make decisions in haste and re others for assistance. Alexander was the same way, up to a point. Mustind anyhis second-in-command.

It is not "This could bring war back to our doorstep," Darach said. "I will consult with my brothers."

n, they "I ask that ye take into consideration that we are family," Cynden not taking the proffered glass. "Ye can nae leave us to die."

o that I Ewan frowned at the floor and then looked to his brother. "He spe arm. truth. We are family and because of it, we will help. We do not go ug quitealongside other clans, but they are our clan and our family."

without When Darach didn't say anything Ewan continued, "There is no inst hisponder or discuss. We must help them."

"I agree," Ian said.

its, the Darach blew out a breath of acquiescence. "It is hard for me to se ours byaway from their homes to fight. I almost died away from here and more painful than any wound."

a truce Cynden had no way of knowing, but he imagined that dying awa home was a cruel fate. "I cannot imagine it."

ason to Darach met Cynden's gaze for a long moment, it was as if he sar leavingthan just flesh and bones, but into his soul. There was a deepness to the expression that lulled one into a place of solitude and silence. "Ye locue as helike Ewan and Stuart. It is almost as if ye are our brother."

"I have been told that before," Cynden replied. Now that they'd ag ousin'shelp, he felt lighter and anxious to return to Skye.

ping to "Tonight ye rest and tomorrow we will gather the men. Y understand that most were looking forward to the games and will no

twistedgood spirits having to head to war instead," Ewan explained.

ep. Our Darach shook his head. "There is never a good time for it, I su Once again he held up the glass and this time Cynden accepted it.

r. "This "I will go," Ewan said not seeming to notice Darach and Ian exclusion looks.

warrior "Nay, I think I should go," Ian said.

"Ye have a wee one on the way," Ewan countered. "I already then hetroupe of bairns. Returning to them gives me a reason to fight harder. soughtthe MacKinnons, they are a bunch of daft idiots," Ewan explained.

It was "How do ye know them?" Darach asked.

lied on Ewan's expression darkened. "They are cheaters and thieves. Met aro was of them when I traveled."

The laird turned to Cynden and placed a hand on his shoulder. "V have tonae welcomed ye properly. Welcome to Dún Láidir. Ye are always w here."

replied, "Thank ye," Cynden stated. "I am glad to have finally been able t despite my mother's protestations."

eaks the Ewan's eyes narrowed. "What was the explanation for it?"

"I do nae know," Cynden shrugged. "Could be the coddled younge Everyone except Darach, who continued to study him, chuckled.

need to The laird motioned to the door. "I will make the announcement to That way the men can begin to prepare mentally for what is to come."

The huge blond man met Cynden's gaze. "We will send two had menback with ye and Ian." Ewan rolled his eyes but didn't argue.

it was "T-two...hundred?" Cynden stuttered. "That will do quite well. A MacKinnons do not amount to that many." A lightness filled his ty from Finally, Clan Ross of Skye could hope to live in peace." Returning hor the large contingency could be enough to dissuade the MacKinnons.

w more Darach looked to him. "I am surprised the MacKinnon dared to att e man'sis well aware of our might."

ok a lot "No one has ever stood up to him," Knox said in a quiet voice them. "They think themselves untouchable."

greed to "Ye should have asked for help sooner," Ewan said to Knox.

Cynden agreed. "Alex is a proud man, he hoped to be able to neg e musttruce."

ot be in



ppose."HE WOKE EARLY the next morning after collapsing with exhaustion quithe night before.

Despite the silence of the keep, there seemed to be a vibrancy to i the building itself was a living creature. Cynden had never been to like it.

have a Deciding to explore the surroundings while there was little active I know dressed quickly and set off. Outside the bedchamber was a long corrisement to the right instead of the left that led back to the great room and stairwell.

a group The sounds of women's voices, the clattering of pans, and the sn food being prepared met him before he made it to the doorway Ve have impressive kitchen. Everyone was busy preparing the first meal, elcome managed to walk past unnoticed.

Next, down a shorter passage was a room from which the smell o come told it was a laundering area. He walked past quickly to a doorway outside to a large green area where targets for archery were set up were benches for spectators. Opposite the targets was another a assumed it was for sword practice.

He went back inside and retraced his steps then headed past th tonight room and down another corridor. This one led past a row of bedchambers where he'd been told visitors and some family slept.

There was a short stairwell, where he found a water closet and an A small window gave a view of the forest and loch beyond. Continuit ye. The another stairwell, he found himself on the second floor where the chest-lived.

ne with Not wishing to intrude, he continued forward hoping to find a siback down to the great room.

ack. He

Upon finding the stairs, he rushed down the twisting stairwell only himself in a different area. Here there were more bedchambers an behind looked to be a parlor that included a set of windows overlooking the in Unable to keep from it, he went inside to look at the breathtakin Never in his life did he imagine such a beautiful place to live.

otiate a Movement out of the corner of his eye got his attention. Intuiting knew who it was, so he kept from looking at her.

The last thing he needed was for the lass to faint again. He did not te early have to lift her and hurt his arm again.

"Who are ye?" she whispered in a tone of awe.

it. As if Cynden turned to face her, and she gasped, her grayish-blue gaze a placehim in. "I told ye yesterday. I am Cynden Ross, cousin to the laird."

As if in a trance, she moved closer. "It is astonishing," she whisp vity, he can nae believe it."

"I look like someone ye know?" Cynden was becoming a bit annoy down athe pretty lass was only looking at him that way because he look someone else. Unlike her, he'd never seen such a stunning womanells of moved with such grace.

of an Her plump lips pursed as she took him in. And her gaze was like a so heas it moved over his body. Then seeming to realize what she did, a so colored her cheeks. "I apologize for my forwardness." She covert of lyecheeks with both hands.

that led "I have told ye my name twice and ye have yet to tell me yers,"

Thereby way of distracting her. He knew her name, but wanted to hear her strea, he "I am Ainslie MacNeil. From Barra. I have come with Laird Mabrother and his wife to participate in the festivities." Her voice le great singsong quality to it that made him wish to hear more.

smaller "I am told it is a huge affair."

She regarded Cynden and then focused somewhere past him. "Walcove.ye competing in?"

ig on to "I will not compete. I am here to seek help from my cousin. I am fi family Isle of Skye."

She smiled softly. "I have never been. I hear it is quite beautiful."

tairwell He supposed it was. "Open fields of green as far as the eye can s said picturing the lands he knew like the back of his hand.

to find "Why do ye need help?"

d what This time he stared out the window at the land and water while im let. his home in the distance. "We are at war."

g view. Her intake of breath made him look back at her just as she see notice his injured arm. "I am sorry."

vely he Cynden nodded. "I am as well. People are dying for no other reas a man's desire to overtake what is not his. It is horrible."

"So ye will nae remain then?" She seemed almost sad while aski

wish toeyes searching his.

He was glad to have run into her. Despite his wish to have no distrahving met the beauty was well worth it. When her cheeks pinkened, takingrealized he'd been staring at her.

"What were ye doing before I walked in?"

ered. "I She looked back to the now empty cushioned settee. "I was reading At a loss for words, both looked back out to the view. Cynden for red that what to say to her to prolong the moment, but nothing came to mind." ed like "I best get back to my guardians. Lady Cara will wonder where

an whoto." She turned to walk away.

"Who is Thomas?"

1 caress Her stricken look made him wish he'd not asked the question.

oft rose "The man I love."

red her "I see," Cynden replied, feeling an unjust bit of jealousy that so had captured the heart of such a beautiful creature before he had the ch he saidmeet her.

ay it. When she turned to face him, unruly curls escaped her simple has cNeil'sthe ringlets bouncing on her shoulders. "I wish ye Godspeed and tri had ashe told him her gaze once again taking him in. "Perhaps one day we each other again."

As she went to leave, he took her in. What an extraordinary won <sup>7</sup>hat arewas.

"Wait, I require yer help," Cynden said as she reached the doorw rom thedidn't want her to leave. He wished they could spend the entire n there. However, it was the day he would head back to Skye with an an would bring peace to his clan.

"How can I possibly help ye?" Her brows furrowed.

Cynden smiled at her. "I am lost. Could ye help me find the great r The corners of her lips twitched. "I will do my best. I have nae be aginingbefore, so we may become lost together."

If only.

med to

on than

ing, her

eyes searching his.

He was glad to have run into her. Despite his wish to have no distractions, having met the beauty was well worth it. When her cheeks pinkened, Cynden realized he'd been staring at her.

"What were ye doing before I walked in?"

She looked back to the now empty cushioned settee. "I was reading a bit."

At a loss for words, both looked back out to the view. Cynden fought for what to say to her to prolong the moment, but nothing came to mind.

"I best get back to my guardians. Lady Cara will wonder where I'm off to." She turned to walk away.

"Who is Thomas?"

Her stricken look made him wish he'd not asked the question.

"The man I love."

"I see," Cynden replied, feeling an unjust bit of jealousy that someone had captured the heart of such a beautiful creature before he had the chance to meet her.

When she turned to face him, unruly curls escaped her simple hairstyle, the ringlets bouncing on her shoulders. "I wish ye Godspeed and triumph," she told him her gaze once again taking him in. "Perhaps one day we will see each other again."

As she went to leave, he took her in. What an extraordinary woman she was.

"Wait, I require yer help," Cynden said as she reached the doorway. He didn't want her to leave. He wished they could spend the entire morning there. However, it was the day he would head back to Skye with an army that would bring peace to his clan.

"How can I possibly help ye?" Her brows furrowed.

Cynden smiled at her. "I am lost. Could ye help me find the great room?"

The corners of her lips twitched. "I will do my best. I have nae been here before, so we may become lost together."

If only.

## CHAPTER FOUR

Isle of Skye One Year Later

 $H_{\rm IS}$  arm felt heavy as stone as he swung it against the formidable op It wasn't the first time Cynden wondered if he'd live past that day.

After months of relative peace, once again the enemy had surged them, this time with help. They'd joined with the nearby clan Black them.

They were evenly matched as a small contingency of warriors fro Ross of Uist remained to keep the peace; however, after this new aft meant they were no closer to that peace.

Clan MacKinnon needed no good reason to fight. For the most seemed the ailing senile laird wished to witness battle in his ever-g fear of death. Perhaps witnessing people fight for life made him fee alive.

If only someone would get through the man's guards and finish I perhaps his successor, and eldest son, would have other things on hi than constant battle and strife.

A horn sounded in the distance announcing more fighters, the more distraction giving Cynden an upper hand against his opponent and he his sword into the man's midsection. The warrior fell to his knees muddy ground and Cynden withdrew his blade.

The downed man glared up at him. "Bastard."

Cynden leaned closer. "Be grateful ye will live idiot." The n sideways, and he stepped over the downed man. Glad for the welcon of more Ross warriors approaching.

Their opponents instantly withdrew, hurrying away, carryir dragging the wounded. The Ross warriors were too exhausted to d than watch them leave.

Alexander came to where Cynden was, bent over gasping for breat "Are ye injured?" His brother patted him down. "Cynden answer n

He shrugged away. "I am unscathed. I can strip all my clothes of to continue yer search." His hard breathing did not take away fr irritation in his voice.

Although he knew his brothers cared for him. At times he wished be the youngest. His aggravation grew when Munro and Gavin rushed also inspect him. Three sets of eyes looking him over with vexpressions.

"Leave me be," Cynden snapped. "Ye are bleeding." He poi ponent. Munro. "Everyone look, our brother is bleeding to death."

It was then that Munro realized he was injured. He stumbled bac againsthands clutched at his side, and fell straight back like a fallen tree.

against Instantly they rushed to their unconscious brother.

"I did nae mean what I said," Cynden spoke into Munro's ear. m Clanup."

front, it Thick and muscular, it wouldn't be easy to pick Munro up. The spent most days at swordplay and training for battle, making part, it formidable foe.

growing "Get away from me," Munro muttered. "Yer closeness is taking all moreair."

Ignoring his remarks, the brothers took Munro by the arms and him off, him up to stand. Munro swayed a bit, his gaze unfocused. He didn is mindwhen Gavin and Alexander helped him hobble to a wagon that wou him back to the keep.

nentary Cynden went to where the newly arrived Ross warriors had dism e thrustAmong them was Ian. The blond warrior had gone to Uist for a fortni on thereturned with fifty men who would exchange places with men who currently there.

"I see ye fared well. We missed the fight," Ian said. The gruff an fellpatted Cynden's shoulder.

ne sight Since the first time he came to Skye, he and Ian had formed a bound archer was always close by whenever they'd battled. Every doubing andarcher being able to fight hand to hand had disappeared after the first o morewhen Ian had taken on two opponents at once. He was a forr combatant.

h. Many a night, they'd stayed up talking. Cynden told him about 1e." Skye and Ian shared what it was like growing up in different places si

f for yefather had no allegiance to any clan.

om the Cynden was close to his brothers and couldn't imagine grow without an alliance or family. Munro and Gavin, who were but eleven 1 not toapart were always together. He usually had Knox's company and the over toas close as brothers. Alexander had the weight of the clan on his sh worriedand spent most of his days conferring with the clan elders, but alway time for family.

nted at "I bring news," Ian said as they walked their steeds to allow the atorest. "Darach wishes for ye to return with the fifty we replace "kward, discuss it with Alexander."

"Why?" Cynden asked, becoming excited at the prospect of retur Dún Láidir.

"Wake "To train with our warriors and teach them about Skye warrior ta is important for our men to be more prepared as these bouts continue." warrior Despite his wish to go, he worried his mother would stop it. After him athe year prior, she'd been distraught. Making Alexander promise he'd back.

all the Their mother's behavior had been strange since the warriors from came to help. It was as if she was on edge, not wishing for much into hoistedbetween the men. It was inevitable, so she'd stopped asking that he't resistbrothers keep a distance.

Ild take Finally one day Alexander had asked her to explain her seeming for their cousins and she'd screamed that they'd never understand ounted.rushing from the room in tears.

ght and "Allow me to present the idea to Alex myself," Cynden said. "I o werekeep it between us for now."

The archer frowned. "Is yer mother still against ye traveling to Uiswarrior "Aye," he said nodding. "I do nae understand why. We have tried many times, but she refuses to speak about it."

nd. The Ian shook his head. "Women are hard to understand."

t of an "I agree," Cynden said then wanted to laugh as his knowledge of it battlewas very limited. He didn't have any sisters and the only women he nidableintimate with were the butcher's daughter, when he was five and ten,

servant, Orla. He'd not lain with Orla in over a year, not wishing to  $\xi$  life onexpectations. The household female servants often got his attention wi ince hishigh-pitched chatter and giggles. However, it was best to keep any in

away from the household in his opinion.

ring up

months<sub>That</sub> evening after speaking to Alexander and his brother seeking by were with Ian, it was decided that Cynden would indeed go to Uist for an infoulders length of time.

They would not be leaving for a few days, and already Cynd become restless. He went to visit Munro, who was resting in his bedch animals

Upon entering, his brother gave him a look of relief. "The healer volume is a look of relief." The healer volume is a look of relief. "I will allow me to do more than lay in bed." He hit the bedding with his emphasis. "I would nae except for the fact Mother was here when he says

ning to Since their father's death, the brothers did their best to keep their from distress. A hard task given the current state of affairs on the isle.

ctics. It "Darach asked for me to go to Dún Láidir to train with their wa Cynden said lowering to a chair. "Alexander has agreed. I worry abc his tripMother will take it."

of pain. Otherwise, he would not have remained in the room, no matt Uist<sub>the</sub> healer had said.

eraction "Ye should go Cyn. Each of us has a calling. Ye are the best train and his it will do the Uist warriors good to come prepared for how men fight h

"Alex said he will speak to Mother; however, I will go no matter w dislike says. I am a warrior, not a bairn to be kept safe."

before Munro shook his head and then cocked it to the side. "I remem times mother and father fought when she refused to go to Uist and der wish to ye remain here with her. Father demanded an explanation."

This was news to him, so Cynden leaned forward. "What explanate?" she give?"

I to ask "That ye were in danger from fate."

"What?"

"I do nae know," Munro said. "I thought it odd, so I asked grand women later. She said it was nothing of importance, that our mother had a dre 'd been ye would drown at sea when ye was a bairn."

and the It made sense when he was younger, but not now that he was give herCynden suspected there was another reason. If his mother raised a th their about him not going, then he would demand to know the real reason. It imacy

Upon leaving Munro's bedchamber, Cynden went to find his moth normally spent the afternoon in her sitting room upstairs praying for councilsafe return. Upon the warrior's return, she would have food broug definite spend the rest of the day with her embroidery. Rarely did she share a

the great room unless there were visitors. And with the ongoing bat len hadone came to visit.

amber. Just as he was to knock, his brother's voice brought Cynden to will nae Obviously, Alexander had beaten him there. Now it sounded as if he alfist for mother argued.

aid it." "Why must ye constantly bring this matter up? I have told ye. (mothershould nae go to Uist. I will nae allow it."

"Ye never give a reason, Mother. He is a warrior and is the best rriors,"train the men to help ensure more lives are not lost while we continut howsenseless war." It was good to hear the strength in Alexander's voice meant he had made up his mind.

eat deal "I will speak to Cynden and talk him out of it," their mother said er what best for ye to send someone else. Why do those men need training? T great warriors, ye've said it yerself."

"Mother, it is only a courtesy that I tell ye. I am not asking ere." permission, only that ye do not cause a scene in front of our cousin's not that she "A scene." His mother's voice rose to a shrill level. "I have state will nae allow it and ye must obey me."

ber the "I am laird," Alexander spoke in a louder tone than he usually us nanded their mother. "What I say will happen. That is the end of it. Cynden wi Uist and stay for as long as he must. At least an entire season."

"No," his mother wailed. "Promise me not to send him."

"Stop it, Mother," Alexander said, his tone softer. "Please. Stop him like a child."

"He will nae return once there. The truth will come out and lmother choose to remain there forever."

am that At this point, it was obvious that Alexander had lost his patience. truth? Stop speaking in riddles. Tell me what ye are talking about."

a man. Sounds of sobbing came next, then a pause.

n issue "Cynden is not only yer brother. He is their brother as well."

Whatever it meant, Cynden wasn't sure. How could he be bro both? They shared the same mother and father, but he did not  $\nu$ 

ier. Shecousins on Uist.

or their "What do ye mean?" Alexander asked, his voice incredulous. "Fight andgone mad?"

meal in "No!" his mother screamed. "I am not mad. I was taken against n tles, noby that bastard. By yer father's brother. He forced me to lay with him the last time I visited Uist. Cynden is the result."

a stop. To hear over the thundering of his heart, he leaned into the hand their doorway.

"How can ye be sure he is not my father's son?"

Cynden This time their mother spoke in an empty tone. "Yer father and I had distant. Issues over nonconsequential things. I had just had my courses one togoing. But not again after... There was no doubt." She began to cry. tue thistwo months without bleeding. Yer father and I..." She hiccupped. "I, whichfather believe Cynden was his. He never knew."

"They do not know on Uist. What harm can come from him going?

d. "It is "What if... he told his wife? What if she knows and tells Cyr hey arecannot bear to lose yer brother. I cannot bear to lose my son."

It was strange to hear Alex chuckle. "Mother, he is nae a bairn. Ying yerraised him, and he loves ye. This is his place. He will always return ho nen." Cynden walked away, not needing to hear anymore. Did it truly d that Iwho sired him? His own father had never known the truth of it. And I

it would have been best if he himself had not learned the truth. That ed withthe result of his mother being taken by force. At the same time, ill go tocomforting that all his life, his mother loved him unconditionally.

When birds squawked overhead, he realized he had gone (Quickly, he scanned the surroundings, ensuring not to be in danger, a treatingtimes the MacKinnons had tried to sneak close to their keep.

"I am nae full brother to anyone," he whispered.

he will "There ye are," Alexander walked toward him, his gaze se Cynden's face. "Ye will go."

"What He suspected that Alex had not backed down. "I am glad. I w Mother in the morning and appease her as much as possible."

His brother—no, his *half*-brother—laughed. "Ye will be disapped is still set on forbidding that ye go."

other to When Alexander neared, put an arm around his shoulder, and pull with hisagainst his chest, Cynden fought against the knot that formed in his th

love ye brother," Alex said. "I expect ye to return unscathed."

Iave ye It was not the first time that he or any of his brothers embrac Cynden was glad for his oldest brother's assurance.

ny will, "And I love ye brother," he replied as they separated. "I look for . It washelping the warriors. I will worry about ye, Munro, and Gavin fightin I am away."

lf-open "No need. We have nae lost any men since our cousin sent men."

ad been<sub>The following day</sub> Cynden steeled himself and went to speak to his beforeHe preferred her not to know what he'd overheard, and he prayed the "Afternot suspect."

let yer She looked up from her embroidery, her expression softening upon him. She remained an attractive woman and he'd often wondered i remarry. He hoped she would and not be left alone after they all n iden? IAlthough she would always have a home at the keep, in Cynden's c she was much too young to remain without a husband.

Te have "Cyn, come darling," She held out her arms and he kneeled beforme." accepting the tight embrace. She kissed his temples and leaned back matterat him. "What is this I hear about ye wishing to go away from me?" perhaps "Tis only for a short time Mother," he replied with a smile. he waslooking forward to exploring the isle."

it was Her gaze took him in. "And yer cousins? Ye enjoy time with t well?"

outside. "I am nae going for a visit, but for a duty that my brother has gives manyOnce it is done, I will return with haste as I am sure to miss ye and greatly."

His mother hugged him again. "It makes me glad to hear ye say archingwill miss ye greatly."

"Come with me," Cynden said, meaning it. Perhaps if she accon ill seekhim she'd realize that the travel was not perilous.

"I cannot," she replied abruptly. "Yer brothers will continue to pointed must be here to pray and ensure they return daily."

He agreed. Before sitting down, he pulled a chair closer then loweled himit.

They sat in silence as she looked across the room to a small w ed, but "Why must men insist on war? There is so much more to life than stu wrath."

ward to "The MacKinnon is weak and dying. He wishes to live a legacy, of g whilemakes little sense." Cynden let out a breath. "It will end soon, I pray brings all this to an end."

His mother shook her head. "He will not unless we beat them. The no doubt building resentment and bitterness from the loss of men grew up with. If anything, the MacKinnon has raised a successor to longther, more cruel than him."

nt she'd He'd fought against MacKinnon's son. The older warrior fought mercy. Like a demon possessed, he'd demolished anyone in his path seeing normally only Munro or Alexander who stood a chance against him in f she'd narried.

opinion, Two days later as the birlinns neared the shores of Uist, Cynden across the water to what would be his home for months and wondere are her, changes would come.

to look The calmness of the water had made the trip uneventful. Ther several birlinns on which men and war horses traveled. The animals,

"I amaccompanying their masters, kept silent as if resting after months of The resilient brave animals instinctively remained balanced while hem asacross the water to their homeland.

Cynden looked across to the nearest birlinn, on which Ewan stock the measest apart prepared to reach down to grab ropes from smaller flat bood homeneared to take them to land. Their gazes met for a moment and of wondered if any of the Ross from Uist would suspect they were book that. IThere really wasn't a reason for them to think it, after all, they we Cynden hoped to leave well enough alone.

npanied Not that anyone finding out would bring any issues. Perhaps in the painful secrets would have caused strife, but now that the elder brothe fight, Idead, his parentage mattered little.

In his mind, the man he'd known since birth was who he would red intoconsider to be his father. Not the faceless cruel man who'd taken he brother's wife against her will. It was a good thing the man was dead,

rindow.would have had a hard time not killing him. rife and one that his son e son is who he oe even without . It was battle. peered ed what e were used to f battle. sailing od, feet ats that Cynden rothers. ere kin. ne past, rs were always iis own

else he

would have had a hard time not killing him.

## CHAPTER FIVE

"How fare YE today?" Lady Mariel Ross, the laird's mother, took A attention from her journal. She peered across the sitting area to the Ye who'd given her a sanctuary for a year now. Lady Ross was a MacN distant cousin to Ainslie, which made her prolonging her visit there I like an intrusion.

Each time she'd considered returning to Barra, she'd been scared c back to the shell of a person she'd become after Thomas' death. At the keep, away from the memories, and constant reminders of him, she'd sort of calm. It was not happiness, but more of a peaceful existence were constant distractions and always much to do, the keep was a bus filled with people, celebrations, and outings.

"I must once again thank ye for allowing me to remain. I am enjohere very much." Ainslie noted that outside the sun was high in the sk we still going to the village today?"

As if summoned, Isobel, the laird's pretty wife entered the room. had taken an immediate liking to her, she was just a pair of years old her and had a serene personality that made one comfortable. In A opinion, the main reason for Darach Ross' success as laird, was that Isobel by his side.

"The horse and carriage are ready. Come along, ladies." She warmly at her mother-in-law. "I know ye wish to wear a hat, so I had well as a light shawl brought down."

Lady Mariel laughed. "Ye must be anxious to be away."

"Aye, the bairns are asleep. I wish to go before they awaken, an too guilty to leave them behind."

It was but a matter of moments before the three women were c way. It was indeed a beautiful day. Only a smattering of clouds in the a light breeze that made the sunny day even more pleasant.

As they rode past a field of heather—each stalk bursting with blothe sweet perfume surrounded them. Ainslie took a deep breath. "It

wonderful."

"We shall stop to pick some heather then," Lady Mariel announce can make perfumed oil and sachets for clothing trunks."

"We can sprinkle some in the guards' quarters. It is foul over Isobel added with a wrinkled nose.

inslie's Lady Mariel nodded and chuckled. "For that task, we would wagon load."

woman, "Why do they not get their quarters swept and mopped?" Ainslie a "They usually keep their area clean. Since traveling back and foot feel Skye, they've become lazy about it," Lady Mariel informed her.

Isobel huffed. "I tried to send maids to do the task, but they raced of going tears. The men would not let them be. If they wish to live like sw ne Ross them."

found a The older woman let out a breath. "To be fair, cook told me they'v . There brooms and have asked for lye."

y place "Cood" Isobel said then looked to Ainslie "When we marry whi

"Good," Isobel said then looked to Ainslie. "When ye marry—whi sure will be soon—ye will learn that there is so much more to man bying it household than ye would ever think."

y. "Are "I doubt to over marry." Ainslie replied. "Although I do wish

"I doubt to ever marry," Ainslie replied. "Although, I do wish again. It hurts horribly when something happens to them."

Her companions exchanged knowing looks, and Isobel patted A ler than hand. "Ye are much too young to be done with love. I am sure anoth inslie's will come along and perhaps not replace yer lost love but fill yer he had the same."

She doubted it but decided not to comment. It was the same the smiled mother had told her once and it was repeated by Lady Cara before she one as return to Barra. The woman had pulled her aside to tell her it was opportunity, being there at Keep Ross. With so many eligible men and going, perhaps she would meet her destiny.

It wasn't a coincidence that the women all thought the same the reluctant as she was to the possibility of love, Ainslie was intelligent to know fate had a way of changing lives. A woman on the isles was compared to a sad and lonely existence without a husband and bairns.

With the driver's and Isobel's daggers, they were able to cut the sooms—heather. A cloth was procured from the carriage and cut into strips the smells used to tie the flowers into bundles.

"Someone arrives," Isobel said pointing toward the sea. "They we d. "Weof Skye colors."

They climbed back onto the carriage and watched in silence there,"mounted at the seashore. The local guards were already there to whoever arrived did not pose a threat. On a hillside a line of warric need avigil atop huge intimidating warhorses.

Ainslie had always heard about the might of Clan Ross warriors. It sked. until she lived there that she realized why they had such a reprorth to Whenever she came across a warrior, their demeanor alone was enomake a person falter.

back in Often, the silent men would move aside to allow her to pass. If sh ine, letto look at them to thank them, the response was usually a grunt, or times a curt *my lady*, before they went on their way.

re made Now lined up atop a hill, an enemy would have to be mad to atte attack.

ch I am "They are formidable," she said out loud. "Do ye ever wonder was aging ato go to war alongside them? Or worst against them?"

"Goodness no," Lady Mariel replied. "I cannot fathom how an to lovearmy has stood against them."

Isobel turned to study the warriors. "Most of them are kind and go inslie'smen. However, for some, battle has changed them. I am often shocked ler manthey transform when with their wives and bairns."

eart just A group of riders rode toward them, and Lady Mariel asked the dremain at a stop. She looked to Ainslie and Isobel.

ing her "I wish to know who comes. I believe it is our men returning from e left to The arrivals who rode in two rows about twenty deep neared and s a goodTwo of them rode closer to the carriage.

coming At noting who one was, Ainslie felt her heart dip into her stoma she gasped. Isobel gave her a curious look but didn't say anything.

ing. As "I am glad to see ye home, Colin," Isobel stated, assuming her enoughlaird's wife. "How did everyone fare?"

loomed The gruff muscular man's face warmed when addressing Isobel. well my lady. We had no casualties and only a few minor injuries. talks ofglad to return home."

at they "I certainly hope it will soon be for good that everyone returns, Mariel remarked.

ar Ross Then she spoke to the man whom Ainslie had met upon first a "Welcome back to Uist, Cynden."

as men Cynden's gold and green speckled gaze moved from one to the censurethem. When he locked gazes with her, there was a slight narrowing reskepteyes in recognition. If possible he'd become even more handsome the remembered.

wasn't "I am glad to be here, my lady." He bowed his head in greeting, utation.shining off the light sun-streaked brown hair. "I come to train with the bugh to The deepness of his tone was like a caress and Ainslie shivered.

Isobel glanced at her. "Are ye chilled?"

e dared Ainslie turned her head away, pretending to study the seashore. 'on rarebit."

From under her lashes, she studied Cynden. As much as he resemt empt andear Thomas, everything about this man was so very different. I healthy and strong. His body honed for battle. His skin a warm tan aft hat it isoutdoors. And his eyes shined like embers, the golden flecks battling v cool green.

y other A brisk wind blew his shoulder-length hair sideways into his halface. Frowning, he pulled a thin leather strap that was wrapped arownerouswrist and tied the silken tresses back.

at how It occurred to Ainslie that the conversation had continued, and she lost in thought. The entire time gawking at Cynden. She swallowed river tono one had noticed, but then Cynden's right eyebrow rose, and he gav knowing look.

Skye." "Oh!" Ainslie's face burned with mortification, made even wors topped.everyone stared at her. Thinking quickly, she glanced down. "I tho have seen a wee spider."

ch, and Isobel waved her hand dismissively. "Do not worry, I am sure mistaken," she continued speaking to Cynden. "I will nae have ye slee role asthe guard's quarters. Ye are the laird's cousin and will have a chambe house proper."

"All is Isobel then continued addressing Colin. "Yer guards have nae ke We arequarters clean, the stench reaches the house. Speak to them about it."

"They were unkind to a pair of maids we sent over to help clean. S
" Ladyare aware it will nae be tolerated again," Lady Mariel added.

Cynden slid Ainslie a look. "I did nae know ye were to remain Ain

rriving. The way he said her name, in the smooth deep tone of his voice wa caress. How was it possible? Thomas' voice had never affected her in other ofway.

g of his "Ladies Mariel and Isobel kindly invited me to remain after my han shecompanions left."

His gaze fell from hers down to her clutched hands. "I am pleased the sunye again."

e men." When she was struck silent, wondering what he meant, Isobel span hopeful ye will remain for a season or two. It will allow us to get the ye better as ye've never come to visit before."

"A wee "Yer husband invited me to train with the warriors here. I welcor idea as it is rare that I leave Skye. I am nae sure for how long."

oled her "Ye deserve to be away from the fighting. I am glad ye accepted. He wasMariel said.

rer days "We best be on our way," Colin said looking away in the direction with thekeep. "The men are eager for a hot meal and their own beds."

As the line of warriors continued past, Lady Mariel and Isobel loo ndsomethe window, every so often waving at men they knew. It wasn't u und hisentire contingency rode by that their carriage continued on.

"There is something about Cynden that brings me pause. I feel as 'd beenknown him from before. Yet he insists never to have been here," Lady hopingsaid.

The laird's mother thought about it. "His father and my husband we whenclose, even if brothers. It was rare that John came, rarer that he brought toof his sons."

They rode in silence for a bit longer.

ye are "He resembles my sons more than the others, do ye not think?" It eping inLady Mariel continued to ponder.

r in the "He has the hazel eyes," Isobel replied. "I believe that is wl brothers have dark green eyes. Cynden does resemble Darach a great d pt their Lady Mariel snapped her fingers. "Aye, that is it. The first time him, it was as if seeing Darach a few years past."

she would avoid the warrior while he was here. Although she fou slie." attractive, he reminded her of Thomas, so it was best to avoid him. He

is like acould not withstand the constant reminder. Not for one moment did should be such ahe resembled the laird. She'd already concluded that Cynden and Could have been brothers. The resemblance was uncanny.

y travel "Lady Mariel, ye are from Barra, are ye not?" She waited for the to nod. "Do ye know anyone from Clan Macrae?"

1 to see "Aye, I do. Sorcha Macrae was a good friend of mine." Her lips cua distant pleasant memory. "I miss her and her family."

ooke, "I "Lady Sorcha had a son, his name was Thomas." Ainslie choked o knowname. "He was my late betrothed."

Lady Mariel's expression was compassionate, and she took A ned thehand in hers. "Cara told me ye lost yer betrothed. She did nae say wh it was. I am sad for my dear friend. What happened to him?"

"He died from illness. Nothing could be done." It was strange to words without dissolving into tears. As time passed it became easier to of theof him and smile when remembering their good times.

"I am so very sorry," Lady Mariel said. "How terrible for some ked outyoung as ye to go through this."

ntil the "Have ye found a bit of solace here?" Isobel asked.

"Aye. I needed to leave Barra, there were memories at every if I'veAinslie continued. "What I wanted to say is that the warrior (Marielresembles my late betrothed. The first time I saw him, I could nae brea Lady Mariel's eyes narrowed. "There is a possibility that many mage look like my late husband."

rere not She met Ainslie's gaze. "Many a time he took a woman by ght anyWhether married or not, it mattered little. He was a cruel man who de on his large army as a deterrent from revenge."

"I have heard about him," Ainslie admitted. "My parents would he seemedallowed me to come if he were still alive." She covered her mouth wi hands at realizing she'd just spoken ill of Lady Mariel's husband. "On the speaking ill of—"

leal." Lady Mariel held up a hand. "Do not apologize. He does nae des e I sawbe thought of kindly."

Isobel peered out the window. "The village has come into view. I can how the basket weaver is there."

nd him "Once we get back, I must see about young Cynden and ensure er heartsuitable accommodations." The laird's mother smiled at Isobel. "We n

ie thinklinger overmuch."

realized it was a strange question to be asking. Fortunately, Isobel cowomanpeering out the window and Lady Mariel did not seem to think it odd.

"Nay, he will be upstairs," Lady Mariel replied, a finger pressecurved atchin in thought. "He can have Gideon's old room."

"Now that yer sons are all married, there are plenty of empty reout his Isobel added and looked to Ainslie. "Ye are currently in the one next one. It used to be Stuart's."

inslie's It took all her strength not to groan. Being in the room next to his rose sonwould be doubly as hard to avoid the man.

Upon her return, she'd find a way to move into another room. I say theseek out the help of one of the maids. Make up an excuse.

continuity of life. It seemed unfair and at the beauty of the day a continuity of life it seemed unfair and at the same time it was the way sone so Some lived while others died.

We will eat at the village tavern," Isobel said, her voice tinge excitement. "I so love the meat pies there."

' turn,"

Cynden

the." As promised the basket weaver was quite talented and Ainslie had puten their two baskets for her bedchamber, a large one for clothes and a smaller

place personal items in. Isobel was right about the delicious meat pie force were stuffed with meat and finely chopped vegetables, in a flavorful pended The pastry was made with butter, and it had been as delectable as the

They'd all eaten too much and once in the coach had to sit back wi ave naehands across their swollen stomachs.

th both The sun was low in the horizon when they finally rode through the h, dear.back into the keep courtyard.

Once they were assisted from the coach, Ainslie carried her basket serve to few other small items inside.

Inside the great room, people were enjoying the evening meal. lo hopeentertained with lively tunes, as people either ate or danced. If ever the a place to forget one's troubles, this was a perfect one.

he has Darach Ross walked toward them and greeted Isobel with nust not

consuming embrace, his huge muscular arms surrounding the slight value quickly It was as if no one else was there when they looked into each other ntinued Ainslie almost felt like an intruder while witnessing the exchange be two people who were so obviously in love.

l to her "Did ye enjoy the village?" Darach asked, his hazel gaze meeting l "Aye, I did Laird," Ainslie replied. "We ate too many meat pies."

ooms?" The handsome man's lips curved, and he turned to give his wife at to thatgaze. "If I hired the tavern owner's wife to cook here, ye would neve the keep."

neant it Isobel's laughter rang out and several people turned to look, one c Cynden Ross. A jolt traveled through Ainslie at noting him and she Perhapsaway before he noticed her looking at him.

It was quite annoying that a mere glance could have such an effect and the Surely she was tired or perhaps in need of a bit of honeyed mead to of life.thoughts under control.

They continued on into the great room, thankfully Lady Mariel into ed withand stopped Ainslie from having to sit. "I am going upstairs to depopurchases and have a wee rest. Would ye like to join me?"

"Aye," Ainslie practically shouted out. "I do nae wish to smell foo They walked up the stairs, the entire time she could feel Cynden rchasedon her. It could have been her imagination, but she doubted it. The n one to an unnatural effect on her that had to be stopped somehow.

s. They After a light repose with Lady Mariel, Ainslie trudged to her bedc sauce and placed the large basket on the floor. The bed was calling her nar fillings she stopped to admire it.

th their It would only be a matter of moments to undress and don her nig Although it was much too early, she decided she could linger in bed le gates falling asleep.

After lifting her nightgown that hung over the foot of the bed, she to and abehind the screen in the corner to change. Although she had the reself, if someone opened the door, anyone passing by could a Piperschanging. Humming softly, she removed her clothes, draping each ite ere wasthe screen.

The door opened and someone cleared their throat. Ainslie knew an all-the maid who usually stopped by to stoke the fire and ensure nothing to be done. Although normally she enjoyed a light conversation with t

woman.woman, this night Ainslie did not wish to speak to anyone else. She lais eyes.breath when she heard the door close.

setween She glanced toward the far wall and frowned wondering which rougiven to Cynden. The one to her right or left. Either way, he was muters. close. Somehow, she had to come up with a way to move to bedchamber. She'd have to come up with a good excuse so as not to a loving suspicions.

er leave In her nightshift, she rounded the screen and peered toward the variation pondering if she should open it a bit for some fresh air.

of them Movement out of the corner of her eye got her attention and she lookedaround.

Splayed sideways across her bed was a shirtless man. Not ju on her.shirtless man.

get her It was Cynden Ross.

Unable to stop herself, she studied him for a scant moment. Act ercededwell-formed chest a splay of dark hair formed a cross, the long part osit mydown the center of his body to where his breeches were belted. Ainslie her head to stop the indulgence.

d." Eyes closed, he seemed to be sleeping. Surely he was not asleep a 's gazeonly been behind the screen but a few moments.

nan had Ainslie pressed her lips together. The gall of the man thinking that pair of meetings, she would allow him into her bed. Ire rose as she hambertoward the fireplace to grab a poker. She'd teach him a lesson or two ne, and sneaking in without invitation. Not that she would invite him in. Ever.

With the poker in her trembling hand, she inched closer to tl shtshift. Admittedly, she paused a few times to allow her gaze to linger of before Despite being annoyed, she had to admit, he made a beautiful sight.

She closed the distance and swung the poker down, not hard, but in the wentbe enough to leave a welt on his chest. Suddenly, his hands came up go oom tothe poker with one and her shoulder with the other. He swung her cosee herbed and came over her.

em over Air left her lungs when Ainslie found herself pinned under him weapon clattered to the floor noisily, the only sound besides her sharp it wasof breath.

needed For a moment they stared at one another wide-eyed.

he kind "What are ye doing in my bedchamber," both asked in unison.

et out a Astounded, Ainslie couldn't formulate another word. Did the actually think she was in his bedchamber in her nightgown?

om was Cynden regarded her, his right brow lifting in question. "I am quit uch toobut I may be able to manage a wee tussle."

another "Get off of me," Ainslie retorted. "I do nae want a *wee tussle* or a arouseof tussle with ye."

When he didn't budge, Ainslie was suddenly aware of the intimation windowtheir bodies remained. His weight pressed over hers and his face mere from hers.

whirled "A lass only comes into a man's bedchamber for one reason." I curved and she couldn't look away from the dimples that formed cust anycheeks.

Before she could reply his mouth covered hers, moving across l with possessiveness. It was as if he branded her as his. He released he coss hisslowly sliding his fingertips down her arm until he reached her brea trailingentire time, his mouth claiming, demanding, urging.

e shook It was the first time she'd ever felt so consumed by someone. How possible to be so consumed by a kiss? So overwhelmed by a touch: is she'dpart of her wished for him to remain there kissing and touching her.

At his hand squeezing her breast, alarm bells went off in her head after afound the superhuman strength to push him off.

tiptoed Ainslie jumped from the bed, her chest heaving from a combination of abouteffort and the fiery desire that coursed through her.

Cynden went onto his back, a look of astonishment on his handson ne bed. "What are ye doing?" Then his lips curved, and he gave her a sly gr on him. wish to be on top?"

He motioned with both hands to the rather enlarged bulge betw t wouldlegs.

rabbing "God no!" Ainslie exclaimed, then ensuring to keep her voice lonto theto not alert anyone that he was there. "I wish for ye to leave my bedc now."

m. Her Pushing himself up to rest on his elbows, he studied her. "This intakebedchamber?"

It was difficult, but she managed a glare. In truth what she desire than anything was to return to the bed.

To him.

ie man She narrowed her eyes and clenched her jaw. "How dare ye tal freedoms? Ye are a pig."

te tired, To her further annoyance, he chuckled and fell back onto the bec apologize. I am quite exhausted and did nae realize to have gone i ny kindwrong bedchamber."

"Get out." She pointed to the door.

ite way Finally, he stood. Tall and broad. To her further annoyance, he see inchesfill the space. Now that she knew exactly what he tasted like, how he fear, it was hard not to take him in.

His lips Ainslie stared straight into his chest. "Ensure not to make the 1 on bothagain."

With tunic and boots in hand, he closed the distance between the her lipspeered down at her. "I do apologize for my actions."

er wrist, Ainslie hated that she had to crane her neck to look up at him. "A ist. Thenot accepted."

For whatever reason, he bent down until there was but a whisper by was itthem. "I would say *ye* took advantage of *me*. I was in a vulnerable power it is a vulnerable power."

"What?" She pressed her hands against his chest intent on shovi and sheaway but he barely budged. "Cynden go. And since it seems imposs ye to understand where to go, ye should ask for another chamber."

n of the He let out a sigh as if bored by the situation. "Are ye afraid? If ye so difficult to stay away from me, then ye should be the one to move."

ne face. Not caring to speak to him any longer and half fearful she'd ask in. "Yeremain, Ainslie whirled about and stomped to the door. She yanked and pointed to the corridor. "Out!"

een his His eyes grew wide. His mouth fell open. His gaze looked past her The man had to be the most arrogant person she'd ever met w so asremained rooted to the spot.

hamber "I said get out," Ainslie repeated.

"Ainslie?" At hearing the voice behind her, her stomach dropped is yerturned to find Lady Mariel standing in the doorway, her eyes movin her to Cynden.

ed more "I came because ye left one of yer wee baskets in my sitting room said holding up the item. "What happened?"

"He was just leaving," Ainslie managed to say while motioning

ke suchhalf-clad infuriating man.

Cynden barked out a laugh. "I came into the wrong bedchamber 1. "I doupon the bed, much to Miss Ainslie's shock."

nto the Lady Mariel's eyes twinkled with mirth. "Oh, dear, I can only imaş "Please come in, Lady Mariel," Ainslie managed.

While she spoke, Cynden grabbed his scabbard and walked aroun emed toMariel. "Again, my apologies Miss Ainslie. I bid ye both a good night. elt over "Sleep well," Lady Mariel said with a wide smile.

Ainslie covered her face with both hands. "I suppose I was quite mistakedemanding Mr. Ross leave my bedchamber. I was nae sure what to c seeing him in here."

em and Lady Mariel looked to the floor where the poker lay. "I see." She at her. "I am sure it was not all unpleasant. He is quite bonnie, is he no pology Fire scorched her cheeks. Could the woman tell they'd kisse suppose."

between "Do nae fret lass. In the morning ye will find the humor in wosition, occurred." Lady Mariel handed her the basket and walked away.

When the door closed, Ainslie turned around and walked to the been ghimshe fell face-first onto it. When she rolled over her lips curved into ible forgrin. Admittedly, being kissed by a handsome half-naked man had been joyable.

e find it Not that she'd ever admit it to him.

him to it open

as he

ed. She

n," she

; to the

half-clad infuriating man.

Cynden barked out a laugh. "I came into the wrong bedchamber and lay upon the bed, much to Miss Ainslie's shock."

Lady Mariel's eyes twinkled with mirth. "Oh, dear, I can only imagine."

"Please come in, Lady Mariel," Ainslie managed.

While she spoke, Cynden grabbed his scabbard and walked around Lady Mariel. "Again, my apologies Miss Ainslie. I bid ye both a good night."

"Sleep well," Lady Mariel said with a wide smile.

Ainslie covered her face with both hands. "I suppose I was quite loud in demanding Mr. Ross leave my bedchamber. I was nae sure what to do upon seeing him in here."

Lady Mariel looked to the floor where the poker lay. "I see." She smiled at her. "I am sure it was not all unpleasant. He is quite bonnie, is he not?"

Fire scorched her cheeks. Could the woman tell they'd kissed? "I-I suppose."

"Do nae fret lass. In the morning ye will find the humor in what has occurred." Lady Mariel handed her the basket and walked away.

When the door closed, Ainslie turned around and walked to the bed where she fell face-first onto it. When she rolled over her lips curved into a wide grin. Admittedly, being kissed by a handsome half-naked man had been quite enjoyable.

Not that she'd ever admit it to him.

## CHAPTER SIX

 $M_{\rm EN}$  stood in a circle studying the map Cynden had drawn in the direction spoke about the terrain and the distances between Ross and Maclands, they listened intently. It was a matter of life and death after something to be taken lightly.

One warrior, however, was not as attentive. The man slid him angry glances then walked away, not bothering to make an excuse.

"Who is he?" Cynden asked Ewan, who watched the departing who was headed toward the corrals where the horses were kept.

"Peadar. He's been part of our guard for a pair of years. Sent l Laird Macdonald because of trouble between him and several of th guards. He has yet to fit in. Always angry."

Cynden pushed thoughts of the man away and continued to instructure remaining men. The next order of the day was swordplay until the meal.

The men separated into two groups, some to archery practice w went with the warriors. Before he could find a partner, Peadar interc his way.

The angry man's gaze swept over him. "It is obvious the Ross gu Skye are not able warriors, lest ye would nae require our help." He li sword as a challenge.

The man was a good swordsman, but soon it became apparent he a his emotions free rein and became angry when Cynden had little blocking and evading.

Before long the training became more of a fight and the others spracticing to watch.

"It is enough," Cynden called out, holding his sword up with botl to block the other man's swing. Had he not, it would have definitely damage.

"Scared?" Peadar bit out, thrusting his blade forward.

This time Cynden sidestepped, took advantage of the man's mor

and held his blade against Peadar's throat. "I said enough."

With a grunt, Peadar pushed away and stalked off.

"I will speak with him," Ewan said glowering at the man.

"Nay, I will." Cynden followed Peadar, who headed toward the quarters until he caught up to him.

t. As he Cynden over from head to toe. "Ye do nae belong here."

Kinnon Cynden set his jaw. "If ye do nae wish to go to Skye and fight, i all, not required. The men who go volunteer."

"And be branded a coward?"

several "I do nae think that will happen."

Peadar's upper lip curled into a sneer. "What do ye know ab warrior guards here? Ye know nothing. Ye come here and are put in charg those of us who have been here longer. It is only because ye are a Ross here by The reason for the man's dislike became clear. Cynden shrugged e other nae in charge. I am only here to train the men on our terrain and inf our enemy. My home is on Skye."

"That is what ye think?" Peadar expelled an annoyed breath. midday supposed to be given a group of men to lead, but it was taken from n yer arrival. Now they answer to ye."

eded in decided it was best to not continue the conversation.

"Be with care!" Peadar called out as Cynden walked away. The n ards on was clear. fted his

allowed IT was after the midday meal and second training that Cynden trouble allowed himself time to rest. Upon learning of a loch behind the k went to find it and go for a swim.

The loch was a ten-minute walk, the shoreline far enough so he co see the keep. Privacy was also given by trees around the far side of the hands Cynden pondered about how things were going with his training. The caused guards on Uist were well-trained men, who took his instructions so and practiced based on what they expected to happen on Skye.

His brothers continued to battle, which worried him. Instead of rer nentum away so long, he considered returning in a fortnight. Although Dara

sent plenty of men to defend Ross lands, one more sword hand was needed.

After hanging his clothes on a branch, he waded into the cool wa guardbegan to swim. The entire time keeping an eye toward the shoreline. I habit from always having to be on guard when on Skye.

looked The water was cold, but refreshing, a balm to his sore muscles. A to his heated skin. Immediately his thoughts went to the lass he'd kis it is notnight before.

Despite her act when she demanded he leave her bedchamber, she more than willing to accept his kisses. The way she'd kissed him ba plush body arching under his, wanting to be closer, had been enjoyable out the Cynden waded out of the loch and lay on the warmed grass to all se, oversun to dry his skin. Eyes closed, he imagined how things coul progressed the night before. Plump lips parted to his tongue's explant ambreasts pressed against his chest, fingers threading through his hair.

orm on Taking himself in hand, stroking the length of his sex as he imaged was her wetness surrounding it. His hips lifted as each stroke became "I wasand faster. What had been loch water was soon replaced by perspiration to upon pumped his hard shaft while picturing a very naked and willing Ainslightm.

Cynden Heat pooled between his legs as release neared and he continued to until he came, the hot seed trickling over his clenched fist.

nessage For a long moment, he lay spent on the grass, his chest heaving, a grin on his face. If the lass knew what he'd just done, no doubt she him across the face. For whatever reason, he wanted to tell her—justinallyher reaction.

eep, he Knowing he could not linger as someone might come upon himcould even be dangerous if it was that idiot Peadar—he stood and we nuld not into the water to wash off all evidence of the personal moment. The loch, waded to the shore and dressed, the clothing clinging to his wet skin. The Ross "Did ye speak to Peadar?" Ewan asked him when Cynden walked Priously great room.

"Aye, I did," Cynden decided to keep the conversation to hims naining didn't know what occurred between the guards and their leade ach had preferred to stay out of it. "He and I will never be friends."

Ewan studied him for a moment, gave a soft nod but didn't say any

always

Last meal was to be served and people began entering the great room iter and were not as many people that day as usual as Darach had not been it was ale and Isobel had gone to visit her sister, Beatrice, and his brother, I who were married and lived less than half a day's ride away.

caress Cynden had gone to stand near the entrance, waiting for guards the sed the before choosing where to sit, when Ainslie appeared.

Dressed simply in a pale brown skirt and blouse with a darker or 'd been'she still got men's attention as she walked into the great hall. Holck; her flickered to him, but then she pretended not to notice him. Just as she past, he touched her forearm.

low the She lifted her chin to look up at him with a frown. "What is it?" d have "I see ye remain cross with me," he teased. "Can I make it up to ye oration, walk in the garden?"

Ainslie looked to him as if he'd gone mad. "A walk?" Her lips gined it instantly taking him back to being at the loch. "I would prefer not to." tighter "Are ye afraid ye will accost me again?" It was quite enjoyable ton as he he lass. She was a fiery one and it was very enticing.

e riding A hiss emanated and she glared up at him. "Very well, I will wa ye. Do not expect anything more than unpleasant company." With the strokehurried away to join the laird's mother at a round table where wor together most evenings.

stupid He followed her progress, watching the sway of her hips as she 'd slapaway. It would certainly be an interesting walk.

when he sat down at the guards' table, Peadar was already eating man glared at him and then looked toward Ainslie, his gaze lingering—which he returned to eating paying Cynden no mind. As subtle as the action at backhis gut, Cynden suspected the man would continue to be a problem.

hen he As soon as Cynden noted that Ainslie finished eating, he went table. She practically jumped from her seat, hurrying to the entrance. into the fetch my shawl."

It was only a scant moment later that she returned wearing thelf. Hearound her shoulders. She met his gaze, and it was as if time stood sers and was making a mistake by seeking her out. The beautiful lass affected land.

thing.

The sun was below the horizon as they made their way to the Theregarden. From what he'd gathered, both Lady Mariel and Lady Isobel of present. Spending hours tending to the plants. Flowers of every color and heigh Duncan, the space. Both from bushes in the ground and spilling over the swooden containers.

was the first time in his life that he'd felt such a strong connection vercoat, woman. Emotions toward her felt odd, it was not comfortable at all.

"Why did ye agree to walk with me?" Cynden asked watching her.

Walked She gave him a pointed look, lips pursed. "I know ye would ask ag again. It is better to get it over with."

Her frankness made him want to chuckle, instead he nodded. "I sewith a are right, I would have asked again. However, I believe that if ye wou refused the second time, then I would not have persisted."

parted "I am curious to know why ye sought me out?" Their gazes locke she turned away.

tease From her rapid breaths and flushed cheeks, he realized she affected by him as he was in her presence. Fortunately, he was bulk withmasking what he felt or thought.

nat, she Something told him Ainslie was not the kind of lass a man counen sathave once. She would leave a lasting impression and he'd be torn came time for his departure.

hurried "Ye are beautiful, desirable. I enjoy being near ye."

Her eyes rounded. "Ye are bold. Should nae say such things."

ng. The "Come." Cynden took her elbow. "Just a few steps more and ye was, inmind."

They didn't go as far as the water's edge, but to where Ainslic to her enjoy the view of the sunset reflecting on the dark blue water.

"I must "What a wonderful sight," Ainslie exclaimed pointing to the location stopped, taking it all in whilst the gentle breeze blew loose tendril te item from her face. Cynden wished it was him doing it, but she'd never allocatill. Hea touch from him.

him too "We agree on something."

She turned to look at him and let out a breath. "Very well. I must a enjoying this walk."

e large "It pains ye to admit it," Cynden said placing a finger to the tip enjoyednose.

nt filled Her lips twitched and she looked across to the loch, a wistful look ides offace making him wonder what she thought of, or more to the poil occupied her mind.

d on. It "Will ye remain here in Uist or return to Barra?" he asked by on to amaking conversation.

Her attention still away, she shrugged. "I do nae wish to return a soon."

ain and "I am considering returning to Skye sooner than planned," he said needed there more than here."

see. Ye "To fight? Why would ye be in a hurry to head into danger?" H ld havegaze darkened. "It is folly."

For a moment, he almost agreed. "I must. It is my duty. But not or ed untilmy brothers continue battling. I can nae remain here while they fight."

"It is understandable." Ainslie walked down the narrow path t was astoward the loch. "I overheard there have been few injuries."

etter at "A battle is dangerous with many opportunities for a fatal blow." I her elbow when she stumbled on a fallen branch.

ld only Upon righting herself, she pulled her arm free.

when it Cynden was not deterred and once again took her arm. "Ye coul They continued a few more steps.

Reluctantly, he removed his hand from her elbow "When we first mentioned a man, Thomas. Am I to believe we resemble?"

will see She swallowed visibly. "He is dead."

did nae Cynden had suspected as much by her reaction when first seeing look like him?"

e could For a long moment, she studied his face, her blue-gray gaze taki in. "I thought so at first, but now, I do not think it as much. He resem ch. Sheand yer cousins. Lady Mariel said..." She turned away. "Never mind." s away "What did she say?" Once again he took her arm. This time he gui w suchto a small clearing.

She blushed and looked toward the keep. "This has nothing to do vor of course—or yer cousins—since ye are all relatives. However, Thoredomit toan uncanny resemblance to the lot of ye. Lady Mariel told me that laird fathered many bairns throughout the isle. That he was a cru

of herwithout scruples."

The statement made his blood boil "I hope he is rotting in hell."

on her "H-he was yer uncle." Her astonishment was to be expected.

nt, who "Everyone in the clan is well aware of his cruel ways. He ruled l No one was sad upon his death." Cynden realized his tone was harsh way ofsoftened his voice. "It could be this Thomas of yers was my halfthen?"

anytime "Brother?" Her head cocked to the side.

Realizing his blunder, he shook his head. "I meant cousin."

l. "I am "Oh. Aye, it could be."

Hoping to distract her, he lifted her chin. "Tell me lass. Did ye reler blueenjoy our kiss last night?"

A bright pink crept to her cheeks. For a long moment, they locked ally that, her breaths escaping past parted lips as she looked from his eyes mouth. At realizing what she did, her eyes widened, and she stood. "

hat lednot to speak of it. Let us forget about what occurred... the kiss I mean.

"It was more than just a kiss. I do nae think I will be able to forget

He tookye?" He leaned forward and then did what he'd been thinking about si night before. What had prompted him to pleasure himself. Thou having her in his arms.

d fall." Wrapping his arms around her, he kissed her gently, waiting rejection that was sure to come.

met, ye Instead, Ainslie let out a soft sigh and responded. Her mouth of when he prodded it with his tongue. It took all his strength to kee becoming too aggressive as she felt so very perfect. It was as if kiss him. "Ithe first time, his body responding in an unfamiliar way.

His eyelids fluttered closed as he tasted her, not wanting the kiss ng himend.

bled ye When Ainslie's arms came around his neck, he pulled her closer n on her lips and trailing kisses to the side of her throat.

ded her It was as if someone held a torch much too close, the way hi burned for her, demanding more, needing to be fully nestled inside with ye, Heated blood coursed through his veins, pooling between his legs, h nas hashardening.

the late Her soft moan brought him out of his revelry, and he let out a el managainst her mouth. "Ye are perfect."

"We should not." She pushed away albeit with little force and re in the circle of his arms. "Why do ye insist on kissing me?"

When she lifted her gaze to his, Cynden could delve into the by fear.stormy pools and not care to ever surface. "I find ye irresistible."

1, so he For a moment it was as if time stopped as they looked into each brothereyes without speaking. A bond of sorts was forming that he should pu to. He had to return to Skye and nothing—not even the perfect woma embrace—could keep him from it.

Ainslie pushed from him, letting out a long breath. He could not J gaze from her kiss-swollen lips.

ally not "I do not know what I was thinking in agreeing to walk with ye mistake."

I gazes, "Ye feel the same way I do," Cynden replied. "Find it hard to kee to hisme. Sense me when I walk into a room. Yer heartbeat quickens wl I prefergazes meet."

" She scanned the surroundings. "I do nae know what I feel." Her to it. Willnot convincing in the least. It was almost as if she tried to figure out ince thehe said was true.

ghts of "Ainslie," Cynden began. "I am truly glad to have met ye."

When she walked away toward the keep. He did not follow. It w for thenot to. His body was on fire and the only sure way to quelch it woul take the woman fully.

pening

p from

sing for

to ever

ibbling

is body

of her.

is staff

breath

"We should not." She pushed away albeit with little force and remained in the circle of his arms. "Why do ye insist on kissing me?"

When she lifted her gaze to his, Cynden could delve into the beautiful stormy pools and not care to ever surface. "I find ye irresistible."

For a moment it was as if time stopped as they looked into each other's eyes without speaking. A bond of sorts was forming that he should put a stop to. He had to return to Skye and nothing—not even the perfect woman in his embrace—could keep him from it.

Ainslie pushed from him, letting out a long breath. He could not peel his gaze from her kiss-swollen lips.

"I do not know what I was thinking in agreeing to walk with ye. It is a mistake."

"Ye feel the same way I do," Cynden replied. "Find it hard to keep from me. Sense me when I walk into a room. Yer heartbeat quickens when our gazes meet."

She scanned the surroundings. "I do nae know what I feel." Her tone was not convincing in the least. It was almost as if she tried to figure out if what he said was true.

"Ainslie," Cynden began. "I am truly glad to have met ye."

When she walked away toward the keep. He did not follow. It was best not to. His body was on fire and the only sure way to quelch it would be to take the woman fully.

## CHAPTER SEVEN

As soon as Ainslie stepped into the keep, she let out a long brealeaned back onto the cold stone wall. Why had she allowed Cynden her? Of all the stupid things she'd ever done, kissing him both times top the list.

Something had to be done. The unfamiliar sensations that filled h alarming. The fact that she'd lost control, been unable to think, mu stop it from occurring was something that had never happened to her Even then, although no longer near him, her body hummed with aw like never before. She'd loved Thomas, and they had kissed, but not on her body come to life like it did whenever Cynden's mouth covered he

Pressing against his body only made the urges stronger, a deep a desire that could drive one to madness had arisen. What he said was to did seem to sense his presence and her heartbeat thundered when near. Even then while considering what had just occurred, it thudded her breast.

She pushed her hair back away from her face. Could she spaces someone? Perhaps Isobel would understand and tell her what to do to any future interactions with Cynden. Though just the thought of never him again made her want to weep.

"Ye give yerself freely to a man ye barely know." The male's permeated through the dimness of the corridor, and Ainslie whirled are find a warrior blocking the corridor.

She didn't know him and had only caught glances of him during Even then, they'd never crossed paths or spoken to one another. T times she'd seen him, he'd had an unpleasant disposition. He was man, broader and taller than Cynden.

"Ye should give me a turn." He took a step closer.

Fully aware that unless Cynden walked through the doorway, s trapped. Ainslie took a step backward. "I am a guest of the laird. G from me sir."

Instead, he moved closer and shrugged. The curve of his lips was menacing than when he didn't smile. "I will take my turn. He is a r Came here to take a place that is nae his."

"I do not know what ye speak of. If ye do not allow me to pass scream." Ainslie hated that her voice shook with fright. Only a mome ath and she felt light and wistful, now fear constricted her chest. She tried to kiss

The man tase leaves the state of the state of

The man was large with wide shoulders and the thick build of a value had to His straight dark hair that hung in an unruly mess almost to his shoulded unwashed and oily.

"Come now lass. Give me my fair share." He closed the distance u ich less could feel the heat emanating from his body, his breath fanning over he before.

"Leave me be," Ainslie screamed. "Help!" she yelled even louder. Her scream had the desired effect, he took a step backward and glat her. "Next time ye will nae be able to yell for help." He turned on land stalked away.

It was not the first time she'd had to fend off a man. However, sor tue, she about this man frightened her. He'd acted as if she'd slighted him for he was reason. Not once since she'd arrived had he paid her any mind befor against now?

Swallowing past her dry throat, Ainslie hurried to find the laird beak to With warrior brothers, she knew the best way to put a stop to avoid misconduct was to approach it through the woman that had the ear kissing laird. In this case, Isobel.

"What happens?" Isobel asked upon her approaching. It occus voice Ainslie that she must have looked upset because the woman hurriec and pulled her to sit.

"I was just accosted by a guard. He scared me." Ainslie felt so meals. childish complaining about it. "Normally I would have dealt with it he few But something about this man terrified me."

a large Isobal's expression bardened "If a man is interested in a won

Isobel's expression hardened. "If a man is interested in a won should never frighten her. Who is it?" She'd began searching the roo before Ainslie told her.

he was "I do nae know his name. Tall, with dark hair." She turned to loo o away the room, but he was nowhere to be found. "He is nae here."

Isobel stood and motioned to her. "Come, Ainslie. Let us find the

is moreand inform him his advances are nae welcome."

unlike her serious sister, Beatrice was a petite vibrant blonde with a strice, I willpersonality. "We should ask first if she is interested in him. It will he ent ago, we approach."

to look "I am nae interested in that man," Ainslie clarified. "He is an oaf."

"Good," Isobel said, leading them to the back of the great room, parrior.kitchen, and outside near the practice fields where men stood around oulderskeep the chill at bay.

From a short distance, they waited for her to find him. "He is that ntil sheShe pointed to the man, who stood silently watching the others. We er face noticed her, his eyes narrowed. Then to her astonishment, he lift crossbow and pointed it at Cynden, who stood nearby, speaking with oweredmen.

his heel The message was clear. If she caused trouble for him, he would it worse kill Cynden.

nething "Or perhaps I am mistaken," she quickly added, stopping Isobel or sometracks. "I am confused."

e. Why Beatrice gave her a quizzical look, her intelligent gaze moving fr to where the warrior stood still glaring toward them. "If he or any's wife.purposely frightens ye, do nae allow them to sway ye from it."

to their "Come," Isobel said taking her arm. "Let us speak with the leade of theguardsmen.

Before she could come up with an excuse she was practically drarred to the group of men where Cynden was. If only she'd kept qui to herembarrassing situation would not become common knowledge.

"Ian, a word," Isobel said to a tall handsome blond man.

mewhat "Of course, my lady." The man's deep voice matched his imp myself.height and build. "What happens?"

Unfortunately, the other two men did not leave, one being Ew nan, heother Cynden. Ainslie avoided looking at any of them directly.

m even "One of the guardsmen accosted my guest in the corridor and frigher. I would hope that ye would speak to them and make them aware k aboutwoman inside these walls is to be approached in that manner."

"Who was it?" Cynden asked, his gaze boring into her. "Tell me." ais man Ainslie wanted the ground to open up and swallow her alive. "It w

I could nae see clearly enough to be certain."

e Ross. To her astonishment, Cynden turned to look in the direction of whe sunnyman who'd scared her had been standing. He was gone now. "Are ye selp how the Ainslie nodded, unable to keep from blinking away tears. It was the time to cry and yet tears managed to slip down her cheeks. "I wish the my chamber," she said to no one in particular.

past the "I will escort her inside," Cynden said taking her arm, not allow fires toargument. "Ye should not be walking about alone after dar admonished. "There are many men about."

It one." She whirled to face him. "That I move about these walls as I pleas hen hean invitation for a man to accost me. I refuse to do things differently leted hismen cannot control their impulses." With that, she snatched her arreseveraland turned to the amused Beatrice, who'd caught up.

"Well said," the tiny blonde said. "Men can be dimwitted." She ş njure orat Cynden. "Not ye, of course."

Cynden shook his head. "Ye are right. Men should never take unw in herliberties." Their gazes clashed and once again the yearning filled her.

Ainslie smiled at Beatrice. "Thank ye. I best go rest."

om her To her chagrin, Cynden continued to walk beside her silently. He guarduntil they arrived at the second floor before speaking. "Ensure to be door."

r of the "Be with care," Ainslie said, wanting to warn him, but unsure of would react to knowing who the man was that had tried to take libertie gged to His forest green and gold gaze met hers for a lingering momelet, the should tell me who it is. How else can we defend ye?"

"I am sure he will nae do it again," Ainslie replied pushing the doo bedchamber open. She peered inside, just to be sure no one was about.

brushing against her as he passed.

ran, the While he walked around the room, first peering behind the screen, the side of the wardrobe until finally kneeling and looking under the lightenedstraightened and gave her a soft smile. "Ye are safe in here. If anything that noye, pound on the wall. I will come immediately."

The offer settled her frazzled nerves. "I will. Thank ye."

He moved to go past her and hesitated. "If ye feel I overstepped, as dim.know."

Ainslie shook her head and looked up into his gaze. "Ye did nae here theboth of us that wished for it."

ure?" It was then she made the third biggest mistake of her life, she push e worstinto the bedchamber and closed the door behind them.

To go to

This was certainly unexpected, Cynden slid a cursory look aboring for bedchamber before closing the distance between them and sweeping k," he into his arms.

Just as he was about to press his lips to hers, she placed a hand  $\varepsilon$  e is  $\mathsf{not}_{\mbox{mouth}}.$ 

Decause "Nae." Her tone was firm, so he immediately moved back.

"What is it?" he asked, hoping she'd invite him to spend the night want it to be discreet and for him to ensure that no one would find ouglanced agree to jump from the window as long as she let him stay.

"Ye are in danger." Ainslie pointed a finger at the center of his che elcome must be with great care."

Not exactly a romantic start.

"From whom?" He took a step closer. "Ye?"

waited This time she pushed him away with both hands. "I am serious. The polt yer The one who accosted me. He hates ye."

That another dared to touch her immediately stopped any thought  $\mathfrak t$  how he than finding out who the bastard was. "Who is he?"

She shook her head. "I do nae know his name. He was out therent. "Ye field. Watching ye."

There were many out in the field just now, but he had a good idea or to herit was. "Why do ye think I am in danger?"

"When I walked out with Lady Isobel, he saw me and then poir houlder crossbow at ye." Her expression hardened. "He said ye came and too was his. I believe he must have seen us earlier."

then to "I will speak with him. Do nae worry. He is an idiot, but nae more. Seeming relieved, she went to the door. "Ye should go before so g scares sees ye here."

"Ye wish to be rid of me so soon?" He met her gaze enjoying that parted as she considered his words.

let me But when she squared her shoulders, it was obvious his time the

. It wasended. "Please go. I do not trust what would happen if ye remain."

At the door, he paused and pressed a soft kiss to her forehead. "ned himworry."

HOPING NOT TO get caught, Peadar remained in the shadows at the encout the corridor. Guardsmen like him were not allowed on the second floor what Ainsliefamily and their guests slept. Unless guarding or escorting, he'd nev given the luxury.

She spoke in soft tones to someone. Moments later, Cynden appear kissed her forehead and whispered something.

.. She'd Interesting that they parted ways with such a benign kiss after what. He'dspied earlier. If anything he'd thought the man would stay until manual Ainslie was still dressed as earlier, which meant nothing more est. "Yeconversation had occurred.

She'd warned him. That had to be the only explanation.

It wouldn't stop him. There were ways to cause harm without ever suspecting the culprit.

at man. Peadar shrank further into the corner when Cynden paused and around. The warrior's instincts were well honed. Impressive.

of more Once the door closed, Peadar crept past and hurried down the stairs "What are ye doing?" Ewan asked as he took the last step onto the in the floor. "Were ye upstairs?" The archer looked up as if there we something amiss.

of who "I was." It was best to tell the truth, then add a distraction. "I was a bring a heavy trunk up. Had forgotten about it until just now."

ited his Peadar prayed the warrior didn't ask who asked because he didn't it is whatreply. He quickly brought up a different subject. "When will I be girown team of men?"

"The warrior shrugged. "That is up to Ian, not me. Did ye not omeoneanswer from him?"

"Nae. When yer cousin arrived and began with the training, the me her lipstold to follow his lead."

"Then it is temporary. I am sure," Ewan replied and looked ere haddoorway. "Ye best seek yer bed."

Dismissed, he hurried out. The lack of care from Ewan that he Do naeslighted added fuel to the fury that blazed within.



Dismissed, he hurried out. The lack of care from Ewan that he'd been slighted added fuel to the fury that blazed within.

## CHAPTER EIGHT

 $T_{\rm HE\ LAIRD\ MOTIONED}$  for Cynden to walk with him as they went our courtyard. The man was imposing but had a gift for putting those arou at ease. Several times, clan's people stopped Darach to ask questions replied with patience, seeming to know them all by name.

Cynden had instantly admired and liked him since they first med Darach was his half-brother made him both proud and uncomfortable he was with either Ewan or Darach, it felt as if the truth would spill folips of its own free will.

"I am impressed with what ye're teaching the men. It has been me to me that since ye arrived, they learn more than enough to feel comp the battlefield when on Skye."

Cynden's chest filled with pride. "I am glad to hear it. Ye have a much for us. I want to ensure everyone returns home to their families."

"Aye, that is the hope for every battle." Darach slid a look 1 "Mother is amazed at how much we resemble each other. Ye remind myself ten years ago."

"Ye are not that much older than me. I am nine and twenty. How ye?"

"Five and thirty," Darach chuckled. "Yer elder."

They both chuckled.

"One of the guardsmen, Peadar, is nae too glad that I am here. C took his men. That he was to be assigned leadership until I arrived."

The laird shook his head. "Peadar is an excellent warrior but nae leader. He allows his emotions free rein. I want to repay his bravery battlefield, but nae by giving him men to mistreat."

"Has he been told this? The warrior is under the impression promised."

They came to the edge of the practice field and the laird took it a will ensure Ian comes up with something satisfactory. It is hard to ex a man, he would nae be a good leader."

Heading for archery practice first, Cynden made his way to wh archers gathered to hear the plans for the day.

The leader of the archers, Ewan spoke in a firm tone as he assig men their tasks. Peadar would be practicing with the swordsmen, but did not see him over where their leader, Ian, assigned tasks.

Cynden thought about Knox, who was a force to be reckoned with he had a sword in hand. His friend was to arrive soon to inform him happened back home. He hoped to return with him back to Skye soon.

After several rounds of archery practice, that not only proved vet. That Cynden accepted the good-natured ribbing from the others.

When Peadar practiced against another warrior who was obviously his s rom his in skill. With a primal scream, Peadar charged his opponent, who across not only blocking the charge but sending Peadar's sword ntioned ground.

etent in Not ready to give up Peadar through the charge his opponent.

Not ready to give up, Peadar threw himself against the other man, swinging. Unfortunately, it was obvious his opponent was seasoned at the hilt of his sword to hit Peadar on the side of his head. Peadar st backward, dazed from the hit.

to him. "Enough," Ian stood between them holding his sword in P l me of direction.

"With me now." Ian motioned to Peadar.

old are

It was hard not to feel satisfaction watching a sullen Peadar for behind the warrior, who stormed to the side of the practice field.

Seemingly used to Peadar's outbursts, the other men continued pra Some stopped to walk to the well, not paying any heed to what happen He understood why Peadar would never lead a team. Why did to seem to think he would be a good leader?

*i* in the

Cynden finished his tasks, helping to set up new targets for the arch he was exercising the horses by taking them for a canter to the village and ba rumbling of his stomach insisted it was time to eat when he finished by the last horse. He quickly went about the task of ensuring the plain to feed was refilled and there was plenty of water before hurrying to the house.

lere the As he walked toward the door near the kitchens, a maid came frozenet vegetable garden.

ned the "Are ye looking for something?" She was a pretty lass, with bright Cyndeneyes and a sprinkling of freckles across her nose. "Perhaps I can fetch ye?"

h when She held out a plump pear. "They are sweet, ye should have it."

of what Cynden accepted the fruit. "Thank ye."

The lass was not ready to end the conversation. "Are ye to remay hy thefor long?"

dsman, It occurred to him, he'd not informed Darach of his desire to sooner than had originally been planned.

uperior "Nay. I will leave soon."

sliced A frown formed between her brows. "So soon? It saddens me to be to the She gave him a flirty smile. "I am called Bettina."

By the way her gaze blatantly traveled down his body, she expected his fists noticed and perhaps called upon to warm his bed. The kisses with Ainend used set his body yearning for intimacy. And although the lass offered, he umblednot bring himself to accept.

"Bettina," he repeated and smiled down at the lass. "I am Cynden.'

eadar's Just then movement caught his eye, and he noted Ainslie walking the courtyard toward them. Had she spied him yet? Surely she had. Al at the moment her gaze was trained on the front gates.

llowing "Thank ye," Cynden repeated to the lass and turned toward Ainsbegan to walk faster. She came to where he was, rounded him, and cocticing.into the house.

ed. "Ainslie," he followed her inside.

he man "It is time for the midday meal," she replied over her should slowing. "Ye should go in search of yer table."

He wanted to laugh. She was jealous. He caught up to her. "We ers and share this pear with me?"

ck. The She glanced down at the fruit in his hand. "Nay. It looks dirty."

rushing "I will wash it first," he offered. "Will ye eat with me?"

"Ye have a place at the guards' table," she replied. "I do nae."

ne main The great room was not filled yet, only a few were gathered at a tables. The laird had not arrived to sit on the high board.

"We have our choice of where to sit," he insisted. "Ye can tell r

om theyer cross."

Ainslie stopped walking and turned to face him. "Why would I be it greenwith ye?"

th it for "Perhaps not cross, but jealous?" He loved it when her storm narrowed, her full lips pressed into a hard line.

"Ye are an arrogant man. I am nae jealous of anyone."

"The lass, she gave me a pear and a very fetching smile." Cynd in hereenjoying the banter too much to stop. The coloring of her cheeks mawant to throw her over his shoulder and take her to his bedchamber.

depart Ainslie huffed. "If she is so fetching, perhaps ye should go find ask for more pears." She waved in the direction they'd come. "Go on to "I prefer to stay with ye."

near it." "Ye are nae going to sit with me." To make a point, she turned aw walked to the round table where she usually took her meals. He ed to bewidened when he lowered into a chair next to hers. "Ye cannot eat here slie had "I've seen men sit here before."

e could "Husbands or betrothed aye, but ye are neither."

"I can be," he grinned at her. The joviality disappeared when he i what he'd said.

stross Unfortunately, Ainslie was quick and pounced at his blunder. "though, asking me to marry ye, Cynden Ross?" She leaned forward mischievous smirk. "Should I inform Lady Isobel of the developmen lie whothere is to be a wedding."

ntinued "That is not what I meant."

It was her turn to have fun at his expense. "Ye eluded to it. That ye be a betrothed by sitting with me. Ye cannot go back on yer word, sir.' ler, not He gave her a bland look. "I will sit here."

"Ye are welcome to," Lady Mariel neared giving him a knowin buld ye"As ye seem to be quite fond of each other, it would be lovely fo accompany Ainslie for the midday meal."

This time they both were struck speechless. The woman had proverheard some of their banter. It felt as if he'd swallowed a boulder.

Moments later, Lady Isobel, her sister, Beatrice, and another pair ofcame to sit. No one seemed to think it odd that he was there. It seemed only Cynden who was uncomfortable. The conversation flowed easily ne whyhim, several times his opinions were even asked.

"I am glad ye came here," Isobel stated. "My husband tells me t e angryare safer because of yer training. It makes me feel better about our me to Skye."

y eyes Her sister let out a soft huff. "I would like it better if they got rid of pesky MacKinnon's once and for all."

"I agree," Lady Mariel added. "That the son is no better than hillen wasaddle-headed father is sad. I feel bad for their clan's people."

ide him The women began discussing past battles and what had occurred intriguing how well-informed they were, and he was astonished to he her andtake on how future issues should be dealt with.

hen." As soon as he finished his meal, he excused himself and hurried fitable, almost colliding with Darach. The man looked to where he' vay and sitting. "Ye look terrified."

er eyes "I am not sure why I sat there," Cynden admitted.

e." "An interesting lot are they not?"

"I must admit to being astonished at how aware they are about batt some of their ideas were good."

realized Darach nodded, his gaze warming when looking toward his wife. 'consult with Isobel. Her insights are good, perhaps it is because wor 'Are yethings differently than we do. Care more about the casualties of bat with awives and bairns."

it? That "Do ye have a moment?" Cynden asked.

They walked to Darach's study, and the laird poured whiskey fo "Is something on yer mind?"

e would "I should return to Skye. The battles continue and I do nae wis away for so long."

Darach considered his words. "Ye have nae heard from them sage look.should return. Yer laird ordered ye to remain for a season. Ye should return ye to I am sure if ye were needed, he would send for ye."

How could he stay? The longer he was there, the more he wanted robablythem the truth about who he was. There was also the matter of his gattraction to Ainslie.

woman "My brother is overly protective."

d it was — The laird laughed. "Ye sound like Gideon. To this day, he feels c aroundAdmittedly, I do have a contingency go to where he lives regularly to all is well. I do so for my brother Stuart as well. It is hard not to pro

he menyounger ones." n going

The Next day was a repeat of the same. After an hour of swordplay, of those was drenched in sweat. The men there were excellent fighters, and learning a great deal. After the midday meal, he was to teach more on is cruel and fighting on the windy hills of Skye.

Instead of heading to the great room to eat, he hurried to the kitch. It was found Bettina, who gladly wrapped up some bread, meat, and cheese far their With his meal in hand, he walked toward the loch.

The cold water was just what he needed to soothe his body from the strenuous practice. He didn't linger in the water, as he was quite did been After pulling on his trews, he sat on the grass to eat whilst admiring the before him. Birds entertained him when they landed lightly near the saip water, their loud chirps filling the air.

His eyelids became heavy and Cynden decided to rest for a bit. Fir tles and do what the little birds did and take his fill from the loch. When he sto stretched there was a strange shift in the wind. The birds flew aw "I often followed their trek then he cringed and looked down to see the tip of a nen see protruding through his left side. He ducked, but not before the second ttle, the struck.

r them.

h to be

ying ye
obey it.

l to tell
growing

oddled.
ensure

tect the

younger ones."

THE NEXT DAY was a repeat of the same. After an hour of swordplay, Cynden was drenched in sweat. The men there were excellent fighters, and he was learning a great deal. After the midday meal, he was to teach more on terrain and fighting on the windy hills of Skye.

Instead of heading to the great room to eat, he hurried to the kitchen and found Bettina, who gladly wrapped up some bread, meat, and cheese for him. With his meal in hand, he walked toward the loch.

The cold water was just what he needed to soothe his body from the strenuous practice. He didn't linger in the water, as he was quite hungry. After pulling on his trews, he sat on the grass to eat whilst admiring the view before him. Birds entertained him when they landed lightly near the shore to sip water, their loud chirps filling the air.

His eyelids became heavy and Cynden decided to rest for a bit. First, he'd do what the little birds did and take his fill from the loch. When he stood and stretched there was a strange shift in the wind. The birds flew away. He followed their trek then he cringed and looked down to see the tip of an arrow protruding through his left side. He ducked, but not before the second arrow struck.

## CHAPTER NINE

"Have ye seen Cynden?" Isobel asked from the parlor door. Her gaze in the room.

Why did everyone assume she would keep track of the man? Sor had to be done so they were not thought of as a couple. It was much to consider any kind of relationship. Ainslie looked up from her jou have nae seen him since earlier."

Isobel neared the windows and peered out looking toward the inl was not at the midday meal, nor at the practice field for afternoon to Someone asked me if I'd seen him.

Ainslie hated the thought, but she spoke anyway. "Yesterday, I stalking with the kitchen maid. The one with the freckles. They seeme friendly, perhaps..."

"I will ask her, would ye come with me?" Isobel walked to the dogiving her an opportunity to decline.

Together they went to the kitchen, the young maid looking u chopping vegetables upon their entrance.

"Bettina, have ye seen Mister Cynden Ross?"

The girl blushed. "Aye, I have. He came to get food. Said he wa for a swim at the loch."

"When was this?" Ainslie asked, unsure why but suddenly a feeling filled her.

"Before the midday meal," Bettina replied. "He went alone," she a Isobel thanked the maid and together they walked outside. "I will Ian."

A guard came when she motioned, and Isobel asked that he fetch the leaders.

Moments later Ian hurried to them. Isobel informed him of what had said and soon several guards went toward the loch.

"He may have fallen asleep. It is a nice day," Isobel said looking u sky. "He will be embarrassed when the men show up." Her lips curved

Ainslie wanted to join in the joviality, but she could not sha ominous sensation that something was amiss.

Even after Isobel went back inside, Ainslie lingered outside. Sl looking to where the men had gone. It was a bit later that several rushed to get a horse and cart. Time passed excruciatingly slow u e taking wagon with several guards crouched over a prone body came into Ainslie had to clutch a nearby fence to keep from collapsing. She was Cynden was dead.

nething

DO SOON rnal. "I"SEND FOR THE healer!" someone called out and men on horseback g through the gates.

The laird and a group of others emerged from the house, circling t et. "He raining. who lowered a bloody tartan with Cynden nestled in it.

Pushing past her fear, she walked closer to the group that carr aw him injured Cynden inside. They continued past the great room to the back ed quiteshe assumed the healer would care for him.

Only the laird, Ian, and those who carried him went into the room, oor, not lingered for a bit, unsure what to do.

"He is alive, that is what counts," Lady Mariel said in a low whi p from must go pray." She turned and hurried away in the direction of the cl group of women behind her.

A moment later, a furious Darach Ross stormed from the small roc s going voice boomed. "I want the entire guard force in the courtyard now."

The men who'd carried Cynden into the room walked out and fo n eeriethe laird, leaving only her at the doorway. She wanted to go inside—to he breathed—but her feet refused to move past the threshold.

From where she stood, Ainslie caught a glimpse of him upon a dded. inform bed, his breathing seeming shallow, his face devoid of color.

It was as if she fell into a frozen lake, unable to breathe or move one of sensation gone.

"Aside my lady," a woman ordered as she hurried into the room Bettinapot of hot water and two maids in her wake, including Bettina.

She recognized the woman, it was the cook.

With quick efficiency, they cleaned the wounds, careful not to jost p at the It was only then that Ainslie realized they'd kept him on his side l

ake thethere were arrows protruding from his body. One on his lower left second just below the left shoulder.

he kept The room swayed and she fell sideways against the wall. How guardsanyone survive such injuries?

ntil the She turned to look toward the front entrance. The healer had to hur view. It seemed like an eternity later that the healer, a tall attractive man, as sure, arrived. The man barely paid her any heed as he walked into the robegan giving the women orders.

"I will require a pair of men to help hold him in place," the heale alloped out, and a woman raced from the room.

Just then Cynden came to and by the sound of his moans, he w he mengreat deal of pain. The men who were summoned arrived, and the do firmly shut behind.

ied the Her heart shattered at hearing Cynden's screams when she assur, where arrows were pushed through. Then it was silent. He was so pale a probably bled a great deal. Would he have the strength to recover?

Ainslie Her head near the door, she strained to hear, but all she could m was the healer's voice instructing the others what to do. When the sper. "Imaids hurried out to fetch more water, she peered inside.

napel, a Blood pooled on the floor, and Cynden's skin had turned a sallov of gray. Before she could step inside, the healer ordered the guards to close the door once again behind them.

She attempted to reach for the door, but her hand stopped just ollowed distance from it. Ainslie clenched her fist, unable to force herself to o ensure door. Fear gripped her by the throat until she was sure to pass out.

Barely able to breathe, she rushed away, hurrying up the stairs a narrowher bedchamber. Inside the confines of the room, she gulped in air and her eyes. Here she was safe from everything. It was best not to kno everyoccurred downstairs.

Suddenly, a strange calmness filled her, a shift of sorts made it e with a breathe. It was inevitable that Cynden would die. Fate was a lacreature, teasing her with love only to snatch it away once again. She to the window and peered up at the sky, not wanting to look down in the him. servants went to the well for more water, and she be jolted back because present.

What happened didn't matter. She would continue on pretending

side. Ahappened. If only madness would claim her.

A long time passed, and she remained in the comfortable silence *v* couldbedchamber.

At knocks on the door, she called out for whomever it was to entry. prayed they'd not come with any news. She already knew the outcome finally Isobel walked in. "Ye've not eaten, would ye like something?"

om and That the woman took time to check on her was kind. "I am not hu will eat at last meal."

r called Isobel looked past her into the room. "No news yet."

"All will be well," Ainslie replied in a light tone that earned her a ras in alook. "I am sure yer healer is excellent."

oor was "He is," Isobel said, her words holding a tone of question. "How feel?"

ned the "A bit tired. I am going to lie down for a little while." She sn and hadIsobel.

The laird's wife nodded, though she seemed unconvinced. "Very wake out When the door closed, Ainslie did just that, went to the bed and calculated it. Sleep would be a welcome reprieve from reality. However traitorous mind refused to allow it. Pictures of Cynden's lifeless form value shadedripping into a dark pool, the unmistakable smell of death.

o leave With a groan of annoyance, she turned to face the wall and pul bedding over her head. In soft tones, she sang a childhood song. Esca a scantto come.

pen the

The Great Hall was full when she walked down to last meal. That nd into Isobel and Lady Mariel saved her a seat at their table. Ainsley a l closed looking at anyone as she walked to sit. Not searching for the healer of w what the Ross brothers who could give away anything by their expressions.

There was music, which made it seem as if all was well. Sinc asier to never lived at a laird's keep she wasn't sure if it was tradition to play norrible when someone lay dying in one of the bedchambers.

walked Lowering to the chair, she smiled at Isobel. "I feel much more case the However, I am famished."

to the Isobel and Lady Mariel exchanged curious looks.

"There is plenty of food. Cook has outdone herself today," Lady nothing

stated, looking from her to the other women at the table. "I am esp of thepartial to parsnips."

The conversation about how best to cook parsnips started and .er. Sheinterjected with her own cook's recipe back at her home in Barra.

- "Have ye heard how the young man fares?" an older woman ask worried expression and saddened face turning to Lady Mariel.
- ingry. I The laird's mother smiled warmly at the woman. "The he astonished at Cynden's quick recovery. He is sitting up and has e seems the arrows did not pierce through any dangerous places. Stil curiousfrom the injuries, he must remain abed. He remains suffering a great pain."
- v do ye She directed her next statement at Ainslie. "I am sure he would w company."
- niled at The woman who'd asked smiled warmly. "It is good to hear recover."
- rell." Instantly, the boulder of worry lifted from Ainslie's shoulders, and climbedout a breath. "He will recover. Are ye sure?"
- rer, her "Nothing is sure, lass," Lady Mariel stated. "However, the healer to bloodCynden is strong and should be well once his wounds heal."

Isobel shook her head. "Now to find who the culprit is."

lled the It had to be the man who'd accosted her. Of that, Ainslie had no ape hadHowever, the only person she'd told about the man pointing his cr was Cynden. She bit her bottom lip, unsure if she should say somet could be, that like Cynden said, the man was only trying to intimidate

nkfully, "I saw something," Ainslie blurted out before she lost her nervolvoided man who accosted me was out in the field when we walked out yested any of lied and said I was nae sure after I pointed him out because he scared pointing his crossbow at Cynden."

e she'd "Which one was it?" Isobel and Lady Mariel asked at once.

music Isobel leaned forward and whispered. "Do ye see him in here?"

Ever so slowly, Ainsley looked around the room hesitating at the rested where the guards sat. Finally, she spotted him. He sat with his bacorner, his gaze on the high board. In Ainslie's opinion, he was watco see if there was any news about Cynden.

Mariel It had to be him who shot him and was hoping to hear he died. T had to be stopped or he could try again.

pecially "He is sitting at the guard table closest to the entrance. The one very the leather strap across his chest."

Ainsley Lady Mariel held up a hand. "Do not look Isobel. I will stand ar toward the high board to get a good look. Resume eating and talkit ted, hernothing is amiss."

The food in front of her had lost all appeal, but Ainslie conting aler isnibble on the parsnips and meat. She listened as Isobel spoke. She for aten. ItLady Mariel's progress, not daring to look toward where the man shell weakaccused sat.

deal of Moments later, Lady Mariel returned and brought with her a plate tarts. "Darach handed these to me to distract from the real reason I relcomethere. The others sitting there are none-too-pleased to have lost their true Isobel giggled, looking toward the high board. "Darach must is he willsame, he adores sweets."

When the meal was ending, Ian ordered the entire contingency of she letto wait in the courtyard. Ainslie's heart thundered at seeing the man v leather strap walk out with the others.

pelieves "Who is he?" she asked.

"Peadar Brown," Isobel responded. "From what I hear he has temper. It is good that we did nae let on about what ye saw."

doubt. Ainslie wasn't too sure if she was safe or not. Hopefully, they'c ossbowway to determine it was him who shot Cynden without her being l hing. Itforward to speak.

her. "I wish to see what is happening. Let us go upstairs to my ba e. "The Isobel said standing. "I hope they do discover who did it, whether Pe erday. Inot. It will be hard for everyone to be at ease knowing there is a thre I me bywithin."



The bastard was alive. Peadar wanted to find him and finish whe tablesstarted. If not for the fear of being caught, he would have gone clock to ashot a final arrow into his heart. He was sure Cynden had not seen labeled to one had. There would be questions, and some would suspect him, but impossible to prove anything. He'd taken arrows from the trainin he manpurposefully using different ones. There was absolutely no way to

wearingwho'd shot Cynden.

The meal was abruptly called to an end, and the entire guard for id walkordered into the courtyard. Peadar lingered finishing as much as he ig as ifThere was no way to know how long before he'd be able to enjoy meal.

nued to Upon exiting, it struck him how large the keep's force was. Show blowedshoulder, warriors and archers were lined up waiting to hear what the e'd justwould say.

His stomach dipped, but he pushed back any feelings of dread re of pearthem with hatred. How he hated those who considered themselves hig walkedmore important than him.

eat." With his back to the entrance, the laird stood with a wide stance, he leel therelaxed at his side. When he lifted his right hand, everyone quiete silence seemed to travel to the other people in the courtyard, who is guardsbecame interested in what would happen next.

with the "As some of ye may know, someone tried to kill my cousin, Cynd afternoon. Fortunately, he will recover."

So the man would live. Peadar looked to the doorway, he had a vilesomething. Although he doubted Cynden had seen him, there was alw possibility.

I find a Beside the laird, Ian's head moved as his gaze traveled across the broughtgathered.

The laird nostrils flared, and his eyes narrowed in Peadar's dilcony,""The leaders will be speaking to each of ye. Remain here until ye are readar orby either Ewan, Ian or myself. Everyone but those atop the wall are at fromleave this courtyard."

The men began to grumble, Darach held up a hand again. "T someone in our midst that attempted to kill another member of our claifind out who and he will be dealt with."

at he'd This time the blood in his veins went cold and Peadar considered h ser andhe could get to his horse. He waited until the archers moved forward nim, noup and he moved back behind the warriors. If he tried to escape, it w t it wasadmitted guilt. He had to remain calm.

g area, "Peadar, line up with the archers!" Ian called out, motioning for provecome forward.

After a nonchalant shrug, Peadar went where told. The first one

questioned would be the archers. He was not an archer, but he did ce wascrossbow. Usually, he fought with a sword, the crossbow was most could.hobby. However, that he was told to line up with the archers was worri another. Finally, he was called into the great room that was now devoid of v

At the high board Darach, Ian, Ewan, and a pair of village councilmen alder towalked in and stood before them. Although his heart pounded, air lairdensured not to show any emotion.

"Where were ye before midday meal?"

placing "I went to my quarters. I sat with Fergus and Bruce for a wee wher andcan ask them."

The laird studied him. "Did ye go anywhere before or after?"

is arms "Nae, I took a wee nap. I was up late last night."

ed. The "Did ye shoot my cousin?" Darach asked, his hazel gaze pinnir astantlyLike most, Peadar was intimidated by the man. It was as if the huge no soul when he stared into someone's eyes.

en, this Peadar cleared his throat. "Of course not. I have no qualms with his Silence stretched, making him uncomfortable.

1 to do "Besides he is to leave. There is no reason for me to wish him deac rays the The laird lifted his chin. "I may ask him to remain and hel leadership of the warriors."

uttered. "I have served ye faithfully for much longer and have ye rection.rewarded."

eleased "He is a natural leader. Ye are a good warrior; however, ye shoule not tothat not everyone is meant for leadership."

Peadar fought against the fury that erupted. "May I go?"

'here is "Yer temper is yer worst adversary," Ian told him. "Remain 1. I willcourtyard."

Peadar stormed from the house. The leadership was to be goow fastCynden. It was what he'd been working so hard to achieve. There had to linesomething he could do to prove himself.

ould be By the time Peadar was out in the courtyard, fury coursed throu like a river of fire. There was no place to be alone, the entire gua him to assembled waiting to be addressed by the laird. Strangely, they we spoken to privately like he and the archers were. Instead, they were less to bein groups of three or four.

d use a Peadar lingered along the side wall, the entire time his gaze going re of athe entrance. It would be impossible to gain access to the room isome. Cynden was without being caught.

visitors. "Where is he?" Peadar asked an archer who seemed on the b sat. Hefalling asleep.

Peadar The man's head jerked up. "The chamber beside the stairs."

Finally, something went his way.

When Ian walked out, everyone looked up. "Those of ye who we hile, yefrom the keep all day and just returned stand."

Several men stood.

"Go take the place of a wall guard and have them come insid instructed.

ng him. The men who remained looked to one another waiting for the nan hadinstructions.

The laird's brother Ewan emerged and stood with Ian, he scan m." men. "Those who I motion to may leave." One by one, he chose me walked away, without expressions. Peadar recognized that most of th served the laird for years and he trusted implicitly. By the time Ew lp withdone, only about twenty men remained.

It felt as if a belt was tightening around his chest and Peadar didn' Peadarone bit especially when Darach walked out and looked to see who was to be "Laird, it is not fair that yer guard be accused," one of the warriors "We are loyal to ye and have fought in battle risking our lives," d knowsaid.

A third man, a warrior asked. "Why would any one of us try to cousin?"

in the The laird let out a breath. "I am indebted to each of ye for what y ye are not an archer ye can go." He waited as more men left, most c iven tostill seeming unhappy to have been retained.

d to be Relieved Peadar walked toward his quarters only to stop when Iar his name. "Remain here for now. Ye do use a bow."

gh him Only six men remained including Peadar. As those left were used was Peadar was glad not to keep up the appearance of being unaffected ere notbastard lying in the room was supposed to have died. Not only was a proughtdying an inconvenience, but the fact Peadar had to go through the hum of being one of the last released.

toward Ian walked to each of the archers and asked them their whereabo wherehe spoke to them one by one were sent away, leaving only Peadar  $\epsilon$  other man.

rink of The last archer who remained was a young man called John, recently arrived. Not much was known about him except that he'd sh asking to join the guard. When Ian walked up to him, John turned bri and seemed on the brink of tears.

re gone "I would nae do something like that," he sputtered. "Never even s him. Not a word."

The laird seemed to feel badly for the lad as he neared and placed le," Ianon his shoulder. "We kept ye here only for one reason."

John's eyes widened. "What is it Laird?"

ne next "Will ye tell me what ye saw yesterday when my wife walked ou practice field with my mother and the lass Ainsley?"

ned the The archer turned to look at Peadar. "I am nae sure what ye mean? Ewan motioned to Peadar. "Did ye see him looking at the women? em had "Aye," John slid a look to Peadar. "He lifted his crossbow in the day an wasof where Ian, ye, and the laird's cousin stood."

"I did nae such thing," Peadar said, sweat pooling at the back of he t like it "He is lying."

left. The laird looked to him. "John is nae the only person who saw ye c stated. The damn bitch had told someone. Peadar was sure of it. Now he anothercome up with a reason for what he did, a way to get out of the predicar

"I was within sight of someone the entire day. Not once did I le kill yercourtyard or the guard quarters, I swear it."

They allowed the young archer to leave. He hurried past not glar e do. If Peadar.

of them "We will find the truth," the laird neared towering over him. "remanded to yer quarters until I send for ye."

o. Slip away as soon as he could without being seen or remain and happy,himself. That he'd pointed his crossbow proved nothing.

ed. The If he stayed close, it would be easier to exact revenge.

nim not

iliation

outs. As and one

who'd own up ight red

poke to

a hand

t to the

..

,,

irection

is neck.

lo it."
had to
nent.
ave the

ıcing at

'Ye are

what to defend

## CHAPTER TEN

 $T_{\text{HE GUARD}}$  at the door moved aside to allow Ainslie to pass. Her hand when she turned the handle and pushed the door open to enter the d bedchamber.

With only a candle in one corner of the room, there was barely light to see. But she could see enough to make out the bed and the for it.

She crossed the space, retrieved the candle, and placed it on the lable so she could see Cynden better.

He was asleep. His chest lifting and lowering as he took in shaky l One of the arrows must have inhibited his ability to breathe normally way he seemed to struggle for each breath.

Although he still looked the strong warrior, with disheveled hai pale complexion, he seemed vulnerable. The laird was astute to place at the door.

"Cynden," she whispered as she pushed his hair away from his browskin was warm, not fevered, which was a good sign. Although Ainslie formal teaching in healing, she'd learned a great deal from the he Barra. Many a day she'd spent helping to care for Thomas, watching healer used balms and herbs in an attempt to bring comfort to the dying

There were times when she'd taken it upon herself to try different seeking counsel from an old woman known for caring for the sick at a village. Sometimes what she'd done had better results than the l concoctions. Yet it was never enough.

"Ye're here." Cynden had opened his eyes. "Excuse my l standing."

Ainslie grinned. "Ye gave everyone quite a fright."

The corners of his mouth twitched. "Imagine how I felt when I I someone had mistaken me for a target." His words were staggered, as shallow breaths between.

For a moment Ainslie wasn't sure what to say, or what to do. Tru

had to come up with all sorts of topics to keep Thomas entertained, things that came to mind to say to Cynden seemed foolish and immatt looked about the room for inspiration.

"Are ye in pain? I can get something that will make ye sleep deeply He shook his head. "Nay, I prefer not to. Whoever it was, could ret "There is a guard outside," Ainslie pointed out. "I can call him in."

d shook Glancing past her to the door, he nodded. "Aye."

imly lit "Guard!" Ainslie called out and the door opened almost immediate The warrior who stepped inside was young, but with a serious natu enough solemn gaze on Cynden, he spoke in an even tone. "How are ye faring m upon "Grateful that ye are outside the door," Cynden replied, not answel duestion.

"I do nae mind. Until we discover who did it, ye can recover in pea The men regarded each other for a moment. The younger man breaths. moving to where blood soaked through the bandages. "The laird by the changing guard several times a day so that we can stay alert."

"Thank ye," Cynden replied as the younger man walked out.

r and a "Did ye speak to Darach?" he asked Ainslie. a guard

"I did. Told him about what the man did when I walked out with and Lady Mariel. He called for all the guard to be gathered, and I belie by. His were all questioned."

had no "Whoever it was, Darach will find out. He is shrewd and his gua ealer in are loyal," Cynden remarked, his gaze moving to the window. "'Tis l § as the should go get rest."

g man. "Lady Mariel said he is called Peadar. That is who I believe did things, Ainslie hesitated then said with certainty, "I am sure he did this." nearby took his hand with both of hers. "Are ye certain ye do not require anytl nealer's When his gaze moved to her lips, relief flooded her. Cynden

recover. A man on his death bed didn't have bedsport on his mind.

A smile crept across her lips. "Perhaps some honeyed wine or ale?" His eyes drooped and she realized he was tiring.

"I ate a bit earlier. Drank some whiskey."

ealized She was willing to bet the whiskey had been mixed with a stron he took."Sleep well. I will visit ye in the morn."

"I look forward to it." He pinned her with a pointed look. "Do nat e she'd<sub>to come</sub>."

but the She'd sooner forget her name than to forget to come visit him. Ire. Shequick glance to the door, she leaned forward and pressed her lips Cynden responded, returning her gesture with the same fervor, albe y." weaker.

""." "Sleep well." Within a few moments, his face went slack, and he face a deep sleep.

When she hurried up the stairs and into her bedchamber, all shely. think was that once Cynden recovered, he would leave. He would reare. HisSkye, and she would one day return to Barra. They'd never see one again.

ring the It made little sense for them to pursue any kind of relationship seemed to be developing on its own. The kisses. The touche ice." expectations that were deeper than just friendship or a mere flirtation's gazecould not describe exactly what occurred between them, but it was defined has usan attachment of sorts.

Ainslie paced the bedchamber pondering what to do. They'd need time to develop into a courtship. There was the chance that was not interested in one to begin with. Then there was the quest IsobelPeadar. There was little doubt in her mind that he was the one who'd we theyCynden.

The man remained a menace and something had to be done. rdsmenmoment, Cynden was much too weak to defend himself. Ainslie had ate. Yewith both daggers and a broadsword. Her father had insisted she be defend herself if ever she was in danger. She could protect Cynden as this..."any guard.

Ainslie There was much to discuss with him the following day. He had to hing?" cousin that it was Peadar who did it. From the way the man had spoke wouldin the darkened corridor, there was no doubt in her mind that he wo rest until got his retribution for his imagined slight.

Even if she and Cynden did not end up together, she would ensure survived.

the night fretting about Cynden. One moment she considered how a forget and what she should do about the situation and the next she worried at

After adanger of someone wishing to kill him. At one point, she'd even con to his.leaving sooner rather than later. Returning home could be the answer. It is bitto ease her mind and think clearer. Being so close to someone who a her so much could prove to be disastrous. Surely she could not wistell into another heartbreak.

Needless to say, Ainslie woke tired. Her head sore from all the s e couldthoughts and lack of sleep.

eturn to Although not hungry, she sat down with her companions and shar anothermeal. Already the queue of people waiting to speak to the laird was for

which meant it would be a day of many clan's people coming and goin, yet it With so many about, it would be easy for whoever hurt Cynden so. Thepast without notice. She bit her bottom lip and scanned the room. Pear on. Shenowhere to be seen. Ainslie wasn't sure if it was a good thing or not. If initely the man in sight would mean it was easier to track his movements.

"Have they discovered who did it?" she asked the women arou ot havetable.

Cynden Isobel leaned forward, her voice a whisper. "Peadar is restricted to stion of quarters for now."

injured Ainslie let out a sigh of relief. "I am glad to hear it."

At the After Eating, Ainslie went to see Cynden as she'd promised.

trained Someone had already seen to his needs that morning. They'd com able tohair and helped him to sit. A rolled blanket had been placed behind hi well asback. By the way his gaze met hers and warmed, he seemed to be in le

"I brought yer meal," she said placing a tray on the side table. "A least tell his on her way here to bring it, but I offered since I was to be here anyway not her bear to have freckles across her nose?"

uld not Ainslie bristled. "I did nae notice."

While Cynden ate, he kept stealing glances to the window. Find that he pushed the plate away. "I do nae want anymore."

"Why do ye keep looking to the window?" Ainslie asked.

He frowned. "I wish to get up and find out who did this. I do nae up halfspend so much time inside. I prefer to be out there."

she felt "I am sure ye will be able to get about. Ye just have to wait for the bout theHe will no doubt ask that you be patient and allow yer wounds time to

sidered With a grunt, he sat up straighter and looked to where his boots we A way can help me."

iffected "I will nae do such a thing." Ainslie gave him what she hoped thstandmenacing look. "Ye are still much too pale and are twice the size of me

"True," he admitted with a defeated sigh. "The only reason I have wirlingtried is because it's hard to breathe and falling could cause more harm.

She took the tray and put it on a table. Then lowered to sit next to t

orming, Cynden hated feeling so weak that his head swam with even the slig ng. movements. It was not exactly a way to impress a woman. Yet Ains to slipreturned, and he was grateful for it.

dar was "Ainslie," Cynden began.

Having She looked into his eyes, waiting for him to continue. Every act woman did was like a song, one phrase after the other. His stomach did and the things when she was near. Especially when she looked at him.

"What is it?" she asked with a shy smile. "Why do ye look at me o  $\operatorname{guard}_{\operatorname{manner}}$ ?"

He took her hand and kissed the back of it, loving how small it wa larger hand. "Ye are the most beautiful woman. Exquisite. I would ne of looking at ye."

"Is that what ye wished to say to me?" Her voice was breathless, bed his enjoyed that his words affected her thusly.

s upper "Nae." He chuckled. "I wanted to ask if I could kiss ye. I have not so pain.able to think of anything else."

ass was A light pink on her cheeks was endearing. She nodded. "I think of ye as well. It is as if we are tied in a way." Her gaze pinned to him, sh and moved to stand over him. Then she leaned down and he cupped h bringing her mouth to his.

ally, he Her arms went around his shoulders as they kissed.

Cynden deepened the kiss, hungry to taste her. Thankfull responded, a sigh escaping past her lips. The lass was delectable. It like toplump like fresh fruit, ripe to taste. When he pushed his tongue past here shyly allowed hers to tangle with his. She was so very perform healer enticing and alluring that he was sure he'd never tire of kissing her.

heal." Cynden trailed his right hand down her side then up to palm he

ere. "Yeand she let out a soft moan encouraging him to continue the caress."

Footsteps approached and by the way Ainslie continued to kiss him l was anot heard. Cynden broke the kiss.

e." "Someone comes," he whispered.

ave not She jumped to her feet, her chest lifting and lowering. The plush "lips pinkened from his kisses. A more stunning sight he could not thinl he bed. There was a rap on the door followed by Darach and Ewan enteri cousin nodded at Ainslie. "I require a word with my cousin."

htest of "Of course," Ainslie replied. Then after a quick glance at him, she slie had<sup>out.</sup>

Cynden was glad to see his cousin although he wished it hadn't ion thecutting Ainslie's visit and their kiss short.

d funny There was concern etched on Darach's face as his gaze move Cynden. "Ye could have died. I would have had to answer to Alexar in thatit."

"It was nae anyone's fault but the man who did it."

s in his Ewan shook his head. "That we harbor someone like that in our ver tiremeans it is on our shoulders. We will find out who is responsible, and be dealt with."

and he "What about Peadar, do ye think it was he?" Cynden asked a hurried into the room his eyes moving from face to face. From his win ae beenlook, he seemed to have just arrived. His friend did the same as visitors, looking him over, being reassured.

kissing Darach blew out an annoyed breath. "Peadar is the third son of e stoodgood ally to our clan. Since his clan is so small, his father sent him er face, train and work as a guard. I have to think things through before insulfather. However, if it was him. That he is an ally's son will not s punishment."

ly, she There were so many things a laird had to consider before making the lipsdecision. Cynden understood too well the repercussions of slighter lips, important ally. At the same time, in his mind, there was little dottect. SoPeadar had tried to kill him.

"I heard what occurred. Did ye see or hear anything?" Knox r breast"Perhaps something strange caught yer attention." His friend noc

greeting to Darach and Ewan in greeting.

1, she'd "The birds went silent, which caused me to turn sideways. If not fo arrow would have pierced my heart."

Ewan narrowed his eyes. "Which way were ye facing and which volume partedye turn?" The expert archer could ascertain things that others could not considered with this could not considered with this course. "I was facing the loch. I'd just returned from swimming. With birdsong stopped, I turned to the right first, then to the left, which was walked the first arrow pierced my side. The pain made me flinch and lean site to the same side when the second arrow hit. I fell to the ground then.

"The man stood to the right of the house, on lower ground." Ewan meantup to the ceiling in thought. "He is a good archer, but one who shoots the second time whenever aiming at targets."

"I know that look, ye know who it is," Darach said to his brother.

Here for Ewan shrugged. "There are two men who do it, one is Ian, who we did not do it. The other is Peadar with his crossbow."

"How can ye remember such detail?" Knox asked in awe.

r midst "My brother studies archers, it is in his nature to always be bett he will<sup>anyone</sup>."

The archer grinned. "It is why I *am* better than anyone."

 $_{S\ Knox}$   $\,$  The laird looked to Cynden. "It seems ye are right in yer suspicio  $_{dblown}left$  to me now to remedy the situation."

his last "Once I can travel, Knox and I will return to Skye. It is for the be nae wish to cause ye any rifts with other lairds."

a very Darach held up a hand silencing him. "I will never tolerate a cowa here to shoots at a defenseless man from behind. Not just any man, but a mei ting his the family that feeds him." His upper lip curled in disgust. "Peadar top his dealt with immediately."

The brothers walked out leaving Knox who stared at the door wing any eyebrows raised. "I never wish to anger him."

ting an Cynden chuckled and cringed at the discomfort it caused. "Aye. T lbt that is formidable. Then again, many feel the same way about Alexander."

"True, but we grew up with him. It makes him less terrifying,' asked.replied with a chuckle.

lded in "I am glad to see ye," Cynden told his cousin. "Tell me what hap Skye."

Knox frowned. "It seems ye got injured worse here than anyor or it, thehome. At the moment there Alexander and that idiot MacKinnon hunsteady truce in place. Alexander wanted me to ensure to tell you way didexpect ye have been concerned about what occurs."

t. "Aye I have been. I do nae wish to have him nor any one on Skye hat hadworried about me. I prefer they not know about this." Cynden motione hen thebandages. "I am to recover fully."

s when

deways When Afternoon came and Ainslie had not returned Cynde disappointed. As the hours passed, he grew bored and restless. Time looked excruciatingly slowly, and he'd finally had enough of being in bed higher swung his legs over the side of the bed and slowly stood.

It was not as painful as he expected. The main discomfort was his to take a deep breath. He took a few tentative steps to the window. The known the only thing he could see was a corner of the garden and the tops of the distance.

As much as he wished to leave the bedchamber, it was best not to ter than weakened state, he would not stand a chance against an able-bodied was

The door opened and Ian walked in. His gaze moving from the Cynden and then to the window. "Best for ye to keep from the window

ns. It is Cynden's stomach sank. "He has escaped." He clenched his jaw for the reply.

st. I do It was a long moment before Ian nodded. "Aye, he slipped aw should have placed more than one guard on him. He is wily"

"I will return to Skye soon. I can stand and should be able to winber of the ride to the shoreline soon."

will be Ian paced the small room. "I am unsure as to whether or not he enough to pursue ye, or if being found out scared him enough that th both<sub>stay</sub> away."

"That is a question only he can answer," Cynden replied. "The berue.  ${\rm He}_{\rm I}$  can do is return home."

" Knox

pens on

Knox frowned. "It seems ye got injured worse here than anyone back home. At the moment there Alexander and that idiot MacKinnon have an unsteady truce in place. Alexander wanted me to ensure to tell ye as he expect ye have been concerned about what occurs."

"Aye I have been. I do nae wish to have him nor any one on Skye overly worried about me. I prefer they not know about this." Cynden motioned to his bandages. "I am to recover fully."

When Afternoon came and Ainslie had not returned Cynden was disappointed. As the hours passed, he grew bored and restless. Time passed excruciatingly slowly, and he'd finally had enough of being in bed, so he swung his legs over the side of the bed and slowly stood.

It was not as painful as he expected. The main discomfort was his ability to take a deep breath. He took a few tentative steps to the window. Outside the only thing he could see was a corner of the garden and the tops of trees in the distance.

As much as he wished to leave the bedchamber, it was best not to. In his weakened state, he would not stand a chance against an able-bodied warrior.

The door opened and Ian walked in. His gaze moving from the bed to Cynden and then to the window. "Best for ye to keep from the window."

Cynden's stomach sank. "He has escaped." He clenched his jaw waiting for the reply.

It was a long moment before Ian nodded. "Aye, he slipped away. We should have placed more than one guard on him. He is wily"

"I will return to Skye soon. I can stand and should be able to withstand the ride to the shoreline soon."

Ian paced the small room. "I am unsure as to whether or not he is mad enough to pursue ye, or if being found out scared him enough that he will stay away."

"That is a question only he can answer," Cynden replied. "The best thing I can do is return home."

## CHAPTER ELEVEN

 $H_{\text{ER}}$  feet barely touched the ground as Ainslie raced back toward the herbs she'd carefully picked long forgotten.

The heavier footfalls behind her pushed her to run faster. When she to a young fallen tree, she scampered over it, sure the slowing meant to chasing her would catch up. But he didn't. Suddenly it was silent an whirling to look, there was no one behind her.

Still she didn't stop, but instead kept running until arriving at the door to the keep. Too anxious to knock and wait for a reply, she raced the side of the building past the garden and into the inner courtyard, there that she finally went inside, anxious to find someone.

The first person she saw was Knox, Cynden's friend from Sky hurried to him.

She must have looked a fright by the astonished expression on his in "Did something happen?" he asked not waiting for her to speak.

Ainslie nodded, heart pounding. "Aye, I was just chased by that m Peadar. He came out of nowhere while I was picking herbs." He heaved as she tried to speak and breathe at the same time. "He is bac near the loch."

A guard must have seen what happened from his post atop the because he was calling out to those below. Men hurried to horses, ot foot.

Someone ran past her and Knox into the house.

Moments later, guards were scurrying out the front door. Knox to upper arm guiding Ainslie to a nearby bench. "Do not go back out. It best to remain indoors until he is caught. The guards have been search him. I would not be surprised if he is caught very soon."

It was time to leave Uist and return home to Barra. No matter how the memories were there, while that madman was on the loose, she sure she was safe at the Ross keep any longer. Ainslie wiped away tears. How dare that horrible man try to attack her.

Twice.

She'd never done anything to merit his advances. She'd barel noticed him before he'd corralled her in the corridor.

Just then Isobel and Lady Mariel hurried from the great room. "W e keep, what occurred," Isobel said. "Come to the parlor. Ye need something to drink."

They walked to the beautiful room with windows overlooking the came Ainslie glanced to the windows glad that they did not face in the direct the man the loch. A part of her wanted to go somewhere and watch the horrit dupon being dragged back by the guard. It would bring a feeling of safety.

"Why is the man so persistent about me?" she asked accepting a gree back honeyed mead with a trembling hand. "I do not know him in the least." Lady Mariel took a glass from Isobel. "It has more to do with that than with ye. He hopes that in attacking ye, he will hurt Cynden."

"He must have the idea there is more between ye than just frien ye. She Isobel interjected. "It is the only explanation I can think of."

"We kissed," Ainslie admitted. "Out there, near the loch. By what when he accosted me, he watched us. There is nothing else betw Cynden will leave as soon as he recovers and return to Skye. I will adman, him again." She kept the other kisses to herself. There was no recovered divulge such a personal occurrence at the moment.

k there, There companions exchanged glances, poither saving anything

Her companions exchanged glances, neither saying anything moment. Finally Isobel gave her a pointed look. "There is nothing to ne wall and Cynden from courting. Both of ye are without an attachment to so hers on else."

"Ye make a good pair and seem to get along well," Lady Mariel ad "I agree," Isobel said with a wide smile. "There seems to be sor ook her more than mere friendship."

"Oh, yes," Lady Mariel interjected with a knowing nod. "Attraction Despite herself, Ainslie couldn't help but smile. "It is just that—at —nothing more. I am sure he does nae feel anything stronger than that "What about ye?" Lady Mariel asked. "How do ye feel about him? Ainslie decided to be honest. "I seem to care for him more each does na another heartbreak. I must believe it is nothing more than a believe it is nothing more than a believe in the interior market interior m

friendship. He almost died and I was terrified that it was because of me "The attack has nothing at all to do with ye," Isobel explained. "I y evenPeadar is a sick man who wishes for a leadership position that will n his. Instead of facing his own faults, he wishes to put the blame on see heardelse. Unfortunately, Cynden's arrival just as Peadar was once again no strongthe title of leader made him decide to blame Cynden for it."

"If the man took the time to think about why he is here in the firs ie inlet.he'd realize it is his own doing," Lady Mariel added. "His father section ofhere for a reason."

ole man Isobel shook her head. "It fell on Darach to deal with the m temper. I am sure he will be dealt with in short order. Then ye can glass ofwhat to do about yerself and Cynden. Personally, I would pursue hir need help..." She motioned to herself. "I will gladly help."

Cynden Ainslie couldn't help but giggle. With the laird's wife and assisting, if she decided to pursue Cynden, she could not fail. Howe dship,"timing was all wrong.

He was currently injured and planning to leave. There wasn't any i he saidhis plans for her and she had no desire to impede him in any way. een us.

nae see Since Ainslie was to remain indoors, she lingered near the front door ason to to find out if there was any news about Peadar's capture. It seemed t was adept at escaping because when she asked a passing guard, he t for athey'd yet to capture him.

stop ye Annoyed, she made her way past the entrance to the great room omeone people were gathered, some to seek an audience with the laird, ot hopes of being fed, as people were allowed to have last meal there as there was a place to sit.

nething The guard in front of Cynden's door leaned on the wall, but upon her straightened and motioned to the door. She nodded in greeti n." knocked on the door.

cynden's voice was clear when he invited her to enter. She was s to see him dressed and sitting in a chair. He put a book he was readin upon seeing it was her.

ay. It is "I hoped ye'd return," he said meeting her gaze. "I heard what hap myself I wanted to come find ye, but it is best I remain here and not cause the eautiful

#### e." more trouble."

t is that Ainslie waved his attempt to stand away and lowered into ever beopposite him. Ensuring she left plenty of space between them. "I pmeoneharmed. He did nae catch me. I am a fast runner." Her lips curved at our givensmiling.

"I am glad. Have ye heard if he's been captured?"

t place, Ainslie shook her head. "Not as yet."

ent him Cynden blew out an annoyed breath. "How can it be so difficult? the man can fly, it would be impossible for him to escape."

an's ill "From what I hear, there are caves in the forest past the outer wal decidewoods go on for a long distance. The thicket makes it hard to move fan. If yehorses. Lady Mariel informed me that many a man has gone into hidir and later found dead."

mother Clearing her throat, Ainslie pushed ahead with the question she waver, theask. "When ye leave will ye ever return?"

For a long moment Cynden studied her. The effect of his gaze up coom inwas almost as if he touched every inch where his hazel gaze lan prickling of her skin, the need to take deep breaths, it all made it hard from reaching out and touching him.

hoping "I have been thinking about what to say to ye." His brows lowered he man considered the next words.

old her "Ye do nae have to explain to me. If Peadar is nae caught, I may return to Barra."

, where "Do ye wish to return there?"

hers in His eyes never moved from hers as he awaited her reply.

long as "Nae," Ainslie's voice trembled. "Neither do I wish for ye to go."

A lightness came over his face, the sharp lines of his jawline relaction seeing must. Skye is my home."

ng and "I-I wish we could have more time. I know ye may nae feel like I c I must be honest in telling ye that I have grown to care for ye. *Deeply*.'

hocked The words seemed to hang in the air. For a moment, Ainslie con a saidemaking as if she spoke in jest. Instead, a sense of relief fell over la matter if Cynden did not feel as strongly, she'd been honest with hopened. herself.

e guard "Then go with me."

"Wh-what? I can nae go to another isle with ye. It would be madne

"Ye will love Skye. It is beautiful. My family—my brothers a chairmother—will welcome ye."

am not Her mind whirled around the idea, and she blinked several times, re Cyndenthe urge to pinch herself to ensure it was not a dream. The man was addled to invite her to his family home and not declare any decourtship or the like.

"I-I can nae go with ye." Ainslie could not think of a way to tell Unlesshas to ask for her hand in marriage. The only way she would go was were betrothed. Already she'd declared her feelings first. She was no lls. Theto ask him to marry her.

ast with Cynden frowned. "We feel deeply for one another, it only make ag therethat we be together."

"Together?" Ainslie drew out the word, giving Cynden the opportunted toexpand.

Instead, he nodded. "Aye."

pon her There were raps on the door and she stood, letting out a long sigh. ded. Aleave ye to think. We can speak tomorrow. I require some fresh ai to keephurried past Knox, who entered with a tray of food. The warrior had sideways to keep Ainslie from knocking the tray from his hands.

d, as he

"What did ye do?" Knox asked looking over his shoulder in the did have to  $_{\mbox{\sc Ainslie}}$  went.

Cynden frowned. "I do nae know. It was as if she had to do somet of a sudden."

His friend shrugged. "The cook here is beyond comparison. I we the meals once we leave." He placed the tray on a side table and lower sing. "Ithe chair Ainsley had emptied.

"I do not wish to eat. I drank some dreadful concoction the heal lo. Yet, and do not trust food to remain in my stomach."

"What were ye and the pretty lass speaking of?" Knox, ever sidered<sub>asked</sub>.

ner. No "She declared to care for me deeply and that she wished we ha im and time. I asked that she come to Skye with me. Then... well ye sa hurried away."

Knox shook his head. "Ye have to say things just right. How ar ess."

and mybecome betrothed since her parents are on Barra?"

"Betrothed?" Cynden huffed. "There is nae time for a betrothal. It esistingbe faster to marry."

clearly When Knox laughed Cynden looked to the ceiling. "Aye, I know sire forplanned to return with a wife, but neither am I willing to leave behind. She is the woman for me."

him he His friend laughed even harder. "Ye plan to marry her then?" if they "Aye."

ot about Why was Knox being so foolish to ask the obvious when he explained?

s sense His cousin gave him an amused look. "So ye ask the lass to m then? Or did ye say she was to go with ye to Skye making her that unity toplanned to take her there as someone to warm yer bed and nothing more Cynden's eyes rounded, and his mouth fell open at realizing his the sense."

It was no wonder Ainslie reacted the way she did. The woman wa "I willprobability a virgin and was shocked at his invitation.

r." She "I am an idiot."

to jump His friend continued laughing as he ate the food that was me Cynden.

He looked on, grabbed a piece of bread and ate it. "When ye finish irection my meal, will ye please go and find her?"

Knox took him in, his jaw moving as he chewed. "I have a better iching all

AINSLIE SAT IN the parlor, her gaze past the windows at the sky. In he ill missshe pictured life on Skye with Cynden. Seeing him every day. Go red intowalks. And the kissing. More kisses like the ones they'd shared. How was not to be. She would not go with him without being betrothed.

er made Not only would her parents never allow it, but also it would be not to go to a faraway place with a man who had no interest in marrying he curious. It could be she was not meant to marry, to have a home or bairns. It could have been her only chance and fate had taken him.

d more "Ainslie?"

w. She Cynden's voice startled her. She whirled from the windows to fi walking slowly into the room. Behind him, Knox stood watching, ensure ye towas stable.

With an arm wrapped around his midsection, he stopped midway be twouldthem, and she went to him.

"Ye should sit. Why are ye here?"

v. I nae "I made a mistake and need to correct it."

Ainslie Hoping to read his expression proved fruitless. The man's gaze whis face devoid of any hint of what he thought.

"What did ye do?" She wondered if he'd realized something th done to cause Peadar to attack her.

e'd just The corner of his lips inched up, but then he seemed to catch hims let out a breath. "When I asked ye to come to Skye. I did nae tell ye arry yewho...in what manner."

nink ye Ainslie looked past him to Knox who rolled his eyes and then re?" Cynden. "I do nae understand what ye are saying. Ye should return to lunder. "Nae. I am well enough to stand before ye and ask ye to be my wif s in all All the air seemed to leave her lungs as she waited for him to continue to the way he looked at her, made her insides weak. "Will ye marry me MacNeil?"

Every scenario crossed her mind. Did he love her? Was he asking bec a eatingfelt obligated, or that he owed it to her for kissing her? Her head swam "Listed to yer heart," Cynden whispered, his gaze searching. "I v lea." nothing more than for ye as a wife."

"Aye," she finally managed. "I would like to very much."

"Good," Cynden replied. Then to her delight, he reached for her, long for her gently against him, and took her mouth with his.

Alarmed that Knox was watching, Ainslie leaned sideways to loo door, finding it empty.

nadness She then kissed Cynden back, losing herself in the man who wou be hers forever.

**Chomas** 

nd him ring he

With an arm wrapped around his midsection, he stopped midway between them, and she went to him.

"Ye should sit. Why are ye here?"

"I made a mistake and need to correct it."

Hoping to read his expression proved fruitless. The man's gaze was flat, his face devoid of any hint of what he thought.

"What did ye do?" She wondered if he'd realized something that he'd done to cause Peadar to attack her.

The corner of his lips inched up, but then he seemed to catch himself and let out a breath. "When I asked ye to come to Skye. I did nae tell ye how... who...in what manner."

Ainslie looked past him to Knox who rolled his eyes and then back to Cynden. "I do nae understand what ye are saying. Ye should return to bed."

"Nae. I am well enough to stand before ye and ask ye to be my wife."

All the air seemed to leave her lungs as she waited for him to continue. The way he looked at her, made her insides weak. "Will ye marry me Ainslie MacNeil?"

There was but one answer, and yet was she ready for what it meant. Every scenario crossed her mind. Did he love her? Was he asking because he felt obligated, or that he owed it to her for kissing her? Her head swam.

"Listed to yer heart," Cynden whispered, his gaze searching. "I wish for nothing more than for ye as a wife."

"Aye," she finally managed. "I would like to very much."

"Good," Cynden replied. Then to her delight, he reached for her, brought her gently against him, and took her mouth with his.

Alarmed that Knox was watching, Ainslie leaned sideways to look at the door, finding it empty.

She then kissed Cynden back, losing herself in the man who would soon be hers forever.

# CHAPTER TWELVE

 $I_{\text{T}}$  was a fortnight later and Ainslie's parents were to arrive for the macremony. They'd come once already to speak to him. Darach had s for Alexander as his brother and mother were not to arrive until the day marriage.

Fourteen days and still Peadar had not been captured. Cynden l more each day that he was unable to move freely nor go and help Surely he could not have gone too far. It made little sense the guard has unsuccessful in finding him.

His wounds were barely visible, but they caused him a great discomfort. Still, he managed to move around more and had returned bedchamber on the second floor.

Now as he stood atop the keep wall, looking out toward the lewondered if the man watched him. Most seemed to think that because was fairly new to the isle, he'd become lost in the thicket. Cynder believe it. The man was a warrior and had the skills to hunt and sur anything, Peadar had left the isle and returned back to his home.

Despite preparations for the marriage and all that it entailed, he conthat Ainslie was just as worried about the situation. Each time they'd to brought up the fact Peadar had not been caught.

They'd not had the opportunity for much time alone, as his aun Mariel, had taken it upon herself to plan every detail for the wedding ensure Ainslie was properly prepared with a new wardrobe meant hi to-be wife was gone to the village most days.

A message had also been sent to his brothers and they were due to that day. It was only then that they'd been told about what had occurre didn't want to distract them with worries of him whilst they were in ba

He was sure his mother would have a great deal to say. Not only not being informed of his injury right away, but also about his up marriage. Cynden had yet to make up his mind if she was going concerned or happy for him. Probably a mixture of both.

For years, his mother had insisted he should court a pretty lass family that lived nearby. The lass was bonnie enough, but there had t attraction between them. The lass had eyes for his older brother, who ignored her completely.

"Yer brothers are here," Knox said coming to stand besid narriage "Alexander and Gavin, as well as yer mother."

"Munro must have stayed behind in Alex's stead." Cynden walke tood in toward the house. Although he was rapidly healing, it was still part of the move about and he measured his steps.

A coach entered the courtyard moments later, and Cynden went t hated it next to Ainslie, who gave him a nervous smile. "My parents will search, shortly as well. This will be a challenging day." ad been "We have as idea," Conden recovered "Mother will be angreed."

"Ye have no idea," Cynden murmured. "Mother will be angry t

deal of "She wasn't told?" Ainslie's eyes grew wide. "Why?" to his "The description of Produce till being about Change till being till being about Change till being about Change till being about Change till being till

"The danger of Peadar still being about. She would have demanded by the come here immediately. It would nae have been good."

och, he They stopped speaking as the coach came to a stop.

Peadar

Behind the coach, Alexander appeared, an intimidating picture a didn't large warhorse he rode. His brother dismounted as the coach door open vive. If his mother hurried out, not waiting for assistance.

As Darach embraced Alexander then Gavin, his mother ignored the old tell and instead rushed to him. "I am so furious with ye right now." He gleamed with unshed tears. "Ye could have died, and I would not have any the wiser. How dare they keep what happened from me?"

t, Lady
She cupped his face. "I am shaking so badly I can barely remain up "Mother, be calm." Cynden spoke in a composed tone. "I am su s soon-explained to ye, that it would have been too dangerous for ye to come."

She glowered in his brother's direction. "I would nae have care a arrive embraced his trembling mother, hating the circumstances brought or idiot. It was not only the injured man who suffered, but those who can loved them as well.

y about After a moment, she managed to calm enough to release him. Soming shaky breaths attempting to gain her composure and gazed at Ainslie, to be him.

"This is Ainslie McNeil, my betrothed," Cynden said motioi

ed back "I am pleased to meet ye." Ainslie gave Cynden's mother a te inful tosmile. "I am looking forward to meeting everyone and also to mo Skye."

o stand Rose gave Cynden a questioning look. "Ye decided to marry larrivequickly. Is there to be a bairn soon?"

At the implication, Ainslie gasped. "Nae. I am. nae.."

hat my "We should go inside. There is a repast prepared." Lady Mariel sy in and took his mother by the arm. "I am so glad to see ye. It has bee too long."

nded to The women walked away just as Alexander and Gavin made their them. Both his brothers gave Cynden a look warning there was somet be talked about. Alexander was courteous in greeting Ainslie but rese top thewould normally not surprise Cynden, as his brother's personality was ned andstern. However, when Gavin—usually a flirt—also greeted her with a warmth, Cynden knew something was amiss.

hem all "We must speak," Alexander said to Cynden.

er eyes "I will be inside," Ainslie said, then turned to find Isobel waitir ve beenwomen walked away. Just before going inside, Ainslie peered o' shoulder at him. Like him, she must have felt something was wrong.

oright." "Not a warm greeting for my soon-to-be wife," Cynden snapped. re Alexdo ye need to speak about that keeps us from going inside?"

"Alexander frown. "A new truce has been agreed to with the MacK ed." HeThe laird's asks that his eldest daughter marry a Ross. She has chosen by an After releasing a slow breath through his nostrils, Cynden looke red andGavin to Alex. "She will have to choose a different man then. I am na to marry a MacKinnon. I have already asked Ainslie to marry me. I'v he tookmy word."

then to "Yer duty to the clan is more important," Alexander replied. He lo the keep. "We can nae keep depending on our cousins for protectioning to have recruited more men, and our guard is growing. Once we are join the MacKinnons, our people will have peace."

vay she His fingers clenched into a fist, it was through sheer willpower tha nden anot strike Alexander. "Did ye pick me because I am nae truly yer broth in and Gavin gaped. "What are ye talking about?"

n called "Tell him, Alex," Cynden said. "Tell him I am but yer half-brought product of rape. Someone to be sold to the enemy, someone with littlentativeto ye."

ving to With two large steps, Alex came nose-to-nose to Cynden. "Do n say that. Ye are my brother. I will never see ye as anything else."

y quite "Then why me?" Cynden was too angry to keep his voice calm nae Gavin or Munro?"

"Explain what ye are talking about?" Gavin insisted. Pressing b woopedthem. "Now."

n much Alexander turned to their brother. "Mother admitted why she wished for Gavin to leave the isle." He turned to look toward the kee way touncle took liberties the last time she visited."

thing to Gavin's eyes rounded and then he glared toward the keep. "The barved. Itdead, otherwise, I would kill him. Did Da know?"

usually Cynden shook his head. "Nae. Mother never told him."

lack of All three were silent for a moment. Repeating the origin of Cy birth seemed to take the fury out of them. When Alexander spoke aş kept his voice low.

ig. The "She chose ye. The messenger insisted she would accept no other ver herbrother let out a sigh. "I understand that ye would rather marry the work yer choosing. What would ye have me do?"

"What "Did ye compromise the lass?" Gavin asked wiggling his eyebrow is lovely."

innons. "I did not," Cynden replied. "We are to marry because I want her t ye." to Skye with me."

ed from Alexander shrugged. "Ye do nae have to marry her for that."

e going "Her parents would disagree," Cynden replied. "Besides, I want he e givenmy wife. Be the mother to my bairns."

Gavin blew out a shrill long whistle and chuckled. He loc oked to Alexander. "I do believe our wee brother is in love."

on. We "Do nae ask me to do this," Cynden said, his gaze pinning Alexanc ed with Ust then a coach followed by several wagons came through the §

had to be Ainslie's parents.

t he did "Let us go for a walk," Cynden said, knowing it was best not to fier?" arrivals until a final decision was made.

other, a Ainslie hurried from inside the house to greet her family. She'd beer e value in the parlor with Rose, who peppered her nonstop with question woman seemed kind, but overly curious. She supposed it was natiae ever she'd informed Ainslie that Cynden was to be the first of her four marry.

· "Why Her brothers sat in the back of a wagon, seeming displeased a which made her want to laugh. They climbed down gave her quick letween acknowledgement and promptly went to find the Ross men.

She rushed down the steps, eager for her sister and her mother and

p. "Our Therese, was first, calling out her name with glee. "I am so happy I wish to go visit ye in Skye." Her eyes danced with excitement. "This stard is magnificent. When we approached, I lost my breath."

They hugged, and then she greeted her mother and father.

While her father didn't seem bothered by her decision to marry in ynden's her mother and sister were convinced there was a reason for it.

(3ain, he "Are ye sure?" her mother asked, taking her in. "Why do ye loc healthy?" When her eyes moved to Ainslie's midsection, she shook he er." His "I am nae with bairn."

oman of Therese laughed. "Mother says he is handsome. I can nae wait the him. Where is he?"

Cynden was the perfect man, and they were compatible. From what o comelearned about him so far, he was fair and respectful.

"Aye where is yer betrothed?" her mother asked searching those gas Ainslie turned and saw the laird, Isobel, Lady Mariel, and Rose were er to be to greet her family, but Cynden and his brothers were not.

During introductions, she leaned into Isobel's ear. "Where are to and his brothers?"

"I do nae know," Isobel replied, searching the courtyard. "I ler. perhaps?"
gates. It

When they returned to the parlor, her father insisted on going  $\nu$  ace the laird to the great room, while Ainslie and her mother kept company  $\nu$  women.

The conversation turned to once again the same questions being a sitting Her mother, however, seemed to understand the real reason for the mass. The as she'd also married quite hastily.

ural, as A servant entered the room and spoke to Ainslie. "Miss, can ye c sons to the garden? Yer betrothed wishes to speak to ye in private."

"The garden?" Ainslie glanced toward Isobel, who nodded.

bout it, "Ye should go see what it is about."

hugs of "I can go with ye," her mother offered. "Whatever it is, ye seem we "Nae, I best go alone."

d father Following the servant, Ainslie began to feel dizzy. It was as if he warned her not to continue forward, but to run in the opposite dia for ye. Something was wrong. Whatever it was, she knew was not good.

keep is It felt surreal walking out to the garden. The blossoms were be their fragrance greeting her in a wonderful way. A stark contrast to t who stood waiting for her. It was not Cynden, but his eldest ln haste, Alexander.

With hair as dark as a raven's feathers, the fearsome warrion ok so...straight, his lack of expression as intimidating as his size. With the er head. Shoulders and thick muscular arms, she was sure he was a form opponent in battle.

to meet Upon seeing her, his gaze moved over her, and he motioned to a "Would ye care to sit?"

to take. "Nae. I will stand." Ainslie was glad her voice was firm. Instinct t she'dthe man before her expected her to be timid and scared of him.

"I have spoken to Cynden and informed him he can nae marry ye."

athered. Despite her stomach dropping, she kept silent, her gaze on him.

waiting Alexander continued. "A truce has been settled between my clan MacKinnons. Their one demand is that Cynden is to marry the laird' Cynden daughter."

"No." Ainslie took several steps closer and glared up at him. "In a walk different settlement. Tell them he and I were already wed when ye are will nae be yer fault. Cynden does nae wish to marry anyone other than the laird's eyebrows shot up. "Ye are asking that I lie?"

vith the "I am stating that yer brother will keep his vow to me. I am s vith the MacKinnons wish to have a truce as much as ye do. They will gladly another arrangement."

asked. To her shock, the man chuckled. Deep dimples appeared on both arriageturning the intimidating man into one of the most handsome creature ever seen. He shook his head. "I will have to admit, my brother has come towell."

Just then Cynden came running around the building with a thui expression. He threw himself at Alexander sending them both tumbli the bushes.

orried." Ainslie screamed and moments later, her father, Darach, and guards appeared. Gavin appeared from the same direction and scram er bodybreak the brawling brothers apart. Unfortunately, a flying fist caught rection.on the side of the face, and he fell backward onto the ground.

"Do something," Ainslie screamed at the men gathered. Finally, eautiful, guardsmen were able to pull the brothers apart. It was obvious Alexan he mannot fought back, but instead grabbed Cynden in a bear hug. Cynden brother, blood while struggling to get free.

His brother on the other hand did not require anyone to hold him be r stoodwiped blood from his split lip and laughed. "Ye are going to hurt ye h wideye would stop and listen, ye may calm down."

nidable A wincing and breathless Cynden walked toward her, and she slic sideways to her parents.

bench. Ainslie held up a hand. "Speak to yer brother. And ye should w before coming inside. There are things to discuss."

Isobel went to Alexander and pushed a finger into his chest. "He fully recovered. Ye could have hurt him worse. Shame on ye."

and the Just before entering the parlor, Cynden felt the tension in the atmos eldest The conversations stilted and Cynden understood why. Even before it his family, Ainslie's had witnessed the fight between him and his brown Make awould be a miracle if her father still agreed to allow his daughter to rived. Ithim.

1 me." Ainslie's mother and his were silently studying one another. W

ure thebrother, Gavin, and Ainslie's couldn't seem to find a common grougree todiscuss. Finally, upon finding out Ainslie's brothers participated in the

—the stone and caber toss—they found a subject they could all speak of cheeks. The fact their brothers seemed to get along did not mean he was she'dclear. When Cynden walked to them, the MacNeil brothers silently chosenhim over.

One, tilted his head to the side, his eyes narrowing in silent disar nderousCynden met the man's gaze. "Yer brother told us the reason for the fig ing intoman stated, his gaze warming.

If he was to say something else, he stopped when Ainslie's severalDarach, and Alexander walked in.

bled to Obviously, it would be up to the patriarch to give his approval. It GavinCynden planned to give it any credence. Although, Ainslie probably be of a different opinion.

several Darach motioned to the room. "If everyone would please sit down der haddiscuss the upcoming marriage."

spit out "Can I ask?" Ainslie's mother met Cynden's gaze. "Why such a hi this marriage? We could have planned a large wedding with all her ack. Heand friends in Barra. Neither of ye are from Uist and yet here we are."

rself. If Cynden and Ainslie exchanged looks and she waited for him to span injured, and it would be difficult to travel first to Barra and then to la lookWe are hopeful that once I am fully healed, ye would host a celebra that yer friends and family can all attend."

rash up "Why the hurry?" His mother joined forces with Ainslie's, and he to groan.

"Because," Ainslie began. "I do nae wish to be away from him. has naethat it be soon. As he plans to return to Skye."

There were no more questions on that matter, as everyone satisfied.

sphere. "How will ye care for my daughter? The lass has never wan neeting anything." It was the first time Ainslie's father actually spoke to his other. It arriving.

"I am a warrior, I work for my brother. Ainslie will live with moveep, where she will be safe and well cared for. She will never while his anything."

His mother frowned at the man daring to question her son. "T

pund tonever any need in our home. Like here, everyone is welcome to congamespartake of a warm meal if they are hungry. We provide shelter and con. for those in need. Our people do nae go hungry, nor do they have s in thebeing cold in the winter."

looked "There are ongoing battles," Ainslie's father countered. "Somethin more worrisome than hunger at the moment."

proval. Just as Cynden was to speak Alexander walked closer. "The bat ht," thecoming to an end. It is one of the things I came to discuss with my

Our lands are returning to a place of peace so we will nae require a father, warriors as before. Only a few to help ensure that peace is kept."

"Our family is always kept safe," Gavin added. "Ye nae have to Not thatabout yer daughter ever being in danger."

would It seemed to satisfy the man who took Cynden in. "If my daughte ye acceptable, then so do I. I welcome ye to our family."

1, let us Cynden had to swallow past the lump that had formed in his Strange how things had changed since leaving Skye. Not only wourry forreturn home scarred, but also married to a beautiful woman, and very r familylove.

beak. "I

o Skye. Every eye in the keep chapel followed Ainslie's progress as she walke ition so the center to the man who would become her husband. It was hard to s

the tears pooling in her eyes, but she managed to keep her gaze c wantedCynden stood proud next to his brother Alexander. A handsome

wearing the Ross green and blue tartan that wrapped around him and c I askedshoulder pinned across his breast with a large clan crest.

Her mother had brought the gown she'd wished to wear. It was seemedblue silky creation she'd been saving for when Thomas was well en

attend a festival with her. Now he was fully healed in the afterlife, a ted forwas sure he would approve of her choice of clothing. It was as if part n sinceaccompanied her that day.

From her shoulder to her side she wore a sash—The MacNeil tart e at theblack and blue with gold stripes a stark contrast to the gown. Ainsligant forwas pulled up to the crown of her head and pinned allowing for loose to frame her face and cascade down the back.

'here is

me and When Cynden's gaze turned from warmth to heated, she ki lothingapproved.

to fear They could barely look away from each other and if pressed doubted either would remember anything that was said that day.

g I find Afterwards, the celebration was lively, with music and heaping pla food and plenty of ale for everyone to enjoy. It was obvious the hostil tles arewished to impress the visitors, both from Skye and Barra.

cousin. As she scanned the room for her family, she wanted to weep w s manyThe most important people in their lives were there to share the occas it made everything perfect.

worry It was early yet, but she kept an eye on Cynden to ensure he was too much pain. He caught her watching the dancers and he covered he er finds "I can nae dance but ye should join the women." He motioned to a c women dancing. "Enjoy yerself."

throat. She only danced for a short while, because more than anythin ould hewanted to remain next to Cynden, so they could share the experience nuch inwedding together.

It seemed like scant moments later that her mother neared and wh into her ear. "Ye must go and prepare to be with yer husband. His mafraid he is tiring."

d down Ainslie shot a look to Cynden, who met her gaze. He did look a bit "Very well."

on him. "Mother is taking me to the bedchamber," she whispered. His lips picture, and he gave her a soft nod.

Over his As they walked away, she took her mother's arm. "I am so very are here. I do miss ye."

a pale "Ye are about to miss me more," her mother grumbled. "The birlir ough tobecome a second home as I travel back and forth to visit."

and she "'Tis nae far."

of him They went up the stairs and into Cynden's room. She'd never been and glanced around the space noting a nightshift and robe had been an. Thethere for her. Other than that, there were no feminine items. It was fine e's hairown bedchamber was just next door.

tendrils "Mother," Ainslie began, her face warming. "I do nae think any bedsport will occur. Cynden is not fully healed yet."

Her mother shook her head. "The marriage must be consummated.

new hethere's a will, there's a way."

Ainslie was uncertain what would occur in the marriage bed. She' Ainslieconsidered how men and women joined. Once she'd seen a horse n mare, perhaps that was how it was to occur.

itters of "Will he approach me from behind?" Ainslie asked her mother ng lairdbrushed out her hair. "Should I stand and bend over?"

Her mother let out something between a snort and gasp. "Oh... ith joy.will face one another."

ion and "It will be a beautiful moment," Isobel said walking in, her chee from drinking. "Ye will kiss, and things will naturally move forward. s not infret. It is quite enjoyable. Allow him to show ye how wonderful it can er hand.both should remove all yer clothing and—"

ircle of It was comical to see her mother's mouth fall open, then close, moved to stand in front of Isobel.

ng, she "There, now go to the bed." She kissed Ainslie's forehead, ¿ of theirIsobel's hand, and tugged her from the room.

tired.

curved
glad ye
ns will

inside
placed
e as her

Where

kind of

there's a will, there's a way."

Ainslie was uncertain what would occur in the marriage bed. She'd never considered how men and women joined. Once she'd seen a horse mount a mare, perhaps that was how it was to occur.

"Will he approach me from behind?" Ainslie asked her mother as she brushed out her hair. "Should I stand and bend over?"

Her mother let out something between a snort and gasp. "Oh...no. Ye will face one another."

"It will be a beautiful moment," Isobel said walking in, her cheeks rosy from drinking. "Ye will kiss, and things will naturally move forward. Do nae fret. It is quite enjoyable. Allow him to show ye how wonderful it can be. Ye both should remove all yer clothing and—"

It was comical to see her mother's mouth fall open, then close, as she moved to stand in front of Isobel.

"There, now go to the bed." She kissed Ainslie's forehead, grabbed Isobel's hand, and tugged her from the room.

## CHAPTER THIRTEEN

 $I_{\rm T}$  was much later and still Cynden had yet to appear. Heart pounding, waited. Her gaze returning to the door over and over. At hearing fc and voices, she took a shaky breath. What was about to happen? She sure she'd be comfortable laying with a man, especially bereft of Hopefully, he'd allow her to keep her nightshift on. Surely there was a do whatever they were going to do without her having to take it off.

The door opened, the men's voices louder, most of them slurrin imbibing too much. Cynden stumbled in and looked to her. His eye unfocused. "I sink I shrank choo mush."

Ainslie wanted to thank the heavens. "Come sit down." She led h chair. "I'll help ye take off yer boots."

He complied and more fell to the chair than actually sat in it. "I nae 'ave..." He stopped talking seeming to have lost his train of thoug

After dispensing with his boots, Ainslie looked up at him. "Now labout yer clothes."

"Ye look beau..." His head lolled to the side, and he fell sideways chair onto the floor.

"Get up," Ainslie ordered. He sat up and she carefully pulled he over his head. Then when they finally managed to get him to his for guided him to the bed.

Moving quickly before he could fall, she untied the fastening breeches and pulled them off.

"Oomph!" He fell backwards onto the bed, a splendid display of hi nude, except for the bandages around his midsection and over his sh He lay exposed with his breeches around his ankles.

Ainslie stared at him, taking in every inch. There was a sprinkling hair across his chest and down the center past his stomach to a thic above his sex.

He let out a soft snore, which meant she could explore and gawl leisure. His hips were trim, which was interesting given his thick po

thighs.

Moving closer, she peered down at his sex. It was so very differe soft staff lay sideways the tip resting on his thigh, behind it a sack tl not very attractive.

Alarmed at her actions, she slid a look to his face. Cynden w Ainslie asleep.

It was a struggle, but she managed to get him up to where his head ootsteps on a pillow and covers pulled up over him.

wasn't Married life was not so very different she decided with a smile. To clothes blew out the lantern, slid between the blankets, and promptly fell asleway to her back to him.

ig from

Through the haze of sleep, wonderful sensations overcame her. inhaled deeply allowing the feathery caresses to flow over her. Sometim to a was pulling her closer, against warmth and she relaxed into it.

At being kissed, her eyes flew open and peered directly into Cynd should bit reddened from the night before, but still a mesmerizing color of generation and peered directly into Cynd should bit reddened from the night before, but still a mesmerizing color of generation green flecks intermingled with light brown.

et's see Cynden broke the kiss. "I am sorry to have fallen asleep."

Before Ainslie could reply, he kissed her again, while tugging off the nightshift. There was nothing to be done, they would consumm marriage and she had to comply. After all it was the only way to leg is tunic their union.

she She trembled at the feel of his fingers on her skin, wonderin noticed. When he hesitated, she lifted her eyes to look at him. "I a to his nervous."

Cynden nodded. "I understand. I promise to be gentle and explain m fully Does that make ye feel better?"

oulder. "Aye."

"First we must dispense with all this clothing," he joked, pulling to of softitem up and over her head. Thankfully they remained under the blanker bit she didn't feel too exposed.

"I am afraid, ye will have to do most of the maneuvering." With a cat hergrin, he chuckled. "I will make love to ye properly once I am healed." "Lay onto yer back," he instructed.

When he took her mouth again, Ainslie did her best to relax. Tent nt. Theshe slid her hand from his shoulders down his side to his back. Adm hat washis muscular body was very nice to the touch. Emboldened, she co exploring, moving up his back to thread her fingers through his hair.

7as fast Bolder than her, Cynden cupped her breast then lowered to take into his mouth. At first, she wasn't sure what would happen, until he l restedon it.

The most pleasing sensation traveled down her body to between h hen sheWhile continuing with his mouth over her breast, his fingers trailed do ep withbody to her upper thigh. At this point, she didn't care what he did as lo didn't stop.

"I am going to touch yer sex," Cynden explained, pushing her Ainslieapart. "Ye will enjoy it."

nething Of that, she had no doubt. While at the same time, it seemed intimate. Should he be doing it?

en's. A His finger slid between her legs, hesitating at the very core. Wold andgentlest of touches, he circled there, sending shooting bursts of patraight through her. Unsure of what exactly happened, Ainslie tensed.

"Relax," Cynden whispered, his mouth hovering over hers. at heryerself to enjoy it."

ate the He continued the wonderful assault, sliding his fingers throus trailed his lips to her jawline, and down her throat.

g if he It was as if feeding a tiny morsel of food to someone starving. She m a bitmore. Ainslie lifted her hips, needing more and Cynden complied, second finger, while his thumb continued circling her core.

things. Suddenly it was as if something burst within her, and she cried out in her life had she known such pleasure. Ainslie could not believe wonderful it felt.

he long "Come over me," Cynden said, his breathing harsh and rapid. "It kets, solike my fingers. Just a bit larger."

When he pushed the blankets away from them, Ainslie was sho boyish feel that the same rod she'd seen the night before had grown. It was longer, and much harder.

Cynden guided her to straddle him. She was tentative, ensuring hurt him. At the same time, he looked so strong that it was hard to t

atively, being gentle in any way.

ittedly, Once she hovered over him, he took his rod in hand. "Lower yersontinuedit."

Her eyes rounded. "Oh. I thought we would stand."

the tip A smile split his face. "Let us try this first."

sucked She lowered and stopped at the sensation of the thickness prodding entrance. He pushed her legs apart and then held her by the hips.

er legs. What happened took all her attention, especially when he touch own herHis fingers once again circling the very center of her sex as she ong as itlowered. Inch by inch, he entered her while his touch drove her craz

desire. Ainslie threw her head back her breathing coming in short gasp thighs The thick rod felt intrusive, yet wonderful. Especially in that r when she melted with want.

so very "It may hurt a bit. I promise it will be quick."

When he thrust while pulling her down to take him fully, the teatith theher virginal wall burned like a cut and Ainslie gasped. Her eyes water bleasureshe looked down to meet Cynden's gaze.

However, the novelty of being joined won over and she was "Allowremember what it was like to have her new husband inside her. Final were fully husband and wife.

igh the The realization brought tears to her eyes. In that moment, she mouth, about how she always believed she would be sharing this with Tho wasn't fair to Cynden to have those thoughts, but she couldn't help it.

needed He mistook her tears to be from the pain and he kissed them awa using awill move, and it should help." He winced a bit. "Move up a bit a down."

. Never She did as told. Then she did it again and again.

ve how Soon she forgot all about the pain, about Thomas, about going to place. The only thought was to find release once again from the rag will bewithin.

Everything was gone in an instant and Ainslie shattered into thous cked toshards, seeming as if she'd never be whole again. Her passionat thicker, combined with Cynden's deep grunts filled the room. Through the

her release, she felt Cynden's body tense. He let out a gritty moai not tofound his own release.

hink of Isobel had been right. Bedsport was quite enjoyable.

elf onto "Are ye in pain?" Ainslie asked. She lay against his right uninjured so beautiful curves slick with perspiration. If ever there was a time Peadar, this was it. While his cock demanded more, the aches throughout body reminded him it would not be possible.

g at her "A bit aye." He let out a long breath. "I wish I could do more to en enjoyed yer first time."

led her. She lifted her head, giving her a pointed look. "If it can be slowly enjoyable, I do nae think to withstand it."

zy with Pride filled him at having satisfied his wife.

"We will have to find out if that is true." He pressed a kiss to th nomenther nose, while silently praying the throbbing on his left side was indication of further injury.

"When will we leave for Skye?" Ainslie asked, seeming to have  $\ensuremath{\mathsf{l}}$  iring of interest in sleep.

red and Her questions were a distraction from the pain. "We leave w brothers. I believe Alexander wishes to leave within a day."

nted to "What will happen with Clan MacKinnon?"

ly, they "I do nae know. I suppose another arrangement will be made. The daughter may choose another of my brothers. Though I hope a d thoughtarrangement can be made. I nae wish to be tied to that clan."

mas. It Ainslie was silent for a long moment. "It will be good to have pray our marriage will nae cause more strife."

y. "We "Doubtful." Cynden pulled her against him, loving the feel of and then breasts against his chest. Even with the bandages, it was wonderful.

There was a commotion outside just as they finished dressing and ( ) a new went to look out. In the courtyard, guards rushed to pull apart the twing fire were brawling. One of the fighters was Gavin.

"Is that...?" Ainslie peered down and then looked to him. "Yer bro
"Aye. I best go see what occurs. This brother does nae normally baze of
"Alexander had pulled Covin average while two guards held Doods

Alexander had pulled Gavin away, while two guards held Peada looked to be passed out.

"Ye found him," Cynden said to the men. One gave him a triu

look. "Aye, caught him trying to flee from the forest."

ide, her Before he could go near the man, Darach came from the house to hatedirectly to Peadar and grabbed him by the hair wrenching his head up.

ugh his Peadar grunted and rolled his eyes. "My da will hear of this ye a clan will become enemies."

sure ye "Yer da wished to be rid of ye. I gave ye a place to live and live and ye repaid me by trying to kill my cousin."

e more The laird pulled out a dagger and held it across Peadar's throat. "I tolerate a traitor."

The guards held a struggling Peadar. He spit in Darach's fa e tip ofsneered. "I wish I'd killed him. Ye are all the same. Not worthy not anservice."

"I had considered sparing ye," Darach stated. "But ye have confe ost any front of all these people." With a swift motion, the dagger sliced Peadar's throat and blood spurted.

ith my Peadar fell to his knees, a look of incredulity on his face, then he f first onto the ground.

Next to him Ainslie gasped and pushed her face into Cynden's shaird's while the guards picked up Peadar's body and dragged him away.

ifferent "Ye should have been safe here," Darach said meeting his gaze. Cynden nodded. "It is nae yer fault."

Deace. I "We leave today," Alexander said and gave Cynden an apologeti "We must deal with the MacKinnon issue."

her full His mother exited the house and searched the courtyard until s him. Upon reaching them, she looked at Gavin.

"What happened?" his mother asked.

Alexander replied. "The guards caught the man who tried to kill (Cynden Gavin was the first to greet him."

Ainslie looked up at him, she was still pale from having witnessed ther?" being killed. "I believe it is best that we go." She peered up at the hou lose his a way I am glad to bid farewell to my parents and not prolong it. I will they promise to visit me soon."

Cynden nodded. "Aye, they should."

ır, who



The sea was choppy, but with the help of the wind the travel was bri e, wentsun was still up, it was midafternoon and thankfully not very cold birlinns traveled toward land.

and our Cynden pointed to the shoreline. "There is Skye." He then motior castle atop a rocky hill. "There is Dún Scaith, keep Ross on Skye."

elihood Perched atop a tall hill that jutted out into the sea was a fortress. T edifice stood proud and formidable. From what she could see, tal do naesurrounded the keep. It was not until they went closer that the bridge a the gates to the front entrance became visible.

ce and The isle was lush and green with mountains to the north that ro of mytoward the sky. Small fishing huts lined part of the shoreline, not too the keep, but within easy walking distance.

essed in "Is there a village nearby?" she asked her mother-in-law who loc acrosswhilst shading her eyes from the sun.

"Aye, a small village in Tokavaig, ye can nae see it from the sho fell face'tis there." The woman gave her a warm smile. "I pray ye will be happ I know it is very different from Barra. Skye has few people, but w noulder.warm kind."

Tears pricked her eyes. "I will strive to be happy and make yer sor as well."

The woman nodded. "He seems happier already."

seemed they'd been instructed to remain there until their laird returned he saw Horses were tethered as well as several wagons on which assumed she'd be taken to the keep.

Everyone moved with efficiency and for a moment, she was at a lc Cynden.what to do, so she went and stood next to a wagon, where her mother instructed men how to load Ainslie's items and other things the won Peadarpurchased while on Uist.

Ise. "In By the time they rode from the shore to the keep, Ainslie was bard ensureto remain still. Everything was so different. She'd caught a glimpse village in the distance. All the buildings were white with thick that che Herds of sheep covered a huge expanse of land, the animals cont grazing on the green grasses. She'd caught glimpses of a herd of copeople traveling toward and from the village.

Despite the excitement and knowing Cynden would ensure

sk. Thehappened to her, shivers of fear filled her whenever she saw riders as the distance. For a place with a small population, there seemed to be many people about.

ned to a The gates to the keep were open, probably because word had arrive their laird had returned. They rode through the tall archway and he graysizeable courtyard. The keep was of a good size.

l walls Once inside she finally caught a glimpse of Cynden, who dismoun nd thenwalked toward where she remained on the back of the wagon.

"Welcome home, wife." His gaze shined with pride. He helped he se highand she gave him a quizzical look.

"Ye should go to the bedchamber and rest. Ye are nae yet fully hea He nodded. "I will ask the cook to prepare something to ease the packed on At the top of the stairs stood a man who had to be Cynden's third l

Munro. This brother was as tall as the others with dark hair that vore. Butshorter. His expression was unreadable when he greeted her, the greety here moving to Alexander in question. There was a sort of silent commune are abetween them, which she guessed had to do with the MacK expectations.

1 happy The stoic brother turned to Cynden. "I am glad to see ye are well to travel."

"Inside with ye." Their mother motioned to the door, her gaze j fires. ItCynden. "Listen to yer wife."

. The interior of the keep was as expected. The great room was be Ainslierushes. Instead, it was swept clean. There were four long tables for me only one on the high board, that would seat about eight.

Only a few people milled inside, most seeming to be performing a '-in-lawtasks. Two women wiped tables and benches, while another pair swept an hadof dogs slept in front of a fireplace, all three lifted their heads up

group's arrival. Two got up and rushed to the brothers expecting at ally ablethe third seemed to consider if it was worth the energy. Finally, the energy of the stood and ambled closer.

d roofs. "That is Ean," Cynden said patting the latecomer's head. "The otlentedly are her pups. Ailen and Dorcha."

ws and The younger dogs surrounded Alexander, seeming to prefer him cothers. The usually stoic man showed infinite patience taking the nothingensure each hound received attention.

a greatscenes, except one with the Ross Crest upon it. She wondered w mother-in-law had not added any other décor. The surfaces of the material description at the considered a woman's touch.

"I know it is not as large at the keep on Uist. But we are proud ted andhome," Rose said walking closer.

Ainslie smiled. "It is beautiful. And there seems to be enough rour downmore than just the family to live here."

"True," the woman replied.

led." Just then she noted Cynden nearing. He met her gaze. "Come ain." introduce ye to cook, then I must go rest."

orother, Once out of sight of the others, Cynden pushed her against the was cuttook her mouth with his, while pressing himself fully against her. "Then gazeuntil I am completely healed will seem never-ending," he whispered nicationher ear. "My want for ye is stronger than the pain."

innon's "We shall listen to the pain," Ainslie replied with a flirty smile there ways to enjoy intimacy that will nae hurt ye?"

enough His eyes sparkled with mischief. "Aye. Many ways."

A thrill went down her spine at the thought. She kissed him quicl pinninggaze darting around the empty corridor. "Ye will have to show me toni Cynden laughed. "It will be very hard to wait."

ereft of als and

ssigned

:. A trio

on the

tention,

old dog

her two

over the

time to

Ainslie took in the tapestries that hung on every wall, most were outdoor scenes, except one with the Ross Crest upon it. She wondered why her mother-in-law had not added any other décor. The surfaces of the mantel as well as tables along one wall were bare. There were no flowers, nor what Ainslie considered *a woman's touch*.

"I know it is not as large at the keep on Uist. But we are proud of our home," Rose said walking closer.

Ainslie smiled. "It is beautiful. And there seems to be enough room for more than just the family to live here."

"True," the woman replied.

Just then she noted Cynden nearing. He met her gaze. "Come, I will introduce ye to cook, then I must go rest."

Once out of sight of the others, Cynden pushed her against the wall and took her mouth with his, while pressing himself fully against her. "The days until I am completely healed will seem never-ending," he whispered against her ear. "My want for ye is stronger than the pain."

"We shall listen to the pain," Ainslie replied with a flirty smile. "Are there ways to enjoy intimacy that will nae hurt ye?"

His eyes sparkled with mischief. "Aye. Many ways."

A thrill went down her spine at the thought. She kissed him quickly, her gaze darting around the empty corridor. "Ye will have to show me tonight."

Cynden laughed. "It will be very hard to wait."

## CHAPTER FOURTEEN

T wo weeks later, the MacKinnons sent a messenger informing th laird wished to meet. Since arriving, Cynden and his brothers had sper an hour attempting to find a solution that would appease the MacKinr ensure the tentative truce remained in place. So far, they'd not been come up with a good compromise to present. Now the day had come.

The great room was silent, the only ones present were him, his band their uncle, Liam McCray, who was closer to Alexander's age. Liatheir mother's youngest brother.

"I say we wait to see what the MacKinnon says after we inform are married," Munro said.

"Aye, perhaps he comes with a compromise himself," Gavin "Then problem solved."

Liam shook his head, his dark gaze pinning Cynden. "Nay, I bel comes to ask why we have not sent a messenger to inform him y returned."

Alexander shrugged and motioned for a guard to come closer. "S messenger in."

A young archer with a bow strapped across his back and a stea walked in. He stood before them, his gaze moving across their faces. lack of expression, Cynden gathered he'd been told not to sho contempt, or any other emotion.

"Tell yer laird, I await his visit," Alexander stated. "Did ye eat?" The archer nodded. "Aye." He gave them a nod and walked out.



Cynden went out and climbed the stairs to stand above the gates distance, riders with banners escorted two rows with three horses ea approached at a slow pace. Behind them were about ten archers a warriors.

"Are they visiting or planning for battle?" A guard came to stand him.

Cynden frowned. "They do nae trust us. Neither do we trust them. we will ever have a true truce."

The warrior walked back to his post and stood side by side with over the gates. Archers went to the upper walls, bows remaining strate their backs. However, it would take but a moment for the weapon at many pulled, arrows set and released if there was any threat.

The party finally arrived, and the gates were opened to them. (able to climbed down to stand with his brothers to greet the visitors.

Since there were women with the MacKinnon, his mother and rothers, were part of the welcoming party.

The MacKinnon was older, perhaps five and forty. He had greyin shrewd eyes, and was short in stature. Upon dismounting, Cynden no him ye Laird MacKinnon's two brothers were taller and more menacing, bo warriors that he recognized from battle. He didn't know—nor care to ladded. their names.

The door to the carriage open and three women alighted. He was ieve he but he suspected two of them were the MacKinnon's daughters. Strar the man would take a risk by bringing the women when the truce be them was tentative at best.

By the coloring of their fiery tresses, he suspected which two we daughters, as the brothers had the same coloring.

The third women best to the same coloring.

By the Probably their handmaiden.

W fear,

While Alexander greeted the other laired the women remained.

While Alexander greeted the other laird, the women remained silent. Every so often their gazes would lift, and they'd stu surroundings. One of them was bolder looking directly at him, studyi as if trying to decide if he was worthy.

He assumed it was the one who'd asked to marry him. Cynden tu look at Ainslie, who was glaring at the woman.

e." When Alexander turned to make introductions, Cynden went to . In the next to Ainslie.

ich that "My brothers: Gavin, Munro, and Cynden. My mother. And and ten Ainslie, Cynden's wife." Alexander didn't hesitate, moving to their "This is my uncle, Liam McCray."

beside The MacKinnon exchanged a look with one of his daughters at introduced his group. "My brothers, Jamie and Craig. My daughters, I doubtand Penelope." He hesitated before introducing the third woman. "their stepsister, Lila."

others They went into the great room where the tables were set with g pped to and candles. There were platters of meat pies, cheeses, and bread. Pitc s to beale and mead were carried in by servants, who stood by waiting for exto sit.

Cynden There was an awkward moment where everyone figured out where best to sit. In the end, the women sat together at one table, whilst the Ainslielowered to benches at the table next to it.

As the servants filled cups, the lairds exchanged pleasantries.

ng hair, Cynden sat across from Jamie MacKinnon, who he knew was an ted that The man's face was set, he seemed at ease, but not about to the were conversation. It suited Cynden just fine as he wasn't particularly in the know—to speak to someone against whom he'd fought.

"What is this? Yer brother marries to keep from our agreemen i't sure, MacKinnon stated.

nge that The bolder of the daughters, who he now knew to be called Penetweenglared at Cynden. "No loss," she stated. "I did nae wish to marry ye eit

"Enough, Penelope." Her brother glowered at her. "Ye are not in rere thespeak, ye are only here because we were expecting a betrothal."

Alexander cleared his throat. Although he seemed calm, the jaw others.flexing told that he was on edge. "Cynden did nae know about the agr until I arrived at Uist. By then it was too late." Not exactly a lie.

behind, "Then who do ye propose to take his place?" The MacKinnon seed dy theon marrying off one of his daughters.

ng him The two blond daughters didn't seem as inclined to choose anot looking at their brother with fearful expressions. The stepdaughter rned toshow any outward sign of distress. She obviously didn't expect to be the bargain.

o stand The MacKinnon continued, "There are three to choose from. Mar the only way, I trust that ye will keep the truce."

this is "Trust?" Alexander's tone rose. "It is yer people who break the uncle.over and over again. It should be us setting the terms of this truce." He state the obvious that the MacKinnons were outmanned and if Cla

nd thenwished it, they could easily overtake them.

Sorcha The MacKinnon waved his hand, with an arrogant sneer. "Wha This issuggest then?"

Cynden wondered how his brother kept so calm. If it were his reeneryalready sunk at least two fists into the idiot's face.

thers of "An agreement should be enough. I do agree that being joi veryonemarriage would be a strong bond, however, my clan's people will

welcoming to a woman from yer clan. Why do ye wish to put one of the it wassuch a place?" Alexander leaned forward on his elbows. "I would nae." he men — The MacKinnon shrugged. "Can ye nae protect a woman?"

"What do ye want?" Munro—the least patient of the brothers—ask There was a long silence. Cynden looked over to where his w archer.noting the women all watched and listened.

make "That yer laird marry Penelope," the MacKinnon said, his gaze e moodwith Alexander's. "A proper recompense, I would say."

Gavin let out a bark of laughter. "Ye are not asking for much. Go to "It?" the "I am here representing my clan and ensuring ye are nae toying we the MacKinnon banged his fist on the table, liquid sloshing out of nelope, cups.

ther." Alexander straightened then leaned forward and stared in vited toMacKinnon's face. "It is ye who is toying. Ye are fully aware that if I my clan, we can overtake ye with ease. I do nae have to agree to an muscleThe only reason we are speaking is because I wish for peace for my perement. A long silence followed, the MacKinnon's daughters never looking as one of their futures was tied to whatever the outcome was.

med set "What is it to be then?" the MacKinnon finally acquiesced. "How to assure there is peace?" The man still managed to act as if he had the, allhand. In a way he did. It was obvious he didn't care about peat didn'tacknowledged that Clan Ross was not a foe to be toyed with. The part of smaller clans on the isle, which Cynden had no doubt the arrogant n plans for.

riage is Alexander glanced to Munro and Gavin. "One of my brothers wil whichever of yer daughters he chooses. They will have a fortnight to a termsknow them. Therefore, they must stay here. If they still cannot choose didn'twill have to come up with another compromise."

in Ross The women gasped, his brothers groaned, and Cynden frowned.

necessary?" he whispered to Alexander.

t do ye "Aye, it is," he said. "We had made an agreement for marriage, an stand by my word."

m he'd The MacKinnon looked from his daughters to his brothers and letter Ross brothers and stood. With a bored expression, he shrugged. ned bytake my leave after we discuss the terms and such privately."

nae be The lairds, along with one man each, left and went to Alexander's them instudy, leaving the rest of them to continue in each other's awkward con

ed.
ife sat,
locked
o hell."
ith us,"
several
ito the
l gather
lything.
ople."
g away
are we

e upper ace but re were an had

l marry o get to ose, we

"Is that

necessary?" he whispered to Alexander.

"Aye, it is," he said. "We had made an agreement for marriage, and I will stand by my word."

The MacKinnon looked from his daughters to his brothers and lastly to the Ross brothers and stood. With a bored expression, he shrugged. "I will take my leave after we discuss the terms and such privately."

The lairds, along with one man each, left and went to Alexander's private study, leaving the rest of them to continue in each other's awkward company.

## CHAPTER FIFTEEN

"Why would yer brother suggest such as thing?" Ainslie asked prepared for bed that night. "To make one of yer brothers miserable wife he does nae want?"

Cynden went to her and began untying the laces to her blouse. 'laird's siblings, it is expected that we marry for the betterment of the expect Alexander will also marry one day to a woman that wil something of value."

"Then I am glad to have found ye," she whispered, pressing a kis lips. "I could nae bear marrying for convenience."

Although he was grateful for finding a woman he loved more that part of him felt guilty that now one of his brothers would pay with a l marriage. He couldn't fathom a life without his beautiful wife.

He pulled her closer, her back pressed to him, her round bottom his hardness. "I want ye." Cynden pushed her hair aside to give him ac her neck and licked a trail up from her shoulder to her ear, nibbl delicate lobe as she threw her head back against his shoulder.

A quick tug of the ties and her skirts fell to a pool around h followed by her blouse and shift.

It was erotic to have the naked beauty in his arms while he remained clothed. Thankfully, she was too enraptured by his kisses to feel abather nudity. He slid a hand between her legs whilst continuing to kneck, suckling and biting while he explored her sex.

"Ahhh," Ainslie let out a low moan, her body shivering in respons touch.

He slipped his fingers between her folds, loving that she was dan desire. "Ye are so perfect," he murmured into her ear, breathing into it

"T-take me," Ainslie stammered.

"Not until ye come undone," he replied, circling the nub betwoenether lips. "Let yerself go, Ainslie."

She stiffened, then writhed when he softly pinched the nub betw

forefinger and thumb. Once again, he caressed her with just his fir teasing the little nub until she was wreathing. To his delight, she shi swiftly as her release came.

Quick as he could, he lifted Ainslie and carried her to the bed.

While removing his clothes, his beautiful wife lay upon the beast they closed. Arms over her head. Sex glistening. A more erotic picture he's seen.

with a Taking her by the legs, he pulled her to the edge of the bed, then his sex to hers.

'As the He wanted to drive into her, seat himself fully inside, but he also clan. Ito prolong the pleasure that would come. Pulling her legs around his wind inched into her slowly.

Ainslie opened her eyes and looked to where they were joing s to his curious gaze making him harder than a stone. Damn how he loved he he desired her.

n life, a "I love ye," he murmured as her wide gaze flew up to meet his. "I oveless more than my life Ainslie."

A soft smile curved her lips, but they parted when he thrust into he against taking her hips, he rocked his, moving in and out in a perfect rhytlecess to went from slow and steady to faster.

Soon he was drenched in sweat, his body taking over. Unable to upright, he was leaning over her, his hands planted on both sides of her feet, drove into her over and over.

Her cries were an enticement to continue as she'd already for ed fully release and was now climbing again. Her beautiful body shine ished at perspiration, her sex wet and hot from her release and wanting more. siss her Soon both were gasning for breath, and heat pooled at the base

Soon both were gasping for breath, and heat pooled at the base shaft.

e to his

Ainslie bucked up her body topes to be a likely tope to be a like

Ainslie bucked up, her body tense as she came again, mouth wid she cried out his name. It was like a siren call to him, as he lost on with spilling into her. The release was so hard that everything went black, collapsed over her shuddering and letting out a hoarse cry.

Cynden's hips thrust forward the movements involuntary as he reen her into her. Ainslie floated back from the heights she'd climbed, her entire aflame. She didn't want to move, and neither did she want Cynden away, so she wrapped her legs and arms around his damp muscula

igertipsholding him in place.

Iddered The harsh breaths against her ear were a beautiful sound as were moans, deep like his voice.

"Do nae move," she instructed. "I cannot withstand it if ye move."

d. Eyes Cynden chuckled. "What will happen? Will ye climax again?"

d never "Do nae jest," she replied pressing a kiss to his damp temple.

They remained in place she released her hold on him. "Ye n guideduncomfortable."

Her husband withdrew from her body, his shaft soft now. He sto wantedpulled her further onto the bed. He straightened and Ainslie could n raist, heaway. She would never tire of seeing him without clothing. Then he s the bed to lay beside her, and all felt right with the world.

ed. Her "I love ye, Cynden."

r. How The hazel gaze met hers. "Are ye sure ye do nae feel that way be look like him?"

love ye She cupped his face with her left hand. "When I look at ye, I only s "Good." Cynden took her mouth with fervor, pulling her against her. Then Ainslie wondered if they would sleep that night.

nm that Ainslie woke in the early morning to find Cynden was still fast Every so lightly, she traced the lines of his face with her finger.

remain "I do love ye more than life husband," she whispered and pressed er as hekiss to his lips.

Cynden murmured something indecipherable and pulled her agains and her There was no other place she'd rather be.

of hisMunro walked to the stables. It was still very early, the sun was bar and the courtyard was empty as most were not awake. The birds ann e open, the new day with loud songs of joy as he guided his horse from the control, He needed time to think and to resolve things in his own mind. If he and heto marry, it meant Gavin would have to and he wasn't sure which of of them would be the wiser choice.

released He had little patience for others and the last thing he wanted was to beingthe enemy's daughter. As a matter of fact, he'd never planned to man to pullbut wished to remain unattached for the rest of his life. Marriage var body

something he'd ever aspired to.

his soft A figure walked from the side of the house in the direction of pond inside the courtyard. Wrapped in a hooded cloak, it was hard to t it was, but he could tell it was a woman.

Curiosity got the best of him, and he walked over to find out who his horse seeming happy to comply with the early morning walk ab nust becourtyard.

ood and Lila loved mornings, a time when she could be alone and not un ot look scrutiny of her half-siblings. When hearing of this trip to the Ross keel lid intoplanned for a pair of days of solitude away from the constant chiding sisters.

Now, she'd not only had to travel with them, but they'd insignature Isharing a bedroom. The night before, she'd been sent to gather hot help bathe them, and ensure their clothes were laid out for the following see ye." They acted as if she was their personal maid and Lila was tire him and Though without any other recourse, she was forced to live with the hopefully it would continue for many years to come. She tread can asleep where her family was concerned, not wishing to be thrown out into the where she'd most certainly perish.

d a soft "'Tis too cold to go for a swim." A masculine voice made her junturned to see it was Munro Ross, second-born brother of Laird Ross.

He was tall and broad, with the build of a warrior. His brown tussled hair reached his broad shoulders, and he had a strong square the brothers, she found him to be the most disturbing. Or perhaps the fascinating if she were to be honest.

rely up, "I am nae planning to swim, but wished for quiet time to thin ouncedreplied tearing her gaze from his direct one.

stables. "Did ye know yer brother was going to set that decree?" she asked was not one of ye must marry one of us?"

the two The warrior gave a one shoulder shrug. "It was one of the thir discussed upon finding Cynden married."

o marry "I see," she replied. The water's surface was calm, and she wory at allwhat life there at the Ross keep would be like for whomever was cho was not meet with disdain every day would be a horrible fate. If anyone knew

felt, it was her.

a small "Which of yer sisters would want to marry one of us and live here? ell who His question startled her. It was as if he was giving her a

"Penelope wishes for the status of marrying a laird or laird's brother. it was, is in love with an archer, so she would suffer."

out the His green gaze studied her until she fidgeted under the scrutiny ye?"

For a long moment, she considered his question. "I think living the would nae be very different from where I currently live. I do nae truly by she'dat either."

"Ye would belong where yer husband is."

She shook her head. "At the home of my family's enemies?"

sted on Munro had not considered that. "Why do ye not belong at yer water, home?"

Long lashed brown eyes lifted to his and she cocked her head to the dof it. She had a serenity about her that made him want to linger. "I grew uper and village near my father's keep until mother died and I then went to lingerfully him. Neither my stepmother nor half-siblings have ever cared for it. e street burden, someone that does nae matter."

When she lifted her face to look up at the sky, her lips curved. np. Sheasked my brother for a small cottage away from the keep. I think grant it."

wind- Munro was enthralled. When she wiped a tear that trailed do jaw. Of cheek, he wondered why she trusted him enough to talk about such thin most would nae be safe for ye to live alone."

When she gave him a fearful look, he tried to look less intime k," she however, when she looked about to cry even more, he figured he succeed.

l. "That "I best go inside," she said not moving.

"Take yer time. Ye are safe here. My brother has ordered the gungs we'see to it."

Once again she looked to him and nodded, then walked to lean on onderedwall and studied the view of the shore.

sen. To Munro watched the beauty for a moment longer before guiding hi how itaway. He'd made his decision. He would ask to marry Lila MacKinno



AINSLIE WALKED INTO the great room surprised to find no one about bu choice of the servants, who cleaned up after the midday meal.

Sorcha In front of the hearth, two of the three MacKinnon daughters sat space in low tones. The dark-haired sister was not in the room, and she wow "Andwhy. It seemed these two didn't care much for their stepsister.

Upon her nearing they stopped talking and looked to her, ag herebothering to act as if they were glad to see her. Penelope lifted a brow. belongyer marriage was quite sudden. I wonder if it is not but a trick to Cynden from marrying."

The other sister eyed her midsection. "Or perhaps ye had to marry? Ainslie shrugged. "Neither. If there is anything ye require, please current servants know." She continued past hoping to find Cynden.

Upon walking outside to the garden, everyone was gathered. he side he side wondering if they were having a private conversation. p in the looked over and nodded. "Please come and join us."

ve with Cynden's mother looked as if she'd been crying and immediately I am awent to her. "Is something wrong?" She looked to the four brothe seemed to be at a loss as to what to do.

"I have "What happened?" Ainslie asked.

he will Cynden walked closer and stood in front of her and his mother about my truth. The reason I came to be."

wn her "I do nae understand," Ainslie said searching his face. "What truth ngs. "It The matriarch let out a shaky breath and spoke in a low tone. "Cy father is not my other sons' 12440 father."

idating; Her stomach plummeted and Ainslie looked to each of Cynden didn'tbrothers. "Who is he then?"

Alexander's warm gaze fell upon his mother. "It does nae matt only is our mother not at fault, but to us, Cynden is no different."

ards to "I am glad to hear that. Is there any reason anyone else should l' Ainslie asked.

a short Gavin shook his head. "We have decided not to inform anyor There is no reason for it. It changes nothing." He neared and to is horse mother's shoulders. "Ye must stop fretting about it. No one will ever k "Is yer father, the late laird Ross of Uist?" Ainslie asked as five

eyes flew to her. Hurriedly, she continued, "When I was riding wit It a few Mariel and Lady Isobel in the coach, she mentioned that it was possil my late betrothed was her late husband's offspring. That the lat beaking fathered many bairns. She said he was ruthless and often took women ondered their will."

She took a deep breath. "The subject came up because we discuss neither much ye look like Darach, er...Laird Ross." She looked to Alexande "I hear other Laird Ross."

"So she suspects?" Rose asked, with a stricken expression.

"I do nae think so," Ainslie replied unsure why she'd said so much too late to stop. "Lady Mariel went on to say that Munro and Gavin lotlet the like her sons as well."

There seemed to be a collective sigh of relief.

Ainslie "We are cousins. Of course we all look alike." Gavin stared at Cyn Munro a long moment and then turned to Rose. "Mother, are ye sure it is who is the half-brother? I do nae look like any of them. I am mı Ainslie handsome to be related to them."

rs who Ainslie laughed. How Gavin seemed to find a perfect way to light mood was extraordinary.

In that moment, she felt fully part of the family.

f. "It is Her family.

?" vnden's

Are you curious to know what happens between Lila and Munro? 's three excited to share their story next!!

er. NotThe Wolf: Book One in Clan Ross of Skye!!!

know?"When foes forge an alliance, clashes become an inevitable consequenc

Munro Ross, an innate guardian, forever ready to shield the downt ne else whether in the heat of battle or in everyday life. He never fathor bok his arranged marriage, particularly one that entwined his fate with the fa now." his clan's most entrenched adversary. However, destiny took an une sets of turn when he crossed paths with a beleaguered beauty, igniting within

h Ladyunbidden urge to be her salvation. Amidst the labyrinth of challer ble thatfinding common ground, his skepticism about trust collides we te lairdunwavering resolve.

against

Lila MacKinnon has endured a lifetime of hardship, a journey mar ed how servitude following her mother's untimely demise. Now, she is dest r. "The unite with Munro Ross, the brother of Liard Ross, a member of the cl have waged war against for years. Her sole refuge lies in staying herself, resolute in refusing to surrender to a man seemingly indifferent. It was plight.

ok a lotClick HERE to order your copy today!

den for

nae me

ıch too

iten the

I'm so

e.

rodden, med an mily of xpected him an unbidden urge to be her salvation. Amidst the labyrinth of challenges to finding common ground, his skepticism about trust collides with her unwavering resolve.

Lila MacKinnon has endured a lifetime of hardship, a journey marked by servitude following her mother's untimely demise. Now, she is destined to unite with Munro Ross, the brother of Liard Ross, a member of the clan they have waged war against for years. Her sole refuge lies in staying true to herself, resolute in refusing to surrender to a man seemingly indifferent to her plight.

Click **HERE** to order your copy today!

## ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Enticing. Engaging. Romance.

USA Today Bestselling Author Hildie McQueen writes strong by alpha Highlanders who meet their match in feisty brave heroines. If y stories with a mixture of passion, action, drama and humor, you w Hildie's storytelling where love wins every single time!

A fan of all things pink, Paris, and stationery, Hildie resides in Georgia, USA, with her super-hero husband Kurt and three little yappy

Let's stay in touch, join my <u>NEWSLETTER</u> for free reads, prevupcoming releases and news about my world!

## ABOUT THE AUTHOR

Enticing. Engaging. Romance.

USA Today Bestselling Author Hildie McQueen writes strong brooding alpha Highlanders who meet their match in feisty brave heroines. If you like stories with a mixture of passion, action, drama and humor, you will love Hildie's storytelling where love wins every single time!

A fan of all things pink, Paris, and stationery, Hildie resides in eastern Georgia, USA, with her super-hero husband Kurt and three little yappy dogs.

Let's stay in touch, join my <u>NEWSLETTER</u> for free reads, previews of upcoming releases and news about my world!